
Yakima River Cajntyo
WWWeCLi .1^0^

lol^ames

SELAH CITY COUNCIL

6:30pm February 24, 2015
5:00 pm Study Session: Entrance Sign for Selah

5:00 - Wayne Patterson, Rusted Fish Studio Inc.
5:10-Jack McEntire, Cascade Carvings

5:20 - Norm Hillstrom, Eagle Signs

5:30 - Selah Downtown Association



Selah City Council
Regular Meeting
Tuesday, February 24, 2015
6:30pm
City Council Chambers

Mayor;
Mayor ProTern:
Council Members:

CITY OF SELAH

115 West Naches Avenue

Selah, Washington 98942

Interim Oily Administrator:
City Attorney:
Clerk/Treasurer:

A.

B.

C.

D.

E.

F.

G.

AGENDA

Call to Order-Mayor Gawlik

Roll Call

Pledge of Allegiance

Agenda Changes None

Public Appearances/Introductions/Presentations

Getting To Know Our Businesses None

Communications

1. Oral

None

John Gawlik

Brooke Finch

Paul Overby
John Tiemey
Dave Smeback

Allen Schmid

Roy Sample
Jane Williams

Joe Henne

Bob Noe

Dale NovobielskI

This is a public meeting. If you wish to address the Council concerning any matter that is not on the agenda, you may do so
now. Please come forward to the podium, staling your name for the record. The Mayor reserves the right to place a time limit
on each person asking to be heard.

2. Written

Andrew Potter a. Update on Financial Status of Volunteer Park
H. Proclamations/Announcements None

I. Consent Agenda

All items listed with an asterisk (*) are considered routine by the City Council and will be enacted by one motion, wiUiout
discussion. Should any Council Member request that any item of the Consent Agenda be considered separately, that item will
be removed from the Consent Agenda and become a part of the regular Agenda.

Monica Lake * 1.

Dale N. * 2.

Approval of Minutes: February 10.2015 Study Session & Council Meeting
Approval of Claims & Payroll

None

None

None

J. Public Hearings
K. New Business

L. Old Business

M. Resolutions

Joe Henne * 1. Resolution to Approve the Wemex Loop - Local Agency Agreement Supplement
Number I - Transportation Alternatives Program (TAP) Sidewalk Improvements



Joe Henne * 2. Resolution Authorizing the Mayor to approve Task Order 2015-1 between the City of
Selah and Huibregtse, Louman & Associates. Inc. for Land Surveying Services for
the survey of the Selah Civic Center Parking Lot project

Joe Henne 3. Resolution Authorizing the Mayor to approve Task Order 2015-2 between the City of
Selah and Huibregtse, Louman & Associates, Inc. for a boundary and topographic
survey for Wixson Park

Tom Durant 4. Resolution Approving the Preliminary Plat of "Somerset II" (912.42.14-05) and
Adopting Findings and Conditions of Preliminary Plat Approval

Bob Noe * 5. Resolution of the City Council of the City of Selah, Washington, Adopting Public
Defense Standards and Requesting the Mayor to Provide Updates to the City Council
Regarding any Future Changes in the Adopted Standards in Conjunction with the
Annual Budget Report

N, Ordinances

Dale N. * 1. Ordinance Amending the 2015 Budget for the 3rd Street Water Main Replacement
Project

Joe Henne * 2. Ordinance adopting a new City Of Selah 2014 Water System Plan and Repealing the
2008 Comprehensive Water Plan

Tom Dttrant 3. Ordinance Amending Ordinance No, 1634 Zoning Map Amendment No. 914.42.14-
05 Rezone to Planned Development (PD)

O. Reports/Announcements

1. Mayor
2. Council Members

3. Departmental
4. Boards

P. Executive Session

Q. Adjournment

Next Study Session
Next Regular Meeting

March 10, 2015
March 10, 2015

Hach item on the Council Agenda is covered by an
Agenda Item Sheet (AiS)

yellow AIS indiciucs an action item.



CITY OF SELAH

CITY COUNCIL

AGENDA ITEMSUMMARY

Council Meeting Informational Item

2/24/2015 G2-A

Title: Update on Financial Status of Volunteer Park

Thru: Joe Henne, Interim City Administrator

From: Andrew Potter, Assistant to the City Administrator

Action Requested: Informational - No action

Board/Commission Recommendation: Not applicable

Fiscal Impact: N/A

Funding Source: N/A

Staff Recommendation:

N/A

Background / Findings & Facts:

As of the ll"^ ofPebruary, the Selah Parks Foundation had collected $12,800.
$2,800 of that was from brick sales. At this time we are still expecting several
checks to start coming in from meetings we have had with Selah businesses. A
public meeting was held on the 17''' and several people expressed that they
would help and some suggested that they could go door to door. We remain
positive that we will secure matching funds by May U'.

Recommended Motion:

N/A



CITY OF SELAH

CITY COUNCIL

AGENDA ITEMSUMMARY

Council Meeting Action Item

2/24/2015 I-l

Title: Approval ofMinutes: February 10, 2015 Study Session & Council

Meeting

Thru: Joe Henne, Interim City Administrator

From: Monica Lake, Executive Assistant

Action Requested: Approval

Board/Commission Recommendation: Not applicable

Fiscal Impact: N/A

Funding Source: N/A

Staff Recommendation:

Approval ofMinutes

Background / Findings & Facts:

See Minutes for details.

Recommended Motion:

Motion to approve the Consent Agenda as read. (This item is part of the

Consent Agenda)



Study Session Minutes
Selah City Council
February 10,2015

3:00pm - Yakima Valley Libraries
3:30pm - Selah School District

Mayor Gawlik opened the Study Session. He welcomed Kim Hixson, the director of the Yakima
Valley Libraries (YVL), and invited her to speak.

Ms. Hixson stated that she was here on behalfofher board of trustees to discuss the next steps
regarding the rental contract for the Selah Library, which is up in May of 2015. She said that the
board is interested in a joint purchase of the property between the City and YVL, per the option
to purchase stated in the contract.

Mayor Gawlik gave a quick recap regarding the agreement, noting that there is approximately
$30,000 in equity for the purchase, and that the matter was not budgeted for in the 2015 budget.
He noted that Council would need to review the matter and decide whether to go forward with a
joint purchase or look into an extension of the lease agreement.

Discussion followed on the matter, including the library's circulation size, the impact ofdigital
growth, the need for a maintenance agreement if they decide to purchase the property, what other
communities the same size have opted to do, computer accessibility, the size of the building, and
whether the trustees would be amenable to buying out the City's interest in a year,

Ms. Hixson agreed to discuss the matter further with the board of trustees, adding that she would
follow-up with a letter to Council.

Mayor Gawlik thanked her for her time. He welcomed Shane Backlund, Superintendent for the
Selah School District (SSD), and invited him to speak.

Mr. Backlund gave an update on the SSD building projects and invited Council to attend an open
house for the new middle school in two weeks' time. He then introduced Suzie Bennett, a
leadership teacher at Selah Middle School and asked her to speak.

Ms. Bennett talked about her role as a leadership teacher and their efforts to unite everyone from
kindergarten through twelfth grade as Selah Vikings. She commented that the students are
looking at the Viking way, and how they can use that to become not only high-achieving
students but also be the best version of themselves. She invited the Council Members to take part
in a discussion, asking them to pair off for a few moments to discuss ideas for collaboration with
the SSD.

Discussion followed on items such as the colors of the City flag being the blue and gold of the
Vikings behind the City's apple logo, the SRO's patrol car striped in SSD colors and displaying
a Viking in the rear window, the desire to include 'Home of the Vikings' on an entry sign for the
community, and the development ofa new community pool.

The Study Session ended at 3:55pm.

Selah City Council Study Session Minutes 2/10/201S



Regular Meeting
Selah Council Chambers

115 West Naches Avenue

Selah, WA 98942

A. Call to Order

B. Roll Call

Members Present:

City of Selah
Council Minutes

February 10,2015

Mayor Gawlik called the meeting to order at 4:00pm.

John Tiemey; Dave Smeback; Allen Schmid; Brooke Finch; Roy Sample;
Jane Williams

Members Excused: Paul Overby

StaffPresent: Joe Henne, Interim City Administrator; Gary Hanna, Fire Chief; Rick
Hayes, Police Chief; Dale Novobielski, Clerk/Treasurer; Charlie Brown,
Recreation Manager; Andrew Potter, Assistant to the City Administrator;
Monica Lake, Executive Assistant

C. Pledge ofAllegiance

Council Member Smeback led the Pledge ofAllegiance.

D. Agenda Changes

Removed from Agenda:

E - 2 Police Awards - Officer of the Year; Reserve Officer ofthe Year; and Medals ofValor

E. Public Appearances/Introductions/ Presentations

1. Scott Miller, Director, Yakima County Office of Emergency Management

Scott Miller, Director for the Yakima County Office of Emergency Management, approached the podium
and addressed the Council. He said that he took over on January 20"*, and that, prior to accepting the
position in Yakima,he'd been doing the same task in Okanagan County for eleven years. He commented
that he is currently on the meet and greet tour, and that Council should expect to see him on a semi-
regular basis. He talked about what Selah receives for their participation, such as making sure they are
compliant with State regulations, and a new online emergency notification system that they've received
a start-up grant for and hope to have online within three to six months.

Selah City Council Minutes 2/10/20IS



2. Police Awards—Officer of the Year; Reserve Officer of the Year; and Medals ofValor

REMOVED

3. John Cooper, Yakima ValleyTourism- Annual Presentation

NO SHOW

F. Getting To Know Our Businesses None

0. Communications

1. Oral

Mayor Gawlik opened the meeting.

Evelyn Paquin approached the podium and addressed the Council. She said that she's made several
phone calls about the light by the Civic Center, as something is wrong with it.

Interim City Administrator Henne responded that the actuators are broken, so they went to a time base.
He added that it will be fixed in the spring, when asphalt is available again.

Ms. Paquin thanked the Fire Department for their assistance at the last meeting, saying that she is proud
ofall of them.

Council Member Williams remarked that the crosswalk situation is important, and thanked Ms. Paquin
for bringing it to their attention.

Interim City Administrator Henne noted that he is looking for prices to change the crosswalk signal from
a hand to a timer type.

Seeing no one else rise to speak. Mayor Gawlik closed the meeting.

2. Written

a. Recycling Data Report for the 4th Quarter of2014

b. January 2015 Monthly Report for Building Permits, Animal Control and Code
Enforcement

Council Member Tiemey asked if it would be possible to have the dates ofactivity for animal control
and code enforcement added to the report.

Interim City Administrator Henne responded in the affirmative.

Page 2 Selah Cit>' Council Minutes 2/10/2015



H. Proclamations/Announcements None

I. Consent Agenda

Executive Assistant Lake read the Consent Agenda.

All items listed with an asterisk (*) were considered as part of the Consent Agenda.

* 1. Approval of Minutes: January 27,2015 Study Session and Council Meeting

* 2. Approval of Claims & Payroll:

Payroll ChecksNos. 78293 - 78318 for a total of $209,116.43
Claim Checks Nos. 65241 -65316 for a total of $142,130.95

Council Member Tierney moved, and Council Member Smeback seconded, to approve the
Consent Agenda as read. By voice vote, approval of the Consent Agenda was unanimous.

J. Public Hearings None

K. New Business None

L. Old Business None

M. Resolutions

1. Resolution Authorizing the Mayor to Sign an Agreement with the Selah Downtown
Association Concerning Financial Support

Clerk/Treasurer Novobielski addressed M - 1. He said that this agreement puts in writing the
understandingbetween the Selah DowntownAssociation (SDA) and the City regarding the financial
support that the City has been providing them, and will likely continue to provide. He noted that the
State Auditor has shown some interest in the fifteen thousand dollar payments the City has given them,
and that he believes this agreement will satisfy some of their questions.

Council Member Tierney remarked that he found nothing that gives the City the authority to come in
and examine their books at any time. He suggested adding a provision showing that the Clerk/Treasurer,
the Mayor or the City Administrator could look at their books whenever they desire to do so.

Clerk/Treasurer Novobielski responded that, in talking with Tammy Allen, he feels that she wouldn't
hesitate to let him look at the books.

Mayor Gawlik requested that the time frame for the financial report submittal be moved to January.

Clerk/Treasurer Novobielski responded that he sees no problem with a reporting date ofJan 15"*.

Page 3 Selah City Council Minutes 2/10/2015



Council Member Schmid expressed some concern with changing the date, as the October date is prior to
the new budget season, and any major budget changes that could be included, whereas if they move the
date to January it will be out of cycle.

Clerk/Treasurer Novobielski didn't foresee them requesting additional funds with their ability to have
local businesses contribute with their tax credits. He noted that the other option would be to delay until
after October to provide that years' funding to the SDA.

Council Member Tiemey commented that this is another reason to have periodic access to their books.

Council Member Smeback observed that their income is derived from two categories, one from the City
and one from local businesses, and wondered if what they had spent to date was City funds or revenues
generated from the tax credit.

Interim City Administrator Henne responded that it was City funds.

Mayor Gawlik commented that their only funds at present are those provided by the City.

Interim City Administrator Henne stated that they have some tax money that starts next year.

Coimcil Member Schmid felt that they should come before Council for approval prior to spending any
City funds. He read an excerpt from the agreement that stated they would obtain Council approval for
any expenditures involving City funds.

Council Member Tiemey reiterated that they need to have access to their books to ensure they comply
with that portion of the contract.

Council Member Schmid added that the SDA board has missed that they have to get approval to spend
the City's money.

Clerk/Treasurer Novobielski replied that the contract was drafted by City Attomey Noe, who didn't
realize that provision has not been followed.

Council Member Sample said that he attended the SDA meeting yesterday, and that he feels the Council
doesn't need to approve small expenditures. He suggested placing a limit on the amount that Council
would have to approve.

Mayor Gawlik reiterated that the only money the SDA has at present was given to them by the City.

Clerk/Treasurer Novobielski commented that they have also done some fundraising selling t-shirts.

Council Member Smeback wondered what the State auditor will ask for regarding accountability.

Clerk/Treasurer Novobielski responded that they might ask for quarterly financials.

Council Member Schmid liked the idea ofa quarterly report that could be placed in the council packet.

Page 4 Selah City Council Minutes 2/10/2015



Council Member Tiemey stated that he simply wants to know where the money is going.

Interim City Administrator Henne asked Council if they wanted to set a threshold.

Council Member Tiemey felt that some kind of threshold would be better than none at all.

Council Member Finch recommended setting it at one thousand dollars, so as not to nickel and dime
them to death. She expressed her concem that there is no recourse for the Council if they disagree with
how the money is spent and felt that Coimcil needed to discuss the matter further.

Interim City Administrator Henne suggested that City Attomey Noe draft a new agreement that
addressed their concems, which would be brought back at a later date.

Council Member Finch moved, and Council Member Tierney seconded, to postpone the matter
until the March 10,2015 Council Meeting. Roll was called: Council Member Tierney-yes;
Council Member Smeback - yes; Council Member Schmid - no; Council Member Finch - yes;
Council Member Sample - no; Council Member Williams - yes. Motion passed with four yes votes
and two no votes.

N. Ordinances None

O. Communications

1. Oral

Mayor Gawlik opened the meeting. Seeing no one rise to speak, he closed the meeting.

P. Reports/Announcements

1. Mayor

Mayor Gawlik said that the interviews for the City Administrator position will start tomorrow, and
referred Coimcil to a memo from him that was included with the schedule they received. He stated that
there will be a Study Session prior to the next Council Meeting for presentations and discussion ofa
Welcome to Selah sign, and requested that any individuals who wished to make a presentation contact
Executive Assistant Lake prior to that day. He noted that there will be no questions during the ten minute
presentations, and that he will give the bulk of the time to Council for discussion and questions.

2. Council Members

Council Member Finch had no report.

Council Member Sample remarked that he had attended both a Selah Chamber ofCommerce meeting
and an SDA meeting as the Council representative. He said that the SDA is looking into doing a
brochure that can be handed out in the community to get a larger participation in the group, and also

Page 5 Selah City Council Minutes 2/10/2015



explain the Main Street program and how businesses can donate a portion of their B&O tax and receive
a credit on it for the next year.

Council Member Tiemey had no report.

Council Member Smeback had no report.

Council Member Williams said that the Yakima Valley Conference ofGovernments met at the Civic
Center last month, and that they had a great local caterer for the meal. She added that Shawn Conrad
will be hosting the Thunders Forum on Friday, March 13"*, and suggested that anyone interested attend
the event.

Council Member Schmid had no report.

3. Departmental

Clerk/Treasurer Novobielski said that he met with the Finance Committee, Mayor Gawlik, and Interim
City Administrator Henne last Friday to review the 2014 financials. He noted that the bond portion of
the utility tax generated one hundred eighty-one thousand dollars more than the actual debt service on
the bonds, which allowed for an additional eighty thousand to be applied to the principal and the
remainder going to replace some of the expended funds previously used for debt payments.

Mayor Gawlik remarked that the refinancing of the debt has led to this savings.

Council Member Williams observed that the twenty-seven thousand saved by refinancing wasn't
included in the 2014 financials.

Clerk/Treasurer Novobielski responded that it is for a future period.

Council Member Williams asked if the one hundred and one thousand dollars went into a reserve

account.

Clerk/Treasurer Novobielski replied in the affirmative, noting that three different funds were expended
for debt service, and that this money will go to those funds to replace the one point two million spent on
repayment for those bonds. He added that ninety-seven thousand dollars was replaced in those funds the
previous year.

Mayor Gawlik stated that one of promises made by the Council was to replenish those dedicated funds
that had been drawn down.

Council Member Williams asked for confirmation that eighty thousand dollars was going towards early
payoffof the bonds.

Clerk/Treasurer Novobielski responded in the affirmative.

Page 6 Sclah City Council Minutes 2/10/2015



Recreation Manager Brown said that he completed interviews for the Administrativeand Marketing
Specialist position last week, made a job offer to the selected applicant, and that he is waiting for her to
call him back with an answer. He stated that they are working on making the July 3rd event bigger this
year, and that last year's entertainer Cody Beebe thinks he can get national talent for the same price as
last year's entertainment fee. He remarked that they are working with the SDA on arts and crafts for the
Easter Egg hunt event, and that there will be a public meeting at the Civic Center on February 17*'' to
discuss the details ofVolunteer Park and inform citizens how they can get involved in the project.

Council Member Smeback asked about the sale of the gift bricks.

Recreation Manager Brown responded that he will provide that information at the next Council Meeting.

Assistant to the City Administrator Potter reiterated that there will be a public meeting at the Civic
Center next Tuesday at 6pm, adding that he and Recreation Manager Brown have been splitting the
responsibility on the project; he's networked with local churches on the matter. He noted that he and
Interim City Administrator Henne will be meeting with Senator Honeyford in Olympia next week to
discuss the possibility of receiving money from the capital budget for the Civic Center project.

Mayor Gawlik remarked that Representative Taylor has also indicated that he would be more than happy
to listen to their request and see about making an appropriations request on Selah's behalf.

Assistant to the City Administrator Potter responded that he has reached out to the Association of
Washington Cities (AWC), and that they are making connections for the cities who are attending.

Mayor Gawlik complimented both Recreation Manager Brown and Assistant to the City Administrator
Potter on their efforts to reach out to members ofcommunity as well as members of legislature, saying
that it shows some progress on these projects.

Fire Chief Hanna had no report.

Police Chief Hayes commented that his department had the LEO training simulator last week. He said
that the Yakima Police Department's canine unit and gang unit did a presentation at the Citizens'
Academy the night before, and that the next meeting would be a tour of the Yakima County jail. He
added that they are currently working on a Citizens' Academy for persons under the age ofeighteen. He
informed the Council that they have narrowed the seventeen applicants for the Community Service
Specialist / Evidence Room Caretaker position down to six, and will be starting interviews next week.

Interim City Administrator Henne said that himself. Mayor Gawlik, Recreation Manager Brovra and
Assistant to the City Administrator Potter met with some of the Civic Center user groups regarding their
needs for a new building or remodel of the existing facility. He commented that the new parking lot
space has been graveled; they will put up signs, and if it dries out enough they'll also paint parking
stalls. He noted that both the new sweeper truck and the vactor truck have been in use. He added that
information on the part-time planner has been placed in the City's website. He remarked that the folks
associated with the ball tournaments want to start playing in mid-March, so the crew is trying to get the
fields going; they will also be doing a cleanup around the Civic Center and washing the building down.

Page 7 Selah City Council Minutes 2/10/201S



Mayor Gawlik expressed his desire to have a fresh coat ofpaint applied to the building if possible, to
freshen it up.

Council Member Smeback asked how many hours Mr. Durant is working per week.

Interim City Administrator Henne replied that he works approximately ten hours per week.

Council Member Smeback wondered if he was starting with the oldest projects.

Interim City Administrator Henne responded in the negative, saying that they have spoken with the
individuals who have multiple projects to establish which ones are a higher priority to the proponents.

Council Member Smeback inquired if someone coming in with a new house project would be bumped to
the head of the line.

Interim City Administrator Henne replied in the negative, adding that the backlog was prioritized, and
any new project goes to the bottom ofthe pile.

Council Member Smeback asked how far out a new project would be.

Interim City Administrator Henne responded that he has asked Mr. Durant for time frame on completion
of the pending projects.

Council Member Williams wondered if there have been new projects submitted since he took over.

Interim City Administrator Henne replied that there may be one for a small radio tower on the hill; he
just met with those folks on Friday. He said that one matter should be brought before Council at the next
meeting, and that the Hearing Examiner has an applicant with three projects coming before him.

Mayor Gawlik noted that they are keeping a record of the number of walk-ins needing information from
the Plarmer'soffice so that they can give Council a comprehensive idea of what the activity is when they
revisit the matter in the near future.

4. Boards None

Council took a five minute recess.

Q. Executive Session

1. 15 Minute Session - Real Estate RCW 42.30.110(l)(b)

Council went into Executive Session at 5:05pm. At 5:20pm, Council went back on the record. Mayor
Gawlik stated that they would be extending the Executive Session for an additional 15 minutes.

Council went back into Executive Session at 5:00pm. At 5:20pm, Council went back on the record.
Mayor Gawlik stated that no action was taken during the Executive Session.

Page 8 Selah City Council Minutes V10/201S



Council Member Tierney moved, and Council Member Sample seconded, to Authorize the Mayor
to sign a Purchase and Sales Agreement with Graf Investments, on behalf of the City, for Parcel
No. 181302-21004, for the purchase price of $110,000 and earnest money of $5,000. Roll was
called: Council Member Tierney - yes; Council Member Smeback - yes; Council Member Schmid
- yes; Council Member Finch - yes; Council Member Sample - yes; Council Member Williams -
yes. By voice vote, approval was unanimous.

R. Adjournment

Council Member Finch moved, and Council Member Smeback seconded, that the meeting be
adjourned. By voice vote, approval was unanimous.

The meeting adjourned at 5:37pm.

EXCUSED

Paul Overby, Council Member

Dave Smeback, Council Member

Brooke Finch, Mayor Pro Tem

Jane Williams, Council Member

ATTEST:

Dale E. Novobielski, Clerk/Treasurer

John Gawlik, Mayor

John Tiemey, Council Member

Allen Schmid, Council Member

Roy Sample, Council Member

Selah City Council Minutes 2/10/2015



CITY OF SELAH

CITY COUNCIL

AGENDA ITEMSUMMARY

Council Meeting Action Item

2/24/2015 1-2

Title: Claims & Payroll

Thru: Joe Henne, Interim City Administrator

From: Dale Novobielski, Clerk/Treasurer

Action Requested: Approval

Board/Commission Recommendation: Not applicable

Fiscal Impact: See Check Registers.

Funding Source: Various. See Check Registers.

Staff Recommendation:

Approval of Claims & Payroll as listed on Check Registers.

Background / Findings & Facts:

See check Registers.

Recommended Motion:

Motion to Approve the Consent Agenda as read. (This item is part of the
Consent Agenda)



CITY OF SELAH

CITY COUNCIL

A GENOA ITEM SUMMARY

Council Meeting Action Item

2/24/2015 M-1

Title: Resolution to Approve the Wernex Loop - Local Agency Agreement
Supplement Number 1 - Transportation Alternatives Program (TAP) Sidewalk
Improvements.

Thru: Joe Henne, Interim City Administrator

From: Joe Henne, Public Works Director

Action Requested: Approval

Board/Commission Recommendation: Not applicable

Fiscal Impact: $500.00

Funding Source: Street Fund 111

Staff Recommendation:

Approve a resolution endorsing the WSDOT Local Agency Agreement
Supplement No. 1. This supplement allows the project to move to the
construction phase and release construction funding.

Background / Findings & Facts:

The City applied for and was selected for funding to construct a curb, gutter and
sidewalk along the north side of Wemex Loop. The City is only responsible for up
to $500.00 for WSDOT and City Administration cost. Total project cost is
estimated at $213,000.00

Recommended Motion:

To approve a resolution endorsing the WSDOT Local Agency Agreement.



RESOLUTION NO.

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO SIGN THE WSDOT LOCAL

AGENCY AGREEMENT SUPPLEMENT NUMBER 1 FOR THE

TRANSPORTATION ALTERNATIVES PROGRAM (TAP) FUNDING FOR
SIDEWALK ALONG WERNEX LOOP.

WHEREAS, the City of Selah wishes WSDOT to release funding for sidewalk construction along
Wemex Loop using the Transportation Alternatives Program, and

WHEREAS, approving the WSDOT Local Agency Agreement Supplement Number 1 outlines how
the City shall spend the project funding, and

WHEREAS, the project will construct a six (6) foot sidewalk, curb and gutter from the entrance into
the Selah Middle School, North along Wemex Loop to Nortli First Street;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SELAH,
WASHINGTON that the Mayor is authorized to sign the Local Agency Agreement Supplement 1 for a
sidewalk on Wemex Loop.

PASSED AND ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SELAH, WASHINOTON
this 24"* day of February, 2014.

John Gawlik, Mayor
ATTEST:

Dale E. Novobielski, Clerk/Treasurer

APPROVED AS TO FORM:

Robert F. Noe, City Attorney

RESOLUTION NO.



Washington state
Department of IVansportation Local Agency Agreement Supplement

Agency

Citv ofSeiah

Supplement Number

1

Federal Aid Project Number

TAP-4703f004)

Agreement Number

LA 8418

CFDA No. 20.205
(Cataloa of Federal Domestic Assistance)

The Local Agency requests tosupplement the agreement entered into and executed on June 13,2014
All provisions in the basic agreement remain in effect except as modified by this supplement.
The changes to the agreement are as follows:

Project Description

Name WemexLoop

Termini From the entrance ofthe Selah Middle School north to North First Street

Description of Work IS! No Change

Reason for Supplement
Add construction phase.

Length 019 miles

Type of Work

Estimate of Fund ng

(1)
Previous

Agreement/Suppl.

(2)

Supplement

(3)
Estimated Total
Proiect Funds

(4)
Estimated Agency

Funds

(5)
Estimated

Federal Funds

PB a. Agency
100 % Design F.ngineering 19,900.00 19,900.00 19,900.00

c. Otiier Environmental 6,000.00 6,000.00 6,000.00
i-eoeraiAia ^
Porticioation State 500.00 500.00 500.00

Ratio for PE e. Total PE Cost Estimate (a+b+c+d) 26.400.00 26,400.00 26,400.00

Right of Way f.Agency

^ a. Other
Federal Aid

Parucipalioii
Ratio for RW '• State

j. Total R/W Cost Estimate (f+g+h+i)

Construction k. Contract 164.100.00 164.100.00 164.100.00

1. Other Consultant 21.500.00 21.500.00 21,500.00

ion »/, rn. other
Federal Aid

Particioation o. Agency

Ratio for CN „ state 1.000.00 1.000.00 1.000.00

a. Total CN Cost Estimate (k+t+m-m-KHo) 186.600.00 186.600.00 186.600.00

r. Total Prelect Cost Estimate (eW-Ki) 2fi.4nn.nn i8fi.fion.nn 2i.vnnn.on 2i3.non.on

The Local Agency further stipulates that pursuant to said Title 23, regulations and policies and procedures, and as a condition
to payment of the Federal funds obligated, it accepts and willcomply with the applicable provisions.

Agency Official Washington State Department of Transportation

By .

Title

DOT Form 140-041 EF
Revised 03/2014

By

Director of Local Programs

Date Executed



CITY OF SELAH

CITY COUNCIL

AGENDA ITEMSUMMARY

Council Meeting Action Item

2/24/2015 M-2

Title: Resolution Authorizing the Mayor to approve Task Order 2015-1
between the City of Selah and Huibregtse, Louman & Associates, Inc. for Land
Surveying Services for the survey of the Selah Civic Center Parking Lot
project.

Thru: Joe Henne, Interim City Administrator

From: Joe Henne, Public Works Director

Action Requested: Approval

Board/Commission Recommendation: Not applicable

Fiscal Impact: $5,900.00

Funding Source: Civic Center Fund: 118.000.075.575.50.41.00

Staff Recommendation:

Approval

Background / Findings & Facts:

At the direction of the City of Selah, Huibregtse, Louman & Associates, Inc.
(HLA) shall provide land survey services for the survey of City properties that
are proposed for the Park-n-Ride and Civic Center Parking Lot project. HLA
will complete a field survey and locate site improvements such as buildings,
existing parking areas, utilities, trees, fences, and site topography.



CITY OF SELAH

CITY COUNCIL

AGENDA ITEMSUMMARY

Recommended Motion:

Accept and approve resolution for land surveying services.

Record of ail prior actions taken by the City Council and/or a City Board, City

Committee, Planning Commission, or the Hearing Examiner (where applicable)

Date: Action Taken:

Click here to enter a date. Click here to enter text.

Click here to enter a date. Click here to enter text.

Click here to enter a date. Click here to enter text.

Click here to enter a date. TITLE OF ITEM

Click here to enter a date. Click here to enter text.

Click here to enter a date. Click here to enter text.



RESOLUTION NO.

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO APPROVE TASK

ORDER 2015-1 BETWEEN THE CITY OF SELAH AND HUIBREGTSE,
LOUMAN & ASSOCIATES INC. FOR LAND SURVEYING SERVICES

FOR THE SURVEY OF THE SELAH CIVIC CENTER PARK-N-RIDE

AND OTHER BUILDING AND PARKING LOT IMPROVEMENTS

WHEREAS, the City of Selah wishes to construct improvements at the Civic Center, and

WHEREAS, the City of Selah desires to enter into an agreement for professional land surveying
services with Huibregtse, Louman Associates, Inc. for the work;

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SELAH,
WASHINGTON, the Mayor be authorized to sign a General Agreement, Task Order No 2015-1
for land surveying services for the Selah Civic Center.

PASSED AND ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SELAH,
WASHINGTON, this 24th day of February, 2015.

John Gawlik, Mayor

ATTEST:

Dale E. Novobielski, Clerk/Treasurer

APPROVED AS TO FORM:

Robert F. Noe, City Attorney

RESOLUTION NO.



TASK ORDER NO. 2015-1

REGARDING GENERAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN CITY OF SELAH

AND

HUIBREGTSE, LOUMAN ASSOCIATES, INC.

PROJECT DESCRIPTION:

Civic Center Boundary and Topographic Survey

HLA Project No. 15006G

The City of Selah (CITY) desires to construct a new parking lot at the Civic Center site.

SCOPE OF SERVICES:

At the direction of the City of Selah (CITY), Huibregtse, Louman Associates, Inc. (HLA), shall provide land
surveying services for the survey of the Civic Center site (PROJECT). HLAservices shall Include:

Boundary and Topographic Survey for Yakima County Tax Parcel Nos. 181435-444Q7. -44408. -44409.
-44410. 44411. -44429. and -44431

A. HLA will field survey the aboye referenced parcels and locate site improvements such as
buildings, existing parking areas, utilities, trees, fences, and site topography.

B. HLA will prepare a boundary and topographic survey of the parcels showing field located site
improvements, 1-foot contours, property lines, and underground and above ground utilities.
Underground utilities shown will be based on tone mat1<s provided by the local "Call Before You
Dig" service and record drawings. No excavation is planned for locating underground utilities.

C. HLAwill provide the City with an AutoCAD file of the survey and six paper copies.

ITEMS TO BE FURNISHED AND RESPONSIBILITY OF CITY

The CITY will provide or perform the following:

A. Provide record utility drawings ifavailable.

TIME OF PERFORMANCE:

HLAwill complete the services referenced hereon within 3 weeks of authorization to proceed.

FEE FOR SERVICE:

For the services furnished by HLA as described under this Agreement, the CITY agrees to pay HLA the
fees as set forth herein. The amounts listed below may be revised only by written agreement of both parties.

Boundary and Topographic Survey

All work shall be performed on a time-spent basis at normal hourly billing rates included in our General
Agreement, plus reimbursement for non-salary expenses with an estimated amount of $5,900.00.

Proposed: ^ .'i-Of ^
Huibregtse, Louman Associates, Inc. Date
Eric T. Herzog, PLS, Vice President

Approved:
City of Selah Date
John Gawlik, Mayor

G:\ComractsSTask Orders\Selah\2015-02-12Task Order No. 2015-1 CivicCenter Survey.docx Page 1 of 1



CITY OF SELAH

CITY COUNCIL

AGENDA ITEMSUMMARY

Council Meeting Action Item

2/24/2015 M-3

Title: Resolution Authorizing the Mayor to approve Task Order 2015-2
between the City of Selah and Huibregtse, Louman & Associates, Inc. for a
boundary and topographic survey for Wixson Park.

Thru: Joe Henne, Interim City Administrator

From: Joe Henne, Public Works Director

Action Requested: Approval

Board/Commission Recommendation: Not applicable

Fiscal Impact: $8,400.00

Funding Source: Park Fund: 001.000.076.576.81.41.01

Staff Recommendation:

Approval.

Background / Findings & Facts:

At the direction of the City of Selah, Huibregtse, Louman & Associates, Inc.

(HLA) shall provide land survey services for the survey of Wixson Park for

planning purposes and possible future construction. HLA will complete a field
survey and locate site improvements such as buildings, existing parking areas,
utilities, trees, fences, and site topography.



CITY OF SELAH

CITY COUNCIL

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY

Recommended Motion:

Accept and approve resolution for land surveying services.

Record of all prior actions taken by the City Council and/or a City Board, City

Committee, Planning Commission, or the Hearing Examiner (where applicable)

Date: Action Taken:

Click here to enter a date. Click here to enter text.

Click here to enter a date. Click here to enter text.

Click here to enter a date. Click here to enter text.

Click here to enter a date. TITLE OF ITEM

Click here to enter a date. Click here to enter text.

Click here to enter a date. Click here to enter text.



RESOLUTION NO.

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO APPROVE TASK

ORDER 2015-2 BETWEEN THE CITY OF SELAH AND HUIBREGTSE,
LOUMAN & ASSOCIATES INC. FOR A BOUNDARY AND

TOPOGRAPHIC SURVEY FOR WIXSON PARK

WHEREAS, the City of Selah wishes to have a boundary and topographic survey performed at
Wixson Park for planning and possible future construction, and

WHEREAS, the City of Selah desires to enter into an agreement for professional land surveying
services with Huibregtse, Louman Associates, Inc. for the work;

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SELAH,
WASHINGTON, the Mayor be authorized to sign a General Agreement, Task Order No 2015-2
for land surveying services for planning and possible future construction of Wixson Park.

PASSED AND ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SELAH,
WASHINGTON, this 24th day ofFebruary, 2015.

John Gawlik, Mayor

ATTEST:

Dale E. Novobielski, Clerk/Treasurer

APPROVED AS TO FORM:

Robert F. Noe, City Attorney

RESOLUTION NO.



TASK ORDER NO. 2015-2

REGARDING GENERAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN CITY OF SELAH

AND

HUIBREGTSE, LOUMAN ASSOCIATES, INC.

PROJECT DESCRIPTION:

Wixson Park Boundary and Topoaraphic Survey

HLA Project No. 15006G

The City of Selah (CITY) desires to have a boundary and topographic survey performed at Wixson Park for
planning purposes and possible future construction.

SCOPE OF SERVICES:

At the direction of the City of Selah (CITY), Huibregtse, Louman Associates. Inc. (HLA), shall provide land
surveying sen/ices for the survey of Wixson Park (PROJECT). HLAservices shall Include:

Boundary and Topographic Survey for Yakima County Tax Parcel Nos. 181435-44432 and -44437

A. HLA will field survey the above referenced parcels and locate site improvements such as
buildings, existing parking areas, utilities, trees, fences, and site topography.

B. HLA will prepare a boundary and topographic survey of the parcels showing field located site
improvements, 1-foot contours, property lines, and underground and above ground utilities.
Underground utilities shown will be based on tone marks provided by the local "Call Before You
Dig" service and record drawings. No excavation is planned for locating underground utilities.

C. HLAwill provide the City with an AutoCAD file of the survey and six paper copies.

ITEMS TO BE FURNISHED AND RESPONSIBILITY OF CITY

The CITY will provide or perform the following:

A. Provide record utility drawings if available.

TIME OF PERFORMANCE:

HLA will complete the services referenced hereon within 3 weeks of authorization to proceed.

FEE FOR SERVICE:

For the services furnished by HLA as described under this Agreement, the CITY agrees to pay HLA the
fees as set forth herein. The amounts listed below may be revised only by written agreement of both parties.

Boundary and Topoaraohic Survey

All work shall be performed on a time-spent basis at normal hourly billing rates included in our General
Agreement, plus reimbursement for non-salary expenses with an estimated amount of $8,400.00.

Proposed:

Approved:

Huibregtse. LouHian yj^ssociates. Inc. Date
Eric T. Herzog, PLS, Vice President

City of Selah Date
John Gawlik, Mayor

G:\Contracts &Task Ordefs\Selah\2015-02-12Task Order No. 201S-2 Wixson Park Survey.docx Page 1 of 1



CITY OF SELAH

CITY COUNCIL

AGENDA ITEMSUMMARY

Council Meeting Action Item

2/24/2014 M-4

Title: Resolution Approving the Preliminary Plat of "Somerset 11" (912.42.14-

05) and Adopting Findings and Conditions of Preliminary Plat Approval

Thru: Joe Henne, Interim City Administrator

From: Thomas R Durant, Community Planner

Action Requested: Approval

Board/Commission Recommendation: Denial

Fiscal Impact: N/A

Funding Source: N/A

Staff Recommendation:

Approval

Background / Findings & Facts:

The Hearing Examiner conducted open record public hearing December 4,
2014. Prepared Findings of Fact and Conclusions recommending Denial of the
Somerset 11 Preliminary Plat based on the recommendation for denial of the

Planned Development without prejudice, with allowancefor reopening the
open public record hearing in accordance with SMC 10.24.060.

The Hearing Examiner also made a finding that if the Council is persuaded that
the Planned Development meets the requirements of Chapter 10.24, SMC
notwithstanding a recommendation for denial that an approval be subject to the
conditions set forth on pp 16 - 19 under Finding #7 of the Hearing Examiner's
decision.



CITY OF SELAH

CITY COUNCIL

AGENDA ITEMSUMMARY

Recommended Motion:

I move the Council approve Preliminary Plat No. 912.42.14-05 designated as
Somerset II with 23 specific conditions as recommended by the Hearing
Examiner and adopt Findings 1 through 8 and 9-d and Conclusions 1, 2 and 7
of the Hearing Examiner's Recommendation

Record of all prior actions taken by the City Council and/or a City Board, City
Committee, Planning Commission, or the Hearing Examiner (where applicable)

Date:

12/4/2014

10/14/2014

9/30/2014

Action Taken;

Hearing Examiner - Open Record Public Hearing

City Council Closed Record Public Hearing - remanded

Planning Commission - Open Record Public Hearing

Click here to enter a date. Click here to enter text.

Click here to enter a date. Click here to enter text.

Click here to enter a date. Click here to enter text.



RESOLUTION NO.

RESOLUTION APPROVING THE PRELIMINARY PLAT OF

"SOMERSET II" (912.42.14-05) AND ADOPTING FINDINGS AND
CONDITIONS OF PRELIMINARY PLAT APPROVAL

WHEREAS, on February 24 2015 the City of Selah City Council considered Preliminary Plat No.
912.42.14-05 known as "SOMERSET 11" on Herlou Drive and Lyle Loop Road Yakima County
Taxation Parcel Numbers: (181426-44005 and 181426-44021); and,

WHEREAS, the Preliminary Plat was combined with an application for rezone ofthe subject property
from One Family Residential (R-1) to Planned Development (PD) and is dependent on approval ofthat
application; and,

WHEREAS, The HearingExaminerrecommended denial of the combinedapplication ofPreliminary Plat
and rezone withoutprejudice, with allowance for re-opening the open recordproceeding commencedin
accordance with SMC 10.24.060 to allow consideration ofand public comment on additional information
and amended developmentplan and program material submitted by the applicant in its discretion;and,

WHEREAS, the Hearing Examiner also made a finding that if the Council is persuaded that the Planned
Developmentmeets the requirementsofChapter 10.24 SMC notwithstanding a recommendation for
denial, the application should be approved withthe conditions set forth in Finding #7 ofsaid Hearing
Examiner recommendation; and,

WHEREAS,the City of Selah partiallyadopted the HearingExaminer's recommendationfor the Planned
Development rezone,approving it with the conditions set forth in said Finding#7; and,

WHEREAS, the City of Selah Council has considered the HearingExaminer's findings of fact and
conclusions and the City staffreport dated December 1,2014 and the Council is satisfied that the matter
has been sufficiently considered; and,

WHEREAS, the City Counciladopts some, but not all ofthe Findings and Conclusions ofthe Hearing
Examiner's Recommendation dated December 19,2014.

WHEREAS, the City Council considered the elementsof public use and interestto be served by such
platting, and

WHEREAS, the City Council considered the elementsofpublic health,safety,and generalwelfare
pertaining to the preliminary plat;

912.42.14-05 PLAT OF "SOMERSET IP

RESOLUTION OF PRELIMINARY PLAT APPROVAL



NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SELAH,
WASHINGTON that Preliminary Plat No. 912,42.14-05 designated as "Somerset 11" be approved, that
the Hearing Examiner's Findings 1 -8 and 9"d", Conclusions 1,2,and 7 be adopted with the twenty three
(23) specific conditions contained in the said Conclusion '7'and a copy ofwhich is attached hereto.

PASSED AND ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SELAH, WASHINGTON
this 24'*' day ofFebruaiy, 2015.

John Gawlik, Mayor
ATTEST;

Dale E. Novobielski, Clerk/Treasurer

APPROVED AS TO FORM:

Robert Noe, City Attomey

Resolution No.

912.42.14-05 PLAT OF "SOMERSET II"

RESOLUTION OF PRELIMINARY PLAT APPROVAL



CONDITIONS OF PRELIMINARY PLAT APPROVAL

1. All design and/or improvement notations indicated on the preliminary plat are included herein as
conditions ofpreliminary plat approval. (Including, but not limited to, dedicated right-of-way width,
easement widths and locations, lot size and configuration)

2. A preliminary engineering report and/or plan, prepared by a Licensed Professional Engineer,
demonstrating the feasibility of construction ofall public improvements required by Selah Municipal
Code, Chapter 10.50, must be submitted to the Public Works Director for approval, including approval
ofcompliance with public street alignment requirements.

3. All final plans and specifications for improvements must be prepared by a Licensed Professional
Engineer and reviewed and approved by the Public Works Director prior to construction. Specifications
for improvements shown on the preliminary plat are minimum specifications that may be superseded
by conditions contained herein or by specific conditions as approved by the Public Works Director.
Upon completion ofconstruction and prior to final plan approval, final 'as-built' construction plans
and a written certification by a Licensed Professional Engineer that said private improvements were
completed in accordance with the approved construction plans must be submitted to the Public Works
Director for approval.

4. Reports, plans and specifications previously submitted shall count toward meeting the requirements
ofConditions #2 and #3 if accepted by the Public Works Director to the extent ofthe improvements for
which they are determined to be sufficient.
5. Lvle Loop Road: Street improvements must be constructed to City standards as approved by the
Public Works Director including 50 foot wide right-of-way, 32 foot wide asphalt pavement, concrete
rolled (or better) curb and gutter, five (5) foot wide sidewalk on one street side and illumination. The
sidewalk shall be installed on the same side of the street as it is on the existing completed portion of
Lyle Loop Road. Utility improvements shall be extended beyond street pavement edge to facilitate
future extension where appropriate. Street grade shall not exceed 10%.

6. Lyle Loop Road shall be constructed in its entirety prior to the recording of Phase 1 or a temporary
turnaround constructed to City standards shall be provided at the point at which it ends.

7. The private interior street shall be constructed as a hard-surfaced street to the specifications
approved by the Public Works Director prior to recording a final plat for Phase 3. The street shall have
a minimum surface width of20 feet. This improvement is not required as a condition of final plat
recording beyond (east of) the point at which it enters Lot 6.

8. Covenants or a road maintenance agreement, providing for the perpetual maintenance of the private
roadway and that establish a road maintenance fund shall be recorded with the Yakima County Auditor
and a recorded copy submitted to the Selah Community Planner prior to recording the final plat.

9. Documentation of the proposed use and ownership of the common open space shall be provided

912.42.14-05 PLAT OF "SOMERSET 11"

RESOLUTION OF PRELIMINARY PLAT APPROVAL



prior to recording a final plat for any phase. Documentation shall include covenants, establishment ofa
homeowner's association or deed restrictions and they shall be recorded prior to recording any final
plat. It may be combined with the covenants or agreement required for maintenance of the private
roadway. Documentation shall also establish or demonstrate legal access by all residents of the plat to
the common open space.

10. Street illumination shall be installed by the developer at locations and to the specifications of the
Public Works Director (typically at 300 foot intervals or as otherwise determined by the Director of
Public Works in order to maximize illumination). Street lights shall be installed on metal poles.

11. All lots must be served with a full range of public and private services and utilities including public
water and sewer, power, natural gas and telephone. All utilities except for the standard telephone box,
transmission box and similar structures shall be imderground and installed prior to the surfacing of
streets. All utilities placed beneath streets, curbs or sidewalks shall be extended beyond these features
to avoid them being disrupted by future extensions.

12. There shall be a moratorium on public street cuts for a period of five (5) years from the date of plat
recording.

13. Fire hydrants shall be provided and installed by the developer at locations approved by the City of
Selah Fire Chiefand to the specifications of Selah Municipal Code, Chapter 11.30.

14. Final lot dimensions and lot area must substantially conform to the preliminary plat unless
otherwise amended during the hearing process.

15. Storm Water drainage facilities to accommodate runoff generated in the plat must comply with a
drainage facilities plan prepared by a Licensed Professional Engineer and approved by the Public
Works Director. Plans submitted previously will count toward meeting this requirement if approved by
the Public Works Director. Additional documentation may be required for portions of the site not
covered by any such previously submitted plans.

16. Prior to final plat recording, all required plat improvements (utilities, streets, drainage facilities,
etc.) must be installed and accepted by the City or a surety bond pledged to the City to ensure
installation of the plat improvements within two years of final plat recording.

17. Planned Development approval shall be in substantial conformance to the project design as
described in the project narrative, application materials and on the face of the preliminary plat.
Setbacks, building height and lot coverage shall be to the standards required in the R-1 zoning district
by the zoning ordinance. Lot size and lot width shall either conform to the approved preliminary plat or
meet minimum R-1 standards. This condition is not intended to preclude modifications otherwise
allowed under SMC 10.24.110.

18. All required street signs, posts and appurtenances must be supplied by the developer and will be

912.42.14-05 PLAT OK "SOMERSET 11"

RESOLUTION OF PRELIMINARY PLAT APPROVAL



installed by the City.

19. The following note shall be placed on any final plat map:

"The owners shown hereon, their grantees and assignees in interest, hereby
covenant and agree to retain all surface water generated within the plat on-site."

20. Lots in Phase 3 shall be served by an 8 inch sewer line extended in the utility easement across Lots
9 and 10 and then continued to all of the individual Phase 3 lots in the access and utility easement as
shown on the Preliminary Plat.

21. Prior to final plat recording, a surety bond, or such other financial method acceptable to the City, in
the amount of 15% of the cost of public improvements as determined by the Public Works Director
(streets, sidewalks, street lights, drainage facilities, sewage collection and water distribution facilities,
etc.) must be remitted to the City and will be held for a period of two years fi-om the date of final plat
recording to guarantee against defects in materials and workmanship.

22. Improvements required for the subdivision must be completed and the final plat must be submitted
within the maximum time period required by RCW 58.17.140. If this decision is issued on or before
December 31,2014, that time period is 7 years. Otherwise, it is 5 years. A one-time, one-year extension
may be authorized in accordance with SMC 10.50.033(c) but the request must be made before the 5-
year time period ends.

23. Any changes to the plan or program shall be subject to review in accordance with Chapter 10.24,
SMC.

912.42.14-05 PLAl OF "SOMERSET 11"

RESOLUTION OF PRELIMINARY PLAT APPROVAL



City of Selah

Hearing Examiner Minutes
SOMERSET II

December 4,2014

Selah Council Chambers

115 W. Naches Ave.

Selah, Washington 98942

CALL TO ORDER:

The December 4,2014 meeting was convened by the Hearing Examiner, Patrick Spurgin, at 7:00

p.m. Dennis Davison and Tom Durant represented the Department of Planning.

Public Hearing: OFFICIAL ZONING MAP AMENDMENT 914.42.14-04: R-1 to PD(PLANNED

DEVELOPMENT). PRELIMINARY PLAT 912.42.14-05 "Somerset II"

Planner Tom Durant presented the Staff Report:

CITY OF SELAH HEARING EXAMINER

STAFF REPORT

December 1, 2014

FILE NO.; OFFICIAL ZONING MAPAMENDMENT 914.42.14-04: R-1 to PD (PLANNED DEVELOPMENT)

PRELIMINARY PLAT 912.42.14-05 "Somerset 11"

ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 971.42.14-07

PROPOSAL; Amend the official zoning map of the City of Selah reclassifying the two parcels Planned

Development rather than One Family Residential (R-1).

Preliminary Plat of "Somerset ii" subdividing the 4.7 acre subject property into 24 Single family

residential lots served by a full range of public utilities and a 1,233 square foot open space tract.

Proposed density is 5 dwelling units per gross acre. All of the developable lots are proposed for

detached single family dwellings.

The original application for Somerset Ii dated March 4, 2014, was amended on November 10,

2014. As amended, the application no longer needs a comprehensive plan amendment because the new

proposal conforms to the density of the LowDensity Residential plan designation. Since the original

Hearing Examiner
December 4,2014

Caprise Groo, Secretary



application was modified but not withdrawn, the application materiais and SEPA environmental

checklist are considered to stili appiy to the extent that were not modified by the amendment.

PROPONENT& PROPERTY OWNER; Zuker-Sample Development, LLC

LOCATION; Site fronts on Herlou Drive to the west and Lyie Loop Road to the east. It is about 75 feet

north of the intersection of Lyie Loopand Heriou Drive and about 100 feet south of the intersection of

Heriou Drive and Weems Way (Tax Parcel Numbers: 181426-44005 and 44021).

The site is bordered on the south by Somerset I, a 24 lot subdivision recorded in 2002 and buiit

out with detached single family homes on lots that are mostly 8,000 to 10,000 square feet in size but

also includes a few somewhat larger lots up to 28,624 square feet (0.66 acre).

PUBLIC FACILITIES AND UTILITY SERVICES: A full range of public facilities and utility services including

water, sewage, storm drainage and fire protection serves the property.

ACCESS: Heriou Drive, Yakima County local access street borders the site on the west; Lyie Loop Road, a

local access street borders the site on the east and would be extended across the property to Heriou

Drive on the west providing internal access to the proposed subdivision.

ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW: A Determination of Nonsigniflcance (DNS) (971.42.14-07) was issued on

September 14,2014. There was no comment period for the DNS, however it could be appealed through

October 3,2014. The Environmental Checklist dated February 20 was re-reviewed with respect to the

November 10 amended application, no significant adverse environmental impacts were determined to

result from changes in the proposal.

APPLICATION AUTHORITY AND JURISDiaiON: Selah Municipal Code, Chapter 10.24 (Planned

Development Zoning District), Chapter 10.40 (amendments) and Chapter 10.50 (subdivision); also Selah

Urban Growth Area Comprehensive Plan.

LAND USE AND ZONING:

Table 1: Existing Land Use, Plan Designation and Zoning

Area Land Use Plan Designation Zoning
Site Vacant; part is subject

to County approved

preliminary plat with
utilities in place

Low Density Residential One Family Residential
(R-1)

North Detached single-family
homes on 0.4 acre lots

Low Density Residential One Family Residential
(Yakima County - R-1)

South Detached single-family
homes on 8,375 to

10,176 square foot (0.2
to 0.25 acre) lots

Low Density Residential One Family Residential

(R-1)

Hearing Examiner
December 4, 2014

Caprise Groo, Secretary



East Detached single-family
homes on 15,795 to

28,624 square foot
(0.36 to 0.66 acre) lots.
One large lot (2.81 acre)
with a single-family
home and raising
horses

Low Density Residential One-Family Residential

(R-1)

West Detached single-family
homes on 1/3 to Yi acre
lots

Low Density Residential One-Family Residential
(Yakima County - R-1)

The modified application calls attention to the Crest subdivision located 500 feet west of the site

and not among the areas described in Table 1. it consists of detached single-family homes on 53 lots

averaging 7,457 square feet (0.17 acre) in size and generally in the 7,000 to 8,000 square foot range. The

Crest is in the City limits, zoned R-1 with a Low Density Residential plan designation.

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN;

Citv of Selah Urban Growth Area Comprehensive Plan Designated Low Density Residential by

the Future Land Use Map, adopted 2006. This designation provides for a maximum density of five (5)

dwelling units per acre.

Applicable Goals and Policies:

Objective LUGM 3: Encourage economic growth while maintaining quality development and

controlling the cost of public improvements in Selah's UGA.

Policy LUGM 3.2: Direct development to areas where infrastructure (water, sewer and streets)

is either present, can be easily extended, or is planned to be extended.

Policy LUGM 3.3: Conserve land, energy and financial resources by minimizing urban sprawl.

Objective HSG1: Maintain and upgrade the character of existing residential neighborhoods.

Policy HSG1.2: Encourage new single-family development throughout existing single-family

neighborhoods as redevelopment and infill construction at appropriate densities.

Objective HSG 2: Encourage new residential development to approximate existing residential

densities and housing mix levels.

Policy HSG 2.1: Encourage the combined net density of ail residential development to remain at

present levels. Exceptions to this policy should be permitted where the developer can demonstrate that

the quality of the project design, construction and amenities warrants a different housing density.

Hearing Examiner
December 4,2014

Ca prise Groo, Secretary



Policy HSG 2.2: Ensurecodes and ordinances promote and allowfor a compatible mix of

housing types In residential areas.

Objective HSG 4: Encourage new residential construction to be compatible with existing

residential development.

Policy HSG 4.1: Encourage developers to use private covenants and deed restrictions which

specify architectural, maintenance and landscaping standards within their development.

MINORREZONE APPLICATION: A rezone that Is not dependent on a comprehensive plan amendment Is

considered to be a "minor rezone." Since a planned development zone may be permitted In any location

provided that It remains consistent with the comprehensive plan (SMC 10.24.010) this application as

amended, does not require a plan amendment. The review criteria for a minor rezone are as follows:

1. The extent to which the proposed amendment/major rezone Is consistent with and/or deviates

from the goals, objectives, mapping criteria and policies adopted In the comprehensive plan and

the Intent of Title 10;

2. The adequacy of public facilities, such as roads, sewer, water and other public services required

to meet urban or rural needs;

3. The public need for the proposed change. Public need shall mean that a valid public purpose, for

which the comprehensive plan and this title have been adopted. Is served by the proposed

application. Findings that address public need shall, at a minimum document:

a. Whether additional land for a particular purpose Is required In consideration of the

amount already provided by the plan map designation or current zoning district within

the area as appropriate;

b. Whether the timing Is appropriate to provide additional land for a particular use.

4. Whether substantial changes In circumstances exist to warrant an amendment to the current

designation or zone;

5. The testimony at the public hearing;

6. The compatibility of the proposed zone change and associated uses with neighboring land uses;

7. The suitability of the property In question for uses permitted under the proposed zoning;

8. The recommendation from Interested agencies and departments.

Hearing Examiner
December 4, 2014

Caprise Groo, Secretary



PLANNED DEVELOPMENT APPLICATION: An approved planned development modifies and supersedes

all regulations of the "underlying" zoning district but is considered to be a separate zoning district (SMC

10.24.010). Its purpose is to allow new development that is consistent with the comprehensive plan but

that would not be readily permitted in other zoning districts. Achange of zoning to Planned

Development is based on the following criteria:

1. Substantial conformance to the Comprehensive Plan;

2. The proposal's harmony with the surrounding area, or its potential future use;

3. The system of ownership and means of development, preserving and maintaining open space;

4. The adequacy of the size of the proposed district to accommodate the contemplated

development;

5. Compliance with the subdivision code.

Development as proposed would not be readily permitted in other zoning districts due to the

7,000 square foot lot size. Private streets are generally not permitted per SMC10.50.041(d)(4) of the

subdivision code. However, a private access street may be authorized for a subdivision where there are

no adverse effect on future traffic circulation of neighboring parcels.

Modification of the following normally required subdivision standards as proposed by this

application is allowed for good cause shown when a subdivision is combined with a planned

development and where appropriate to provide for the type of development and land use contemplated

as a planned development:

a. Each lot must front upon a public street with a width not less than [that] set forth in the

street standards.

b. Lots having frontage on two streets should be avoided whenever possible.

c. Minimum lot width of 60 feet at the rear line of the required front yard. Minimum lot

width of 70 feet for corner lots.

d. Minimum lot size as required by the zoning district.

The lots that are served by the proposed private street system also have frontage on it and not

on a public street. Several of the lots on Lyie Loop Road also border (on their rear lot lines) on the

private street system and may be considered double-frontage lots for that reason.

As shown on the preliminary plat. Lots 1 and 7 have less than the minimum required 60 foot lot

width and assuming the lots that front on both the private access easement and LyIe Loop Road are
5

Hearing Examiner
December 4, 2014

Caprise Groo, Secretary



considered to be corner lots, the 70 foot minimum width is not met on them either. Lot 13 meets

the 70 foot standard because it is measured at the rear line of the required front yard (i.e., the front

setback).

A development plan and program containing specific elements listed at SMC10.24.030 and .050

is required for planned developments. The amended application describes its conformance with the

requirements of SMC10.24.030. Photographs of proposed (in this case typical) buildings were

provided. Submittals generally conform to these requirements, although not ail of the specific items

were submitted. The application addresses the items that are most relevant to this proposal and

some of the required submittai items are not applicable to this project.

Requirements for common open space are given by SMC10.24.080, .090 and .100. Where it is

provided it must be suitable for the planned development, the authorized open space uses must be

appropriate to the scale and character of the planned development considering its size, density

number and type of dwelling units, etc. and must be used for amenity or recreational purposes. It

must be suitably improved for its intended use, but common open space containing natural features

may be left unimproved. Its development must be coordinated with the dwellings of the planned

development, its permanent retention and maintenance must be assured by restrictive covenants,

dedication to the public, by an owner's association or by another method approved by the hearing

examiner and city attorney. The City is to be vested with the right to enforce permanent retention

and maintenance and may perform necessary maintenance and assess the costs to the property

owners.

The open space proposed by this application is a 1,233 square foot tract fronting on the east

side of Herlou Drive in an area that based on the contours shown on the preliminary plat appears to

be on a bench providing a relatively flat area on which some limited recreational improvements may

be possible. It would likely be accessed from the proposed Interior private street. The application

does not specify how it is to be developed or if it is to remain unimproved.

PRELIMINARY PLAT APPLICATION;

Acreage: 4.7 acres

Number of lots: 24 lots receiving full urban services, six of the lots to be served by a private

street.

Average lot size: 7,041 square feet (0.16 acre).

Gross density: 5.1 units per acre (Conformance to required density is based on multiplying 4.7

acres x 5 du/acre = 23.5 dwelling units, rounded up to 24).

Hearing Examiner
December 4,2014
Caprise Groo, Secretary



Phasing: Three proposed phases. The dwelling units in Phases 1 and 2 are proposed to be

served by City maintained Lyie Loop Road while Phase 3 will be served by a

private interior street in 20 to 26 foot wide access easements.

Phase 1 consists of 8 lots; Phase 2 has 10 lots and Phase 3 has 6 lots.

The subject property was approved for a 17 lot preliminary plat by Yakima County, but not

recorded. According to the application narrative, it was rendered "null and void" by the applicant.

Previous to the plat approval, it was a tract in Somerset i (described above) a subdivision that has

otherwise been built out. Part of the property was acquired through a street vacation for Herlou Drive.

UTILITIES; Public sewer lines, water lines and drainage improvements have been installed in Phase 1 in

accordance with the County decision approving the previous preliminary plat; engineering plans for

these improvements have been approved by the Selah Public Works Department. These utilities will

need to be extended into Phases 2 and 3.

WATER : An 8 inch domestic water line will extend through Phases 1 and 2 in the proposed

alignment of Lyie Loop Road from where it currently ends on the east side of the site to Herlou Drive on

the west. Awater line will need to be extended Into Phase 3, using the access/utility easement that is to

provide access to the lots in that phase.

SEWER : An 8 inch sanitary sewer line will extend west through Phases 1 and 2 in the proposed

alignment of Lyie Loop Road beginning where the street ends currently, terminating just before reaching

Herlou Drive on the west. The preliminary plat shows a 16 foot wide sewer easement through Lots 8

and 9 that would connect Phase 3 with the line on Lyie Loop Road. The combined access/utility

easement through Phase 3 would allow sewer extension to all of the lots in the phase.

FIRE HYDRANTS: Existing hydrants are located at the intersection of Lyie Loop Road and Herlou

Drive in the existing Somerset I subdivision and about 520 feet to the east on the north side of Lyie Loop

Road. Although hydrant locations for the proposal are not indicated on the preliminary plat, a hydrant

has been installed on the site in the alignment of Lyie Loop Road where it would front on proposed Lots

7 and 22 about 450 feet (travel distance on the street) from the interior hydrant in Somerset I and about

460 feet from Herlou Drive. An additional hydrant will be required on the proposed private access

easement at the north end of Lot 9.

TRANSPORTATION: (Existing conditions)

Herlou Drive - (Yakima County, designated Local Access) - Asphalt pavement with concrete

barrier curb and gutter, 5 foot wide sidewalk on the east side and illumination in a 60 foot wide right-of-

way.

Lvie Loop Road (Local Access) - 32 foot wide asphalt pavement with concrete rolled curb and

gutter, 5 foot wide sidewalk on the north and west sides of the street and illumination in 50-foot wide

right-of-way.

7

Hearing Examiner

December 4, 2014

Caprise Groo, Secretary



TRANSPORTATION; (Planned improvements):

Lyie Loop Road will be extended through Phases 1 and 2 to the same development standards as

the existing road (described above).

A private access street will be extended into Phase 3 from Lyie Loop Road in a 20 foot wide

access and utility easement from Lyie Loop Road north to Lots 3 and 4, and then east and west for a

total length of 90 feet and a width of 26 feet forming a hammerhead type turnaround to accommodate

emergency vehicles. The easement then continues with a 20 foot width for 158 feet to the west to

serve Lots 1 through 3 and for 150 feet to the east serving Lots 4 through 6. The easement encumbers

10 feet of 12 lots and 16 feet of portions of Lots 3 and 4. The original application states that it will be

paved.

OTHER FINDINGS:

1. The zoning ordinance generally does not specify bulk and setback requirements for a Planned

Development, leaving it up to the required development plan (SMC 10.24.030). None are given

in the amended application and preliminary plat,

2. The original application states that smaller dwelling units meet an identified need in that they

are less expensive and in demand by both first time homebuyers and older buyers. While the

detached single-family lots may not have the appeal to the older buyers as the originally

proposed units, the applicant has confirmed that they would be more affordable increasing their

appeal to first-time buyers. The applicant also argues that 7,000 square foot lots allow better

utilization of this site because requiring a larger lot size would reduce the density to below five

dwelling units per acre as allowed by the comprehensive plan.

3. The title report discloses several easements for utilities and access as shown on Schedule 'A' of

the Chicago Title insurance Company report dated February 10,2014. Any easements and

reservations not disclosed on the preliminary plat map must be disclosed on any final plat map.

4. SMC 10.50.033(c) provides the developer five (5) years from the date of preliminary plat

approval to complete all required improvements and record the final plat. However, following

the economic downturn of 2007-2009, the 5tate Legislature amended RCW58.17 (Subdivision

Act) to allow seven (7) years from preliminary plat approval if the approval is made prior to

December 31,2014, after which the time period reverts back to five years (RCW58.17.140(3)).

SMC 10.50.033(c) allows the developer to, prior to this completion date, request a one-time,

one-year extension to complete the improvements and record the plat.

STAFF ANALYSIS:

1. Minor Rezone:

Hearing Examiner

December 4, 2014

Caprise Groo, Secretary



a. The proposal is generally consistent with the goals, objectives, mapping criteria and
policiesof the comprehensive pian and the intent of the zoning ordinance. This is
summarized as follows:

i. The proposal allows for a compatible mix of housing types in a residential area

(Objective HSG 2; Policy HSG 2.2). Asdemonstrated by submittals in the

amended application, it is consistent with existing residential densities and

housing mix levels (Objective HSG 2), it is compatible with existing residential

development and maintains and/or upgrades the character of existing

residential neighborhoods (Objective HSG 1). It directs development to areas

where infrastructure is present (Objective LUGM 3; Policy LUGM 3.2) and

conserves land, energy and financial resources by minimizing urban sprawl

(Objective LUGM 3; Policy LUGM 3.3).

ii. The proposal is consistent with the Selah Urban Area Comprehensive Plan

description of the LowDensity Residential plan designation category, which

states in part: 'The predominate use will be low density residential; however it

is the intent and desire of Selah that its low density neighborhoods develop with

a mix of housing types including single-family, duplexes, townhouses and multi-

family dwellings. The mix of housing types will be limited by the maximum

permissible density and zoning standards will regulate development to assure

compatibility."

iii. The applicant did not provide or identify private covenants or deed restrictions

for architectural, maintenance and landscaping standards (Objective HSG 4;

Policy 4.1) although as written, this policy is not mandatory (i.e.; "...Encourage

developers...").

iv. The proposal is consistent with the intent of Title 10, Selah Municipal Code as

described at SMC 10.02.030. It is consistent with all of the intent requirements

of the existing R-1 zone (SMC10.12.010) except that certain minimum

development standards are not being met (SMC10.12.010(4)). The Planned

Development zone allows these regulations to be superseded provided that

proposed uses and developments conform to comprehensive plan policies (SMC

10.24.010). The purpose of the Planned Development zone is to allow

development that is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan but that would not

be readily permitted in other zoning districts due to limitations in dimensional

standards, permitted uses or accessory uses (Ibid.).

Hearing Examiner
December 4,2014

Caprise Groo, Secretary



V. Private streets may be authorized where there are no adverse effect on future

traffic circulation of neighboring parcels (SMC10.50.041(c)(4)). Smaller lots are

allowed in Planned Developments (SMC10.24.010). Therefore, the proposal is

not inherently inconsistent with City Code in these respects and there are no

comprehensive plan policies that expressly prohibit them.

vi. In addition, planned developments may encourage flexibility in design and

development that are architecturally and environmentally innovative, that will

encourage a more creative approach in the development of the land and which

will result in a more efficient, aesthetic and desirable utilization of the land than

is possible through strict application of standard zoning and subdivision controls

(SMC10.24.010(1)). The use of private streets and smaller lot size as proposed

results in a more efficient and arguably desirable utilization of the land.

vii. The preliminary plat of Somerset II that was approved on this site by Yakima

County in 2008 does not conform to current development standards of SMC

10.50, in that the area of the site proposed by the current proposal to be served

by private streets on the north side of Lyie Loop Road exceeded the maximum

2.5 to 1 depth to width ratio standard of SMC 10.50.041(e)(6)(A).

b. Public facilities, including roads, sewer, and water are adequate to meet the urban

needs of the development. This is because they are being installed to City standards,

and have mostly been approved. Installation of sewer and water lines in the private

road system comply with adopted subdivision standards or conform to the Fire Code.

c. The public purposes indicated by the application include providing an alternative type of

single-family lots not otherwise allowed by the zoning ordinance but consistent with the

allowed density and that is in demand because of affordability. It also allows more

efficient utilization of the site through the limited use of private streets and a lot size

that allows the development of the property to the maximum density provided for by

the comprehensive plan. These purposes are consistent with the low density residential

comprehensive plan designation where it encourages a mix of housing types limited by

the maximum permissible density and zoning standards. They allow a compatible mix of

housing types in residential areas (Objective HSG 2; Policy HSG 2.2). They better utilize

the site, direct development to areas where water, sewer and streets are present

(Objective LUGM 3; Policy LUGM 3.2) and facilitate the conservation of land, energy and

financial resources (Objective LUGM 3; Policy LUGM 3.3).

d. Since the type of housing and density now being proposed is otherwise consistent with

that permitted in the R-1 zone, the questions of whether additional land is required and

10

Hearing Examiner
December 4,2014

Caprise Groo, Secretary



whether timing is appropriate is limited to the reduced lot size and use of private streets

for access. The following findings address this issue:

i. Seven-thousand square foot lots are not permitted in any zoning district. To the

extent that a need has been established for them, there is no land already

zoned or plan-designated for them.

ii. As a floating zone, Planned Developments are not plan designated, so there is

no land available for them.

ill. The need for a private street to accommodate additional lots is based on the

topography, surrounding existing development and resulting difficulty in

developing part of the site. Using a smaller lot size to allow for the allowed

density is based on the size and shape of the site and its orientation to the

street network. Only allowing public streets and requiring conformance to a

larger minimum lot size would reduce the number of dwelling units that could

be developed and the density. These are site-specific characteristics that cannot

be addressed in another location or by timing the project differently.

e. Since a Planned Development is a floating zone and no locations are specified for it in

advance by the comprehensive plan, the change of circumstances that warrant the

rezone wouid be the determination that there is a pubiic need and conformance with

the other criteria for its approvai.

f. Whiie testimony at upcoming public hearings cannot be determined in advance,

previous testimony included opposition to development at a density that is higher than

that allowed by the Low Density Residential plan designation and to housing types other

than detached single-family residential. Testimony was also given to the need for single-

family housing that is more affordable and convenient, particularly to seniors and single

owners. Relying on the testimony given before the application was amended, higher-

density development may not be appropriate in this location even though evidence was

provided that supported the need and demand for more affordable and convenient

housing units. As amended, the current proposal may still accommodate that need,

although not as well as previously proposed.

g. Compatibility of the planned development and proposed uses with neighboring land

uses is demonstrated in part by documentation provided by the applicant that the

proposed lot size is the same as In some of the surrounding area with no indication that

it has resulted in the devaluation of property values. Limiting the density of the proposal

to that permitted by the comprehensive plan designation, and housing types to that of

surrounding areas as is now proposed contributes to neighborhood compatibility.

11

Hearing Examiner

December 4,2014
Caprise Groo, Secretary



h. The property is suitable for the proposed land use and it provides infill of an existing

residential area. Public facilities: roads, sewer, water, etc. are adequate to meet project

needs.

i. There were no recommendations or comments from other agencies.

2. Planned Development: As proposed, the application conforms to the comprehensive plan and

is compatible with the surrounding area as a result of project design and adequacy of the size of

the proposed district to accommodate the development. It complies with the subdivision code

with considerations for the modifications of certain subdivision code standards.

a. The proposed planned development substantially conforms to the Comprehensive Plan.

Density and housing type are consistent with the Low Density Residential land use

designation, the project reduces sprawl and provides for infill development and efficient

use of the land. There are no comprehensive plan policies that specifically prohibit the

proposed modification of subdivision standards that are allowed in Planned

Developments by the zoning and subdivision codes. An inconsistency with the

comprehensive plan is that there are no identified covenants or deed restrictions which

specify architectural, maintenance and landscaping standards. This policy (HS6 4.1) is

not mandatory as written and these documents could be required if they are deemed to

be necessary.

b. Based on the following findings, the proposal is in harmony with the surrounding area

and potential future land uses:

i. Proposed private access streets do not adversely affect future traffic circulation.

Further connectivity to the north is infeasible due to topography, to the east is

available from proposed and existing streets including part of Lyie Loop Road

within the development, and to the west, connectivity has either been provided

already or is precluded by existing development.

ii. The application documents that the reduced lot size is consistent with

neighboring development and that it would not adversely affect land values of

surrounding residential properties. Specifically, conclusions drawn from the

applicant's analysis in the amended application are that assessed values and

actual sales are generally consistent regardless of lot size. Also, property values

on a square foot basis are higher for smaller (7,000 square foot range) rather

than larger lots. The conclusion made by the applicant is that the determinants

of property value are providing utilities including municipal water and sewer,

12

Hearing Examiner

December 4, 2014

Caprise Groo, Secretary



features added to the land, architectural design and quality of construction as

opposed to lot size.

c. The system of ownership in the planned development is that each lot will be separately

owned; it is not being proposed as a condominium development and there are virtually

no common areas. The application indicates the intent that residential units will be sold

rather than rented.

The common open space shown on the amended application appears to be

suitable for the planned development given Its size, density, number of dwelling units

and topography. Since the proposed lots are large enough single-family lots to have

their own yards, there does not appear to be a substantial need for separate open

space. The proposed open space, while small, is in a location that can be improved for

recreational use, although leaving common open space unimproved is allowed when it

contains natural features (in this case, steep slopes). The application does not indicate

how its retention and maintenance is to be assured, how it will be owned or the timing

relative to development of the project, although it is shown to be located within the

boundary of Phase 3.

d. The 4.7 acre subject property is large enough to accommodate the residential lots at the

proposed size and density along with public and private streets, utilities and the

proposed common open space. Characteristics of the site that provide some physical

separation from neighboring properties are differences in elevation as described in the

original application.

e. The proposal generally complies with the subdivision code, except with respect to the

variation already described for which the planned development application is being

made: Minimum lot size and using private streets for access. Also certain subdivision

standards that may be modified by a planned development under SMC 10.50.041(e) for

good cause and where appropriate to provide for the contemplated type of

development and land use. They are: All lot frontage on public streets; Avoiding double-

frontage lots; Minimum lot width of 60 feet and 70 feet for corner lots; Minimum lot

size. Each of these modifications are addressed as follows:

i. Use of private streets for access The need for private streets is primarily the

topography and limited size of the area north of LyieLoop Road. The County

approved preliminary plat of Somerset II simply extended lots into this area in a

manner that as already stated, does not conform to current City standards. The

application describes the private road system as providing sufficient turn

around for fire apparatus with the farthest home no farther than 150 feet from

a fire hydrant as required by the Fire Code.

Hearing Examiner

December 4,2014

Caprise Groo, Secretary

13



The subdivision code states that private access streets may be

authorized where there will be no adverse effect on future traffic circulation of

neighboring parcels (SMC 10.50.041(d)(4)). This is the case based on topography

of the site, development of surrounding areas that preclude future street

extension into them and the availability of street frontage to the relatively

undeveloped area to the east that would allow further connectivity in the only

direction in which it is possible.

ii. Lot frontage on public streets / double frontage lots The requirement that all

lots have frontage on a public street (SMC10.50.041(e)(3)) is directiy reiated to

the standard that does not generaiiy aiiow private streets, if a modification

aiiowing private streets is made, it foilows that iots wili front on them.

Double frontage lots (lots having frontage on two streets) "...shouid be

avoided whenever possibie" (SMC10.50.041(e)(4)). This is aiso based on the

necessity for private streets to better utiiize the site, in order to avoid double-

frontage lots, more lots fronting on the private street would be necessary so

that the street would not front lots on both sides. This is neither possible nor

desirable on this site.

Modification of both of these standards is justified in part by the iimited

number of dweliing units proposed on the private streets and iow traffic leveis

generated by them.

iii. Minimum lot width The reduced widths of Lots 7, 9 and 10 are minimal (less

than one foot) and are likely a result of fitting the iots to the site and to

accommodate the private street system. Lot 1 does not meet the standard, but

oniy because it is measured at the rear of the front yard. Farther back, iot width

exceeds 60 feet.

iv. There is no intent given by the zoning or subdivision codes for lot width

requirements, but they are typically required to avoid irregulariy shaped lots

and ensure that setbacks can be met. Corner lots may need more width because

they have larger side setback standards, and also to provide enough area to

accommodate vehicles where there is direct access to a street. Due to the minor

amount of reduction and the other characteristics of these lots, they should be

able to accommodate homes of the type being contemplated. Minimum lot size

This standard is required by the subdivision code under SMC10.50.041(e)(6)(D)

and may be modified for good cause. Justification given by the application for

Hearing Examiner

December 4, 2014

Caprise Groo, Secretary

14



the minimum iot size is its consistency with lot size and density of surrounding

existing subdivisions. Also, to allow better utilization of the site to meet the

maximum allowable density. On this particular site, a minimum iot size of 8,000

square feet would limit density to four dwelling units per acre. The smaller lot

size allows the density established by the comprehensive plan to be met.

RECOMMENDATION: Balancing the strengths and weaknesses of the application, staff recommends

APPROVAL of the planned development rezone and preliminary plat. The strengths are overall

consistency with the comprehensive plan, especially now that the density and housing types have been

modified to be consistent with surrounding areas and as supported by the documentation provided in

the amended application. The primary weakness is that not all of the submittai requirements for

planned developments have been met, including documentation of the ownership and maintenance of

the open space. Other than that, it appears that the items that were not included in the application are

not relevant to this proposal given its characteristics. The approval recommendation is made subject to

the following conditions that include requirements concerning ownership and maintenance of

commonly owned features:

1. Ail design and/or improvement notations indicated on the preliminary plat are included herein

as conditions of preliminary plat approval, (including, but not limited to, dedicated right-of-way

width, easement widths and locations, lot size and configuration).

2. A preliminary engineering report and/or plan, prepared by a Licensed Professional Engineer,

demonstrating the feasibility of construction of ail public improvements required by Seiah

Municipal Code, Chapter 10.50 must be submitted to the Public Works Director for approval.

3. Ail final plans and specifications for improvements must be prepared by a Licensed Professional

Engineer and reviewed and approved by the Public Works Director prior to construction.

Specifications for improvements shown on the preliminary plat are minimum specifications that

may be superseded by conditions contained herein or by specific conditions as approved by the

Public Works Director. Upon completion of construction and prior to final plan approval, final

'as-builf construction plans and a written certification by a Licensed Professional Engineer that

said improvements where completed in accordance with the approved construction plans must

be submitted to the Public Works Director for approval.

4. Reports, plans and specifications previously submitted shall count toward meeting the

requirements of Conditions #2 and #3 if accepted by the Public Works Director to the extent of

the improvements for which they are determined to be sufficient.

5. Lvie Loop Road: Street improvements must be constructed to City standards as approved by the

Public Works Director including 50 foot wide right-of-way, 32 foot wide asphalt pavement,

15

Hearing Examiner
December 4, 2014

Caprise Groo, Secretary



concrete rolled (or better) curb and gutter, five (5) foot wide sidewalk on one street side and

street illumination. The sidewalk shall be installed on the same side of the street as it Is on the

existing completed portion of Lyie Loop Road. Utility Improvements shall be extended beyond

street pavement edge to facilitate future extension where appropriate. Street grade shall not

exceed 10%.

6. LyIe Loop Road shall be constructed in its entirety prior to the recording of Phase 1 or a

temporary turnaround constructed to City standards shall be provided at the point at which it

ends.

7. The private interior street shall be constructed as a hard-surfaced street to specifications

approved by the Public Works Director prior to recording a final plat for Phase 3. The street shall

have a minimum surface width of 20 feet. This improvement is not required as a condition of

final plat recording beyond (east of) the point at which it enters Lot 6.

8. Covenants or a road maintenance agreement, providing for the perpetual maintenance of the

private roadway and that establish a road maintenance fund shall be recorded with the Yakima

County Auditor and a recorded copy submitted to the Selah Community Planner prior to

recording the final plat.

9. Documentation of the proposed use and ownership of the common open space shall be

provided prior to recording a final plat for any phase. Documentation shall include covenants,

establishment of a homeowner's association or deed restrictions and they shall be recorded

prior to recording any final plat. It may be combined with the covenants or agreement required

for maintenance of the private roadway. Documentation shall also establish or demonstrate

legal access by all residents of the plat to the common open space.

10. Street illumination shall be installed by the developer at locations and to the specifications of

the Public Works Director (typically at 300 foot intervals or as otherwise determined by the

Director of Public Works in order to maximize illumination). Street lights shall be Installed on

metal poles.

11. All lots must be served with a full range of public and private services and utilities including

public water and sewer, power, natural gas and telephone. All utilities except for the standard

telephone box, transmission box and similar structures shall be underground and installed prior

to the surfacing of streets. All utilities placed beneath streets, curbs or sidewalks shall be

extended beyond these features to avoid them being disrupted by future extensions.

12. There shall be a moratorium on public street cuts for a period of five (5) years from the date of

plat recording.

16

Hearing Examiner
December 4,2014
Caprise Groo, Secretary



13. Fire hydrants shall be provided and Installed by the developer at locations approved by the City

of Selah Fire Chief and to the specifications of Selah Municipal Code, Chapter 11.30.

14. Final lot dimensions and lot area must substantially conform to the preliminary plat unless

otherwise amended during the public hearing process.

15. Storm Water drainage facilities to accommodate runoff generated in the plat must comply with

a drainage facilities plan prepared by a Licensed Professional Engineer and approved by the

Public Works Director. Plans submitted previously will count toward meeting this requirement if

approved by the Public Works Director. Additional documentation may be required for portions

of the site not covered by any such previously submitted plans.

16. Prior to final plat recording, all required plat improvements (utilities, streets, drainage facilities,

etc.) must be Installed and accepted by the City or a surety bond pledged to the City to ensure

installation of the plat Improvements within two years of final plat recording.

17. Planned Development approval shall be in substantial conformance to the project design as

described in the project narrative, application materials and on the face of the preliminary plat.

Setbacks, building height and lot coverage shall be to the standards required in the R-1 district

by the zoning ordinance. Lot size and lot width shall either conform to the approved preliminary

plat or meet minimum R-1standards. This condition is not Intended to preclude modifications

otherwise allowed under SMC 10.24.110.

18. All required street signs, posts and appurtenances must be supplied by the developer and will

be installed by the City.

19. The following note shall be placed on any final plat map:

"The owners shown hereon, their grantees and assignees In interest, hereby covenant

and agree to retain all surface water generated within the plat on-site."

20. Lots in Phase 3 shall be served by an 8 inch sewer line extended In the utility easement across

Lots 9 and 10 and then continued to all of the individual Phase 3 lots in the access and utility

easement as shown on the Preliminary Plat.

21. Prior to final plat recording, a surety bond, or such other secure financial method acceptable to

the City, In the amount of 15% of the cost of the public improvements as determined by the

Public Works Director (streets, sidewalks, street lights, drainage facilities, sewage collection and

water distribution facilities, etc.) must be remitted to the City and will be held for a period of

17

Hearing Examiner
December 4, 2014
Caprise Groo, Secretary



two years from the date of final plat recording to guarantee against defects In materials and

workmanship.

22. Improvements required for the subdivision must be completed and the final plat must be

submitted within the maximum time period required by RCW 58.17.140. If this decision Is Issued

on or before December 31,2014, that time period Is7 years. Otherwise, It Is5 years. Aone

time, one-year extension may be authorized In accordance with SMC 10.50.033(c) but the

request must be made before the 7-year time period ends.

Mr. Spurgin asked why the private street easement didn't have lighting and pedestrian access.

MR. Durant stated there were no City standards for private roads.

Mr. Spurgin stated that the Determination of Nonsignificance from the earlier proposal needed to be a

part of the current record. (Exhibit 13 attached)

Mr. Spurgin Invited the proponent to speak.

Mr. Sample spoke on the behalf of Zucker-Sample LLC. He stated that the proposed Planned

Development was to make use of and maximize the R-1 zoning. He addressed the Issues of diminished

property value and fire access for the back lots. He was concerned about the light poles having to be

metal poles.

Mr. Durant stated that the City would allow wooden poles.

Mr. David Hoffert, 606 Southern Ave, stated he was concerned with on street parking.

Mr. Davlson stated there would be on the street parking unless the council prohibits It.

Mr. Hoffert explained that there were Issues with parking on Southernand S"*. He did not want this
development to have the same Issue.

Mr. Wayne Worby, 200 Weems Way, presented and summarized exhibit 1 (purpose of the

Comprehensive Plan)( attached). Mr. Worby presented and summarized several more exhibits.

Mr. Spurgin clarified the number of exhibits with Mr. Davlson. Exhibit 1: purpose of the Comprehensive

plan. Exhibit 2: Future Land Use Map. Exhibit 3: Preliminary Planned Developmentof Somerset II map.
Exhibit 4: Chapter 10.50 Platting and Subdivision Regulations. Exhibit5: Opponent's Brief. Exhibit 6:

Chapter 10.24 Planned Development (PD) zoning Districts. (Attached)

18

Hearing Examiner

December 4, 2014

Caprlse Groo, Secretary



Mr. Worby presented and summarized Exhibit 7: copy of application for Somerset II. All concerns listed

in Exhibit 1.

Mr. Davison addressed the issue of a finished road or a temporary turn around.

Mr. Worby Presented Exhibit 8: City Of Selah Notice of Cancelled Planning Commission Hearing and

Notice of Public Hearing before the City of Selah Hearing Examiner. Exhibit 9: Proposed Plat of Somerset

Estates map. Exhibit 10: Board of Yakima County Commissioners Resolution 280-197. Exhibit 11:

Preliminary Plat of Somerset II Yakima County. Exhibit 12: City Of Selah Annexation ordinance # 1935.

Mr. Worby completed the summarization of Exhibit 1.

Mr. Brian Richards, 61 LyieAve, stated his concern about land values.

Mr. Spurgin entered his white binder into the Public Hearing records.

Mr. Richards stated that Weems way would be the main access for this development and that the low

level traffic did not apply to this development.

Mark Weller, 110 LyIe Loop, stated that R-1should stay R-1, should be 8000 sq. ft. There should be no

exceptions. If it is a continuation, it should match Somerset I. That means esthetics should match

Somerset I: roads, lighting, and lot size. If it is not allowed, it is not allowed.

Katie Fountaine, 510 Southern Ave, stated she had concerns about the Planned Development changing

the character of the neighborhood. Planned Development rezoning was occurring too often and it did

not always fit into the neighborhood where they were built. She quoted from the City of Selah Urban

Grovrth Area Comprehensive Plan, Chapter 2 Page 12. "Objective HSG 1: Maintain and upgrade the

character of the existing neighborhoods. Policy HSG 1.2: Encourage new single-family development

throughout existing single family neighborhoods." (Chapter 2 page 13) "Policy HSG 3: Minimize the

negative impacts of medium and high-density residential projects on adjacent low-density residential

areas. "She was concerned that the contours where not on the map. She stated that planned

developments were meant for larger acreage. She explained that the language was vague. She asked the

Hearing Examiner to give the neighborhood careful consideration in this issue.

Mr. Brad Worby, 441 Muilins Rd, stated that lot 1 was extremely steep.

Mr. Worby and Mr. Durant debate the lots facing Lyie loop being built facing the easement and not the

road. Mr. Worby asked if this was really low cost housing.

19

Hearing Examiner

December 4,2014

Caprise Groo, Secretary



Ken Ness, 20 Lyie loop, stated that in 2001 he had bought his home (lot 2) because of the map of the

original Somerset I. (Exhibit 9) He was lead to believe that Somerset II would have lots of 8000-8500 Sq.

ft.. He was concerned that this property could be sold to another and that it would end up with 3 story

town houses.

Mr. Spurgin closed public comment at 8:38 pm.

Mr. Sample addressed concerns of the public. He addressed the contours of the property, Preliminary

Plan Issues, and water, sewer and power. He stated that a Preliminary Plan can be changed at any time.

He Stated that he had purchased the additional property.

Mr. Durant explained the code is contradictory and that private roads were allowed. He stated that the

Comp. Plan did not specify 8000 sq. ft. lots, the Zoning Ordinance specified it. The Comprehensive Plan

specified a maximum density of 5 houses per acre.

Mr. Davison advised that the City of Selah determined the zoning lot size. The Hearing Examiners binder

showed the type of homes that would be built. If it changed it would have to go back to the Hearing

Examiner. Somerset I was built to county standards with metal poles. Private roads are not defined in

the Ordinance. The City would not be responsible for that private road and that a covenant would have

to written for the private road. The Preliminary Plan was consistent with the Comprehensive Plan

standard of 5 homes per acre.

Mr. Spurgin stated that he would make a recommendation to the City Council within 10 working days.

ADJOURMENT:

Hearing no further testimony, the Hearing Examiner declared the hearing closed at 8:52 p.m.

Dennis Davison, Department of Planning

Tom Durant, Durant Development Services-Consultant

20

Hearing Examiner
December 4, 2014
Caprise Groo, Secretary



CITY OF SELAH HEARING EXAMINER

STAFF REPORT

December 1,2014

FILE NO.; OFFICIAL ZONING MAPAMENDMENT 914.42.14-04: R-1 to PD (PLANNED DEVELOPMENT)

PRELIMINARY PLAT 912.42.14-05 "Somerset II"

ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 971.42.14-07

PROPOSAL: Amend the official zoning map of the City of Selah reclassifying the two parcels Planned

Development rather than One Family Residential (R-1).

Preliminary Plat of "Somerset 11" subdividing the 4.7 acre subject property into 24 Single family

residential lots served by a full range of public utilities and a 1,233 square foot open space tract.

Proposed density is 5 dwelling units per gross acre. All of the developable lots are proposed for

detached single family dwellings.

The original application for Somerset II dated March 4, 2014, was amended on November 10,

2014. As amended, the application no longer needs a comprehensive plan amendment because the new

proposal conforms to the density of the LowDensity Residential plan designation. Since the original

application was modified but not withdrawn, the application materials and SEPA environmental

checklist are considered to still apply to the extent that were not modified by the amendment.

PROPONENT& PROPERTY OWNER: Zuker-Sample Development, LLC

LOCATION: Site fronts on Herlou Drive to the west and Lyie Loop Road to the east. It is about 75 feet

north of the Intersection of LyIe Loop and Herlou Drive and about 100 feet south of the intersection of

Herlou Drive and Weems Way (Tax Parcel Numbers; 181426-44005 and 44021).

The site is bordered on the south by Somerset I, a 24 lot subdivision recorded in 2002 and built

out with detached single family homes on lots that are mostly 8,000 to 10,000 square feet in size but

also includes a few somewhat larger lots up to 28,624 square feet (0.66 acre).

PUBLIC FACILITIES AND UTILITY SERVICES: A full range of public facilities and utility services including

water, sewage, storm drainage and fire protection serves the property.

ACCESS: Herlou Drive, Yakima County local access street borders the site on the west; LyIe Loop Road, a

local access street borders the site on the east and would be extended across the property to Herlou

Drive on the west providing internal access to the proposed subdivision.

ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW: A Determination of Nonsignificance (DNS) (971.42.14-07) was issued on

September 14,2014. There was no comment period for the DNS, however it could be appealed through

October 3,2014. The Environmental Checklist dated February 20 was re-reviewed with respect to the

November 10 amended application, no significant adverse environmental impacts were determined to

result from changes in the proposal.

Page 1 of 17



APPUCATION AUTHORITY AND JURISDiaiON: Selah Municipal Code, Chapter 10.24 (Pianned

Development Zoning District), Chapter 10.40 (amendments) and Chapter 10.50 (subdivision); also Selah

Urban Growth Area Comprehensive Plan.

LAND USE AND ZONING;

Table 1: Existing Land Use, Plan Designation and Zoning

Area Land Use Plan Designation Zoning
Site Vacant; part is subject

to County approved
preliminary plat with
utilities in place

Low Density Residential One Family Residential
(R-1)

North Detached single-family
homes on 0.4 acre lots

Low Density Residential One Family Residential
(Yakima County - R-1)

South Detached single-family
homes on 8,375 to

10,176 square foot (0.2
to 0.25 acre) lots

Low Density Residential One Family Residential
(R-1)

East Detached single-family
homes on 15,795 to
28,624 square foot
(0.36 to 0.66 acre) lots.
One large lot (2.81 acre)
with a single-family
home and raising
horses

Low Density Residential One-Family Residential
(R-1)

West Detached single-family
homes on 1/3 to Vi acre
lots

Low Density Residential One-Family Residential
(Yakima County - R-1)

The modified application calls attention to the Crest subdivision located 500 feet west of the site

and not among the areas described in Table 1. It consists of detached single-family homes on 53 lots

averaging 7,457 square feet (0.17 acre) in size and generally in the 7,000 to 8,000 square foot range. The

Crest is in the City limits, zoned R-1with a Low Density Residential plan designation.

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN:

Citv of Selah Urban Growth Area Comprehensive Plan Designated Low Density Residential by

the Future Land Use Map, adopted 2006. This designation provides for a maximum density of five (5)

dwelling units per acre.

Applicable Goals and Policies:

Objective LUGM 3: Encourage economic growth while maintaining quality development and

controlling the cost of public improvements in Selah's UGA.

Page 2 of 17



Policy LUGM 3.2; Direct development to areas where infrastructure (water, sewer and streets)

is either present, can be easily extended, or is planned to be extended.

Policy LUGM 3.3: Conserve land, energy and financial resources by minimizing urban sprawl.

Objective HSG1: Maintain and upgrade the character of existing residential neighborhoods.

Policy HSG 1.2: Encourage new single-family development throughout existing single-family

neighborhoods as redevelopment and infill construction at appropriate densities.

Objective HSG 2: Encourage new residential development to approximate existing residential

densities and housing mix levels.

Policy HSG 2.1: Encourage the combined net density of all residential development to remain at

present levels. Exceptions to this policy should be permitted where the developer can demonstrate that

the quality of the project design, construction and amenities warrants a different housing density.

Policy HSG 2.2: Ensure codes and ordinances promote and allow for a compatible mix of

housing types in residential areas.

Objective HSG 4: Encourage new residential construction to be compatible with existing

residential development.

Policy HSG 4.1: Encourage developers to use private covenants and deed restrictions which

specify architectural, maintenance and landscaping standards within their development.

MINOR REZONE APPLICATION: A rezone that is not dependent on a comprehensive plan amendment is

considered to be a "minor rezone." Since a planned development zone may be permitted in any location

provided that it remains consistent with the comprehensive plan (SMC10.24.010) this application as

amended, does not require a plan amendment. The review criteria for a minor rezone are as follows:

1. The extent to which the proposed amendment/major rezone Isconsistent with and/or deviates

from the goals, objectives, mapping criteria and policies adopted In the comprehensive plan and

the intent of Title 10;

2. The adequacy of public facilities, such as roads, sewer, water and other public services required

to meet urban or rural needs;

3. The public need for the proposed change. Public need shall mean that a valid public purpose, for

which the comprehensive plan and this title have been adopted, is served by the proposed

application. Findings that address public need shall, at a minimum document:

a. Whether additional land for a particular purpose is required in consideration of the

amount already provided by the plan map designation or current zoning district within

the area as appropriate;

Page 3 of 17



b. Whether the timing is appropriate to provide additional iand for a particuiar use.

4. Whether substantial changes in circumstances exist to warrant an amendment to the current

designation or zone;

5. The testimony at the public hearing;

6. The compatibility of the proposed zone change and associated uses with neighboring land uses;

7. The suitability of the property in question for uses permitted under the proposed zoning;

8. The recommendation from interested agencies and departments.

PLANNED DEVELOPMENT APPLICATION; An approved planned development modifies and supersedes

all regulations of the "underlying" zoning district but is considered to be a separate zoning district (SMC

10.24.010). Its purpose is to allow new development that is consistent with the comprehensive plan but

that would not be readily permitted in other zoning districts. A change of zoning to Planned

Development is based on the following criteria:

1. Substantial conformance to the Comprehensive Plan;

2. The proposal's harmony with the surrounding area, or its potential future use;

3. The system of ownership and means of development, preserving and maintaining open space;

4. The adequacy of the size of the proposed district to accommodate the contemplated

development;

5. Compliance with the subdivision code.

Development as proposed would not be readily permitted in other zoning districts due to the

7,000 square foot lot size. Private streets are generally not permitted per SMC 10.50.041(d)(4) of the

subdivision code. However, a private access street may be authorized for a subdivision where there are

no adverse effect on future traffic circulation of neighboring parcels.

Modification of the following normally required subdivision standards as proposed by this

application is allowed for good cause shown when a subdivision is combined with a planned

development and where appropriate to provide for the type of development and land use contemplated

as a planned development:

a. Each lot must front upon a public street with a width not less than [that] set forth in the

street standards.

Page 4 of 17



b. Lots having frontage on two streets should be avoided whenever possible.

c. Minimum lot width of 60 feet at the rear line of the required front yard. Minimum lot

width of 70 feet for corner lots.

d. Minimum lot size as required by the zoning district.

The lots that are served by the proposed private street system also have frontage on it and not

on a public street. Several of the lots on Lyie Loop Road also border (on their rear lot lines) on the

private street system and may be considered double-frontage lots for that reason.

As shown on the preliminary plat, Lots 1 and 7 have less than the minimum required 60 foot lot

width and assuming the lots that front on both the private access easement and LyIe Loop Road are

considered to be corner lots, the 70 foot minimum width is not met on them either. Lot 13 meets

the 70 foot standard because it is measured at the rear line of the required front yard (i.e., the front

setback).

A development plan and program containing specific elements listed at SMC 10.24.030 and .050

is required for planned developments. The amended application describes its conformance with the

requirements of SMC10.24.030. Photographs of proposed (in this case typical) buildings were

provided. Submittals generally conform to these requirements, although not all of the specific Items

were submitted. The application addresses the items that are most relevant to this proposal and

some of the required submittal items are not applicable to this project.

Requirements for common open space are given by SMC 10.24.080, .090 and .100. Where it is

provided it must be suitable for the planned development, the authorized open space uses must be

appropriate to the scale and character of the planned development considering its size, density

number and type of dwelling units, etc. and must be used for amenity or recreational purposes. It

must be suitably improved for its Intended use, but common open space containing natural features

may be left unimproved. Its development must be coordinated with the dwellings of the planned

development. Its permanent retention and maintenance must be assured by restrictive covenants,

dedication to the public, by an owner's association or by another method approved by the hearing

examiner and city attorney. The City is to be vested with the right to enforce permanent retention

and maintenance and may perform necessary maintenance and assess the costs to the property

owners.

The open space proposed by this application is a 1,233 square foot tract fronting on the east

side of Herlou Drive in an area that based on the contours shown on the preliminary plat appears to

be on a bench providing a relatively flat area on which some limited recreational improvements may

be possible. It would likelybe accessed from the proposed interior private street. The application

does not specify how it is to be developed or if it is to remain unimproved.

Page 5 of 17



PRELIMINARY PLAT APPLICATION;

Acreage: 4.7 acres

Number of lots: 24 lots receiving full urban services, six of the lots to be served by a private

street.

Average lot size: 7,041 square feet (0.16 acre).

Gross density: 5.1 units per acre (Conformance to required density is based on multiplying 4.7

acres x 5 du/acre = 23.5 dwelling units, rounded up to 24).

Phasing: Three proposed phases. The dwelling units in Phases 1 and 2 are proposed to be

served by City maintained Lyie Loop Road while Phase 3 will be served by a

private interior street in 20 to 26 foot wide access easements.

Phase 1 consists of 8 lots; Phase 2 has 10 lots and Phase 3 has 6 lots.

The subject property was approved for a 17 lot preliminary plat by Yakima County, but not

recorded. According to the application narrative, it was rendered "null and void" by the applicant.

Previous to the plat approval, it was a tract in Somerset I (described above) a subdivision that has

otherwise been built out. Part of the property was acquired through a street vacation for Herlou Drive.

UTILITIES; Public sewer lines, water lines and drainage improvements have been installed in Phase 1 in

accordance with the County decision approving the previous preliminary plat; engineering plans for

these improvements have been approved by the Selah Public Works Department. These utilities will

need to be extended into Phases 2 and 3.

WATER: An 8 inch domestic water line will extend through Phases 1 and 2 in the proposed

alignment of LyIe Loop Road from where it currently ends on the east side of the site to Herlou Drive on

the west. Awater line will need to be extended into Phase 3, using the access/utility easement that is to

provide access to the lots in that phase.

SEWER : An 8 inch sanitary sewer line will extend west through Phases 1 and 2 in the proposed

alignment of LyIe Loop Road beginning where the street ends currently, terminating just before reaching

Herlou Drive on the west. The preliminary plat shows a 16 foot wide sewer easement through Lots 8

and 9 that would connect Phase 3 with the line on LyIe Loop Road. The combined access/utility

easement through Phase 3 would allow sewer extension to all of the lots in the phase.

FIRE HYDRANTS: Existing hydrants are located at the intersection of LyIe Loop Road and Herlou

Drive in the existing Somerset I subdivision and about 520 feet to the east on the north side of LyIe Loop

Road. Although hydrant locations for the proposal are not indicated on the preliminary plat, a hydrant

has been installed on the site in the alignment of LyIe Loop Road where it would front on proposed Lots

7 and 22 about 450 feet (travel distance on the street) from the interior hydrant in Somerset I and about

Page 6 of 17



460 feet from Herlou Drive. An additional hydrant will be required on the proposed private access

easement at the north end of Lot 9.

TRANSPORTATION: (Existing conditions)

Herlou Drive - (Yakima County, designated Local Access) - Asphalt pavement with concrete

barrier curb and gutter, 5 foot wide sidewalk on the east side and Illumination in a 60 foot wide right-of-

way.

Lvie Loop Road (Local Access) - 32 foot wide asphalt pavement with concrete rolled curb and

gutter, 5 foot wide sidewalk on the north and west sides of the street and illumination in 50-foot wide

right-of-way.

TRANSPORTATION; (Planned improvements):

LyIe Loop Road will be extended through Phases 1 and 2 to the same development standards as

the existing road (described above).

A private access street will be extended into Phase 3 from LyIe Loop Road in a 20 foot wide

access and utility easement from LyIe Loop Road north to Lots 3 and 4, and then east and west for a

total length of 90 feet and a width of 26 feet forming a hammerhead type turnaround to accommodate

emergency vehicles. The easement then continues with a 20 foot width for 158 feet to the west to

serve Lots 1 through 3 and for 150 feet to the east serving Lots 4 through 6. The easement encumbers

10 feet of 12 lots and 16 feet of portions of Lots 3 and 4. The original application states that It will be

paved.

OTHER FINDINGS:

1. The zoning ordinance generally does not specify bulk and setback requirements for a Planned

Development, leaving it up to the required development plan (SMC10.24.030). None are given

in the amended application and preliminary plat,

2. The original application states that smaller dwelling units meet an identified need in that they

are less expensive and in demand by both first time homebuyers and older buyers. While the

detached single-family lots may not have the appeal to the older buyers as the originally

proposed units, the applicant has confirmed that they would be more affordable increasing their

appeal to first-time buyers. The applicant also argues that 7,000 square foot lots allow better

utilization of this site because requiring a larger lot size would reduce the density to below five

dwelling units per acre as allowed by the comprehensive plan.

3. The title report discloses several easements for utilities and access as shown on Schedule 'A' of

the Chicago Title Insurance Company report dated February 10, 2014. Any easements and

reservations not disclosed on the preliminary plat map must be disclosed on any final plat map.

Page 7 of 17



4. SMC 10.S0.033(c) provides the developer five (5) years from the date of preliminary plat

approval to complete all required Improvements and record the final plat. However, following

the economic downturn of 2007-2009, the State Legislature amended RCW 58.17 (Subdivision

Act) to allow seven (7) years from preliminary plat approval if the approval is made prior to

December 31,2014, after which the time period reverts back to five years (RCW 58.17.140(3)).

SMC 10.50.033(c) allows the developer to, prior to this completion date, request a one-time,

one-year extension to complete the Improvements and record the plat.

STAFF ANALYSIS:

1. Minor Rezone:

a. The proposal Is generally consistent with the goals, objectives, mapping criteria and

policies of the comprehensive plan and the Intent of the zoning ordinance. This is

summarized as follows:

i. The proposal allows for a compatible mix of housing types In a residential area

(Objective MSG 2; Policy MSG 2.2). As demonstrated by submlttals In the

amended application. It Is consistent with existing residential densities and

housing mix levels (Objective HSG 2), It is compatible with existing residential

development and maintains and/or upgrades the character of existing

residential neighborhoods (Objective HSG 1). It directs development to areas

where Infrastructure Is present (Objective LUGM 3; Policy LUGM 3.2) and

conserves land, energy and financial resources by minimizing urban sprawl

(Objective LUGM 3; Policy LUGM 3.3).

11. The proposal Is consistent with the Selah Urban Area Comprehensive Plan

description of the Low Density Residential plan designation category, which

states in part: "The predominate use will be low density residential; however it

Is the intent and desire of Selah that Its low density neighborhoods develop with

a mix of housing types including single-family, duplexes, townhouses and multi-

family dwellings. The mix of housing types will be limited by the maximum

permissible density and zoning standards will regulate development to assure

compatibility."

lii. The applicant did not provide or identify private covenants or deed restrictions

for architectural, maintenance and landscaping standards (Objective HSG4;

Policy 4.1) although as written, this policy Is not mandatory (I.e.; "...Encourage

developers...").

Iv. The proposal Is consistent with the intent of Title 10, Selah Municipal Code as

described at SMC 10.02.030. It is consistent with all of the Intent requirements

Page 8 of 17



of the existing R-1 zone (SMC 10.12.010) except that certain minimum

development standards are not being met (SMC 10.12.010(4)). The Planned

Development zone allows these regulations to be superseded provided that

proposed uses and developments conform to comprehensive plan policies (SMC

10.24.010). The purpose of the Planned Development zone Is to allow

development that is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan but that would not

be readily permitted in other zoning districts due to limitations in dimensional

standards, permitted uses or accessory uses (Ibid.).

V. Private streets may be authorized where there are no adverse effect on future

traffic circulation of neighboring parcels (SMC10.S0.041(c)(4)). Smaller lots are

allowed In Planned Developments (SMC10.24.010). Therefore, the proposal Is

not Inherently inconsistent with City Code in these respects and there are no

comprehensive plan policies that expressly prohibit them.

vl. In addition, planned developments may encourage flexibility In design and

development that are architecturally and environmentally Innovative, that will

encourage a more creative approach in the development of the land and which

will result in a more efficient, aesthetic and desirable utilization of the land than

is possible through strict application of standard zoning and subdivision controls

(SMC10.24.010(1)). The use of private streets and smaller lot size as proposed

results in a more efficient and arguably desirable utilization of the land.

vii. The preliminary plat of Somerset II that was approved on this site by Yakima

County in 2008 does not conform to current development standards of SMC

10.50, in that the area of the site proposed by the current proposal to be served

by private streets on the north side of LyieLoop Road exceeded the maximum

2.5 to 1 depth to width ratio standard of SMC 10.50.041(e)(6)(A).

b. Public facilities, including roads, sewer, and water are adequate to meet the urban

needs of the development. This is because they are being installed to City standards,

and have mostly been approved. Installation of sewer and water lines In the private

road system comply with adopted subdivision standards or conform to the Fire Code.

c. The public purposes indicated by the application include providing an alternative type of

single-family lots not otherwise allowed by the zoning ordinance but consistent with the

allowed density and that is in demand because of affordability. It also allows more

efficient utilization of the site through the limited use of private streets and a lot size

that allows the development of the property to the maximum density provided for by

the comprehensive plan. These purposes are consistent with the low density residential

comprehensive plan designation where It encourages a mix of housing types limited by

the maximum permissible density and zoning standards. They allow a compatible mix of

Page 9 of 17



housing types in residentiai areas (Objective HSG 2; Poiicy HSG 2.2). They better utiiize

the site, direct deveiopment to areas where water, sewer and streets are present

(Objective LUGM 3; PolicyLUGM 3.2) and facilitate the conservation of land, energy and

financial resources (Objective LUGM 3; Poiicy LUGM 3.3).

d. Since the type of housing and density now being proposed is otherwise consistent with

that permitted in the R-1 zone, the questions of whether additional land is required and

whether timing is appropriate is limited to the reduced lot size and use of private streets

for access. The following findings address this issue:

i. Seven-thousand square foot lots are not permitted in any zoning district. To the

extent that a need has been established for them, there is no land already

zoned or plan-designated for them.

ii. As a floating zone. Planned Developments are not plan designated, so there is

no land available for them.

ill. The need for a private street to accommodate additional lots is based on the

topography, surrounding existing deveiopment and resulting difficulty in

developing part of the site. Using a smaller lot size to allow for the allowed

density is based on the size and shape of the site and its orientation to the

street network. Only allowing public streets and requiring conformance to a

larger minimum lot size would reduce the number of dwelling units that could

be developed and the density. These are site-specific characteristics that cannot

be addressed in another location or by timing the project differently.

e. Since a Planned Deveiopment is a floating zone and no locations are specified for it in

advance by the comprehensive plan, the change of circumstances that warrant the

rezone would be the determination that there is a public need and conformance with

the other criteria for its approval.

f. While testimony at upcoming public hearings cannot be determined in advance,

previous testimony included opposition to development at a density that is higher than

that allowed by the Low Density Residentiai plan designation and to housing types other

than detached single-family residentiai. Testimony was also given to the need for single-

family housing that is more affordable and convenient, particularly to seniors and single

owners. Relying on the testimony given before the application was amended, higher-

density development may not be appropriate in this location even though evidence was

provided that supported the need and demand for more affordable and convenient

housing units. As amended, the current proposal may stiii accommodate that need,

although not as well as previously proposed.

Page 10 of 17



g. Compatibility of the planned development and proposed uses with neighboring land

uses is demonstrated in part by documentation provided by the applicant that the

proposed lot size is the same as in some of the surrounding area with no indication that

it has resulted in the devaluation of property values. Limiting the density of the proposal

to that permitted by the comprehensive plan designation, and housing types to that of

surrounding areas as is now proposed contributes to neighborhood compatibility.

h. The property is suitable for the proposed land use and it provides infill of an existing

residential area. Public faciiities: roads, sewer, water, etc. are adequate to meet project

needs.

i. There were no recommendations or comments from other agencies.

2. Planned Development: As proposed, the application conforms to the comprehensive pian and

is compatibie with the surrounding area as a resuit of project design and adequacy of the size of

the proposed district to accommodate the deveiopment. it complies with the subdivision code

with considerations for the modifications of certain subdivision code standards.

a. The proposed planned development substantially conforms to the Comprehensive Plan.

Density and housing type are consistent with the Low Density Residential land use

designation, the project reduces sprawl and provides for infill development and efficient

use of the land. There are no comprehensive plan policies that specificaiiy prohibit the

proposed modification of subdivision standards that are allowed in Pianned

Deveiopments by the zoning and subdivision codes. An inconsistency with the

comprehensive plan is that there are no identified covenants or deed restrictions which

specify architectural, maintenance and landscaping standards. This policy (HSG 4.1) is

not mandatory as written and these documents could be required if they are deemed to

be necessary.

b. Based on the following findings, the proposai is in harmony with the surrounding area

and potentiai future land uses:

i. Proposed private access streets do not adverseiy affect future traffic circuiation.

Further connectivity to the north is infeasibie due to topography, to the east is

avaiiabie from proposed and existing streets inciuding part of Lyie Loop Road

within the development, and to the west, connectivity has either been provided

aiready or is preciuded by existing deveiopment.

ii. The application documents that the reduced lot size is consistent with

neighboring development and that it wouid not adverseiy affect land values of

surrounding residential properties. Specifically, conclusions drawn from the

Page 11 of 17



applicant's analysis in the amended application are that assessed values and

actual sales are generally consistent regardless of lot size. Aiso, property values

on a square foot basis are higher for smalier (7,000 square foot range) rather

than iarger iots. The conciusion made by the appiicant is that the determinants

of property value are providing utilities inciuding municipal water and sewer,

features added to the land, architectural design and quaiity of construction as

opposed to lot size.

c. The system of ownership in the planned development is that each lot will be separately

owned; it is not being proposed as a condominium deveiopment and there are virtuaily

no common areas. The application indicates the intent that residential units will be sold

rather than rented.

The common open space shown on the amended application appears to be

suitabie for the planned development given its size, density, number of dwelling units

and topography. Since the proposed iots are large enough single-family lots to have

their own yards, there does not appear to be a substantial need for separate open

space. The proposed open space, while small, is in a iocation that can be improved for
recreationai use, although leaving common open space unimproved is allowed when it

contains naturai features (in this case, steep siopes). The appiication does not indicate

how its retention and maintenance is to be assured, how it wili be owned or the timing

reiative to development of the project, although it is shown to be located within the

boundary of Phase 3.

d. The 4.7 acre subject property is iarge enough to accommodate the residential iots at the
proposed size and density along with public and private streets, utilities and the

proposed common open space. Characteristicsof the site that provide some physicai
separation from neighboringproperties are differences in eievation as described in the
original application.

e. The proposal generally complies with the subdivision code, except with respect to the

variation already described for which the planned development application is being

made: Minimum lot size and using private streets for access. Alsocertain subdivision

standards that may be modified by a pianned development under SMC 10.50.041(e) for
good cause and where appropriate to provide for the contemplated type of

development and land use. They are: All lot frontage on public streets; Avoiding double-
frontage lots; Minimum lot width of 60 feet and 70 feet for corner iots; Minimum iot

size. Each of these modifications are addressed as foiiows:

i. Use of private streets for access The need for private streets is primarily the

topography and limited size of the area north of Lyie Loop Road. The County

approved preliminary plat of Somerset II simplyextended lots into this area in a

Page 12 of 17



manner that as already stated, does not conform to current City standards. The

application describes the private road system as providing sufficient turn

around for fire apparatus with the farthest home no farther than 150 feet from

a fire hydrant as required by the Fire Code.

The subdivision code states that private access streets may be

authorized where there will be no adverse effect on future traffic circulation of

neighboring parcels (SMC 10.50.G41(d)(4)). This is the case based on topography

of the site, development of surrounding areas that preclude future street

extension into them and the availability of street frontage to the relatively

undeveloped area to the east that would allow further connectivity in the only

direction In which it is possible.

ii. Lot frontage on public streets / double frontage lots The requirement that all

lots have frontage on a public street (SMC10.50.041(e)(3)) is directly related to

the standard that does not generally allow private streets. If a modification

allowing private streets is made, it follows that lots will front on them.

Double frontage lots (lots having frontage on two streets) "...should be

avoided whenever possible" (SMC 10.50.041(e)(4)). This is also based on the

necessity for private streets to better utilize the site, in order to avoid double-

frontage lots, more lots fronting on the private street would be necessary so

that the street would not front lots on both sides. This Is neither possible nor

desirable on this site.

Modification of both of these standards is justified in part by the limited

number of dwelling units proposed on the private streets and low traffic levels

generated by them.

iii. Minimum lot width The reduced widths of Lots 7,9 and 10 are minimal (less

than one foot) and are likely a result of fitting the lots to the site and to

accommodate the private street system. Lot 1 does not meet the standard, but

only because It Is measured at the rear of the front yard. Farther back, lot width

exceeds 60 feet.

There is no intent given by the zoning or subdivision codes for lot width

requirements, but they are typically required to avoid irregularly shaped lots

and ensure that setbacks can be met. Corner lots may need more width because

they have larger side setback standards, and also to provide enough area to

accommodate vehicles where there Is direct access to a street. Due to the minor

amount of reduction and the other characteristics of these lots, they should be

able to accommodate homes of the type being contemplated.

Page 13 of 17



iv. Minimum lot size This standard is required by the subdivision code under SMC

10.S0.041(e)(6)(D) and may be modified for good cause. Justification given by

the application for the minimum lot size is its consistency with lot size and

density of surrounding existing subdivisions. Also, to allow better utilization of

the site to meet the maximum allowable density. On this particular site, a

minimum lot size of 8,000 square feet would limit density to four dwelling units

per acre. The smaller lot size allows the density established by the

comprehensive plan to be met.

RECOMMENDATION: Balancing the strengths and weaknesses of the application, staff recommends

APPROVAL of the planned development rezone and preliminary plat. The strengths are overall

consistency with the comprehensive plan, especially now that the density and housing types have been

modified to be consistent with surrounding areas and as supported by the documentation provided in

the amended application. The primary weakness is that not all of the submittai requirements for

planned developments have been met, including documentation of the ownership and maintenance of

the open space. Other than that, it appears that the items that were not included in the application are

not relevant to this proposal given its characteristics. The approval recommendation is made subject to

the following conditions that include requirements concerning ownership and maintenance of

commonly owned features:

1. All design and/or improvement notations indicated on the preliminary plat are included herein

as conditions of preliminary plat approval. (Including, but not limited to, dedicated right-of-way

width, easement widths and locations, lot size and configuration).

2. A preliminary engineering report and/or plan, prepared by a Licensed Professional Engineer,

demonstrating the feasibility of construction of ail public improvements required by Selah

Municipal Code, Chapter 10.50 must be submitted to the Public Works Director for approval.

3. All final plans and specifications for improvements must be prepared by a Licensed Professional

Engineer and reviewed and approved by the Public Works Director prior to construction.

Specifications for improvements shown on the preliminary plat are minimum specifications that

may be superseded by conditions contained herein or by specific conditions as approved by the

Public Works Director. Upon completion of construction and prior to final plan approval, final

'as-built' construction plans and a written certification by a Licensed Professional Engineer that

said improvements where completed in accordance with the approved construction plans must

be submitted to the Public Works Director for approval.

4. Reports, plans and specifications previously submitted shall count toward meeting the

requirements of Conditions #2 and #3 if accepted by the Public Works Director to the extent of

the improvements for which they are determined to be sufficient.

Page 14 of 17



5. Lvie Loop Road: Street improvements must be constructed to City standards as approved by the
PublicWorks Director Including50 foot wide right-of-way, 32 foot wide asphalt pavement,

concrete rolled (or better) curb and gutter, five (5) foot wide sidewalk on one street side and

street illumination. The sidewalk shall be installed on the same side of the street as It is on the

existing completed portion of Lyie Loop Road. Utility Improvements shall be extended beyond

street pavement edge to facilitate future extension where appropriate. Street grade shall not

exceed 10%.

6. LyIe Loop Road shall be constructed In Its entirety prior to the recording of Phase 1 or a

temporary turnaround constructed to Citystandards shall be provided at the point at which It

ends.

7. The private Interior street shall be constructed as a hard-surfaced street to specifications

approved by the PublicWorks Director prior to recording a final plat for Phase 3. The street shall

have a minimum surface width of 20 feet. This Improvement Is not required as a condition of

final plat recording beyond (east of) the point at which It enters Lot6.

8. Covenants or a road maintenance agreement, providing for the perpetual maintenance of the

private roadway and that establish a road maintenance fund shall be recorded with the Yaklma

County Auditor and a recorded copy submitted to the Selah Community Planner prior to

recording the final plat.

9. Documentation of the proposed use and ownership of the common open space shall be

provided prior to recording a final plat for any phase. Documentation shall Include covenants,
establishment of a homeowner's association or deed restrictions and they shall be recorded

prior to recording any final plat. It may be combined with the covenants or agreement required

for maintenance of the private roadway. Documentation shall also establish or demonstrate

legal access by all residents of the plat to the common open space.

10. Street Illumination shall be Installed by the developer at locations and to the specifications of

the Public Works Director (typicallyat 300 foot Intervals or as otherwise determined by the

Director of Public Works In order to maximize Illumination). Street lights shall be Installed on

metal poles.

11. All lots must be served with a full range of public and private services and utilities Including

public water and sewer, power, natural gas and telephone. All utilities except for the standard

telephone box, transmission box and similar structures shall be underground and Installed prior

to the surfacing of streets. All utilities placed beneath streets, curbs or sidewalks shall be

extended beyond these features to avoid them being disrupted by future extensions.

Page 15 of 17



12. There shall be a moratorium on public street cuts for a period of five (5) years from the date of

plat recording.

13. Fire hydrants shall be provided and Installed by the developer at locations approved by the City

of Selah Fire Chief and to the specifications of Selah Municipal Code, Chapter 11.30.

14. Final lot dimensions and lot area must substantially conform to the preliminary plat unless

otherwise amended during the public hearing process.

15. Storm Water drainage facilities to accommodate runoff generated In the plat must comply with

a drainage facilities plan prepared by a Licensed Professional Engineer and approved by the

Public Works Director. Plans submitted previously will count toward meeting this requirement If

approved by the Public Works Director. Additional documentation may be required for portions

of the site not covered by any such previously submitted plans.

16. Prior to final plat recording, all required plat Improvements (utilities, streets, drainage facilities,

etc.) must be Installed and accepted by the City or a surety bond pledged to the City to ensure

Installation of the plat Improvements within two years of final plat recording.

17. Planned Development approval shall be in substantial conformance to the project design as

described In the project narrative, application materials and on the face of the preliminary plat.

Setbacks, building height and lot coverage shall be to the standards required In the R-1 district

by the zoning ordinance. Lot size and lot width shall either conform to the approved preliminary

plat or meet minimum R-1 standards. This condition Is not intended to preclude modifications

otherwise allowed under SMC 10.24.110.

18. All required street signs, posts and appurtenances must be supplied by the developer and will

be Installed by the City.

19. The following note shall be placed on any final plat map:

"The owners shown hereon, their grantees and assignees in interest, hereby covenant

and agree to retain all surface water generated within the piat on-site."

20. Lots In Phase 3 shall be served by an 8 Inch sewer line extended In the utility easement across

Lots 9 and 10 and then continued to all of the Individual Phase 3 lots in the access and utility

easement as shown on the Preliminary Plat.

21. Prior to final plat recording, a surety bond, or such other secure financial method acceptable to

the City, In the amount of 15% of the cost of the public improvements as determined by the

Public Works Director (streets, sidewalks, street lights, drainage facilities, sewage collection and

water distribution facilities, etc.) must be remitted to the City and will be held for a period of

Page 16 of 17



two years from the date of final plat recording to guarantee against defects In materials and

workmanship.

22. improvements required for the subdivision must be completed and the final plat must be

submitted within the maximum time period required by RCW 58.17.140. Ifthis decision is Issued

on or before December 31,2014, that time period Is7 years. Otherwise, It Is5 years. Aone

time, one-year extension may be authorized in accordance with SMC 10.50.033(c) but the

request must be made before the 7-year time period ends.

Page 17 of 17



Decemb^ 19,2014

Law Office of Patrick D. Spurgin
411 North 2*® Street

Yakima, Washington 98901
Telephone: 509.248.4282

fax: 509.575.5661

Mr. Joe Heime, City Administrator(Interim)
CityofSelah
115 West Naches Avenue
Selah,WA 98942

RE: Hearing Examiner Recommendation on Somerset n PD Rezone andPreliminaiy
Subdivision (FileNo. 912.42.14-05; 914.42.14-04)

Dear Mr. Henne:

Enclosed is the referenced recommendation to the CityCouncil. Donot hesitate to callme in
regard to this recommendation.

PatMckD.®ptlfgm, Hewing iKxammer

cc. Dennis Davison



City ofSelah, Washington
Office of the Hearing Examiner

Application for a Rezone and
Preliminary Plat

By Zuker-Sample Development, LLC.

To Rezone Property near the intersection
of Herlou Drive and Lyle Loop from
One-Family Residenti^ toPlanned
Development and Approve the 24-Lot
Preliminary Plat of Somerset H.

Selah File Nos. 912.42.14-05;
914.42.14-04

HEARING EXAMINER

RECOMMENDATION

I. INTRODUCTION.

Zuker-Sample Development, LLC (hereafter "Applicant) has q)plied to rezoneand subdivide2
parcels of property in accordance with Planned Development provisions of the Selah zoning
ordinance. The name of the project proposal and subdivision is "Somerset II." The proposal
would result in the subdivision of each the existing 2 lots into 24 new single family lots and a
common open space parcel. The Applicant initially sought a Comprehensive Plan amendment in
order to allow moderate density residential development of the property. Associated with the
plan amendment, the Applicant applied for a 33-lot residential subdivision and a Planned
Development to allow smaller lot sizes and different infrastructure development than would
otherwise be allowed under the zoning ordinance. Following Selah Planning Commission
review of the proposal, including environmental review under the State Environmental Policy
Act, the Applicant modified the proposal so as to allow consideration under the Planned
Development ordinancewithouta comprehensive plan amendmoit No additional SEPA review
has been conducted on the amended application. The application process was somewhat
complicated by the fact that the application was submitted afier the effective date of the
annexation of &e property into city but prior to the recording of the annexation ordinance. The
ordinance annexing the property was recced on December 1,2014. An op^ record hearing on
the planned development and subdivision proposal was conducted December 4, 2014. The
Hearing Examinerviewed the site on the same date. Community Planner Dennis Davison and
city consultantTom Durant provided a staff report prior to the hearing, which is includedin the
hearing record. Roy Sample appeared on beMf of the Applicant and presented information
concerning the Applicant's objectives for the developmrat proposal and the general correlation
of subdivision improvements and lot size to property values in the general vicinity. Several
members of the public commented on the ^plication at the hearing. The comments concemed

• whether any effective application for the subject project has been made, based on the
status ofannexation prior to recording the annexation ordinance applicable to the project;

• whether the modification of lot size through the Planned Development process based on
the property attributes, including interpretation of ordinance provisions regarding



efficiency ofland use;
• the role of die economic advantage of the developer in Planned Development rezone

approval,
comprehensive plan requirements pertaining tolotsize in low density residential areas,
potential revision of theproposed detached single &mily residential use to other uses,
use of a private road rather than a conforming public street to serve thenorthern-most tier
ofproposed lots,
compliance ofpublic streetdesignwith subdivision designstandards (reversecurves),
community impacts from on-street parking,
impacts to nei^borhood character from the subdivision design,
the role of"changes ofcircumstances" in rezoning property,
the adequacy of the {^plication matoials under the Planned Development ordinance,
including topographical mapping,
the effects of dualor multiplefrontage lots as proposed in the plication,
feasibility access to Lot1offof Herlou Drive, based on ste^ slope considerations,
adequacy ofopen ^ace,
procedural limitations on cityactions pending completion of aimexation under state law,
and

• procedural limitations onsubdivision implications where a priorpreliminary plat approval
was in place.

Because the application was cast as an amended application, the Hearing Examiner requested
that records developed during review of the original application be made partof the record The
Examiner received such materials on December 17,2014.

n. SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION.

Based on tmP^cafton materials, substantial public comment andinformation contained in public
recordsand documents, the HearingExaminer's findings indicatethat insufficient demonstration
hasbeenmade that the proposed Planned Development rezone application by Zuker-Sample
DevelopmentLLC to rezone propertydescribed in the PreliminaryPlanned Development of
Somerset11 complies with the 2(105 Selah Conmreh^ive Plan and CTi^ter 10.24 ofthe Selah
Municipal Code. Inparticular, the findings indicatethat compliance has not beenshownwith
respectto Objectives HSG1, HSG 2 and HSG4, and relatedprovisionsSMC 10.24.060.
Therefore, the recommendation is that the rezone should be denied, but without prejudice and
with allowance for reopening the open record proceeding commenced in accordance SMC
10.24.060to allow consideration ofand public comment on additional information and amended
development plan or programmaterial submittedby the Applicantin its discretion.

Based on the staffreport and exhibits,the viewingofthe site, statements and comments received
at the open record hearing and in writing, public records of City Council and Planning
Commission actions related to the subject property, and a review of pertinent development
regulations and 2005 Selah Urban GrowthArea Comprehensive Plan (hereafter referred to as the
"Conqjrehensive Plan"), the Hearing Examiner makes die following

Page 2
Somerset II

912.42.14-05; 914.42.14-04



in. FINDINGS.

1. APPUCANT AND PROPERTY OWNER.

The q)plicatioDS for rezone and subdivision were fil«i by Zuker-Sample Development LLC,
which is the property owner ofrecord.

2. LOCATION.

The properties fiont on Herlou Drive to the west and Lyle Loop Road to the east The Yakima
County Assessor's tax parcel numbers for the properties are 181426-44005 and 181426-44021.

3. APPLICATIONS.

The applications propose to rezone ^proximately 4.7 acres fifom One-Family Residential (R-1)
to Planned Development (PD) and concurrently subdivide the site into 24 single family
residential lots consistent with documents submitted by the Applicantto meet the requirements
ofSMC 10.24.030 and SMC 10.24.050.

The average lotsize is 7,041 square feet (0.16 acre). This results in a gross doisity of 5.1 per
acre. TheApplicant proposes development in three phases. Thedwelling units in Phases 1 and2
are proposed to be served by City maintained Lyle Loop Road, while Phase 3 would be served
by a private interior street in 20 to 26 foot wide access easements. Phase 1 consists of 8 lots,
Phase 2 has 10 lots and Phase 3 has 6 lots. Proposed Lot 1 in Phase 3 abutsHerlouDrive, and
might be accessed fiom Herlou Drive, although the current topography makes such access
problematic (25% slope).

Public sewer lines, water lines and drainage improvements have been installed in Phase 1 in
accordance withthe earlierCounty decisionapproving the previous preliminary plat;engineering
plans for these improvements have been ^proved by the Selah Public Works Department
These utilities would be extended into Phases 2 and 3.

• A new 8-inch domestic water line will be extended fiom where Lyle Loop Road currently
ends on the east side of the site to Herlou Drive within the proposed alignment of Lyle
Loop Road through proposed Phases 1 and2. A water linewould be extended intoPhase
3, using the access/utility easement that is proposed to provide access to the lots in that
phase.

• An 8 inch sanitary sewer line will extend west through Phases 1 and 2 in the proposed
alignment of Lyle Loop Road beghming where the street ends currently, and terminating
just before reaching Herlou Drive on the west. The preliminary plat shows a 16 foot
wide sewer easement through Lots 8 and 9 that wouldcoimect Phase 3 with the line on
Lyle Loop Road. The combined access/utility easmient throu^ Phase 3 would allow
sewer extension to all ofthe lots in the phase.

Page 3
Somerset II

912.42.14-05; 914.42.14-04



• Although hydrant locations for the proposal are not indicated on the preliminary plat, a
hydrant has been installed onthe site in ttie alignment ofLyle Loop Road where it would
abut proposed Lots 7 and 22 about 450 feet (travel distance on the street) from aninterior
hydrant on the existing segment of Lyle L^op Road and about 460 feet from Herlou
Drive.

4. CURRENT SITE CONDITION AND ZONING

The subject property is zoned One-Family Residential (R-1). It is vacant, but some utilities have
been extended into the property in association with the 1997 prelindnaty plat approval by
Yakima County. The Applicant represents in its{plicationmaterials that theearlier plat is "null
and void," This is consistent widi legal requirements for the completion of final plat
development within five years as shown on Hearing Exhibit 10 (Yakima County resolution
approving preliminaxy plat of Somerset II). The property at its northwest comer immediately
adjacent to Herlou Drive has a roughly 25% slope. The balance of the property has a slope of
5% to 8%,more or less, basedon the topography map in the application materials. Existing fire
hydrants are located at die intemection of Lyle Loop Road and Herlou Drive in the existing
Somerset I subdivision and about 520 feet to the east on the north side ofLyle Loop Road.

5. NEIGHBORING ZONING AND LAND USE.

Adjacent lands to the east and south are within die city limits and are zoned One-Family
Residential. Abutdng lands to thenorth and across Herlou Drive to the west arewithin Yakima
County jurisdiction. Those lands are zoned One-Family Residential under Tide 15 of the
Yakima County Code. All neighboring properties have been developed into detached single
family residences. Lot sizes in the immediate vicinity ranges fium 0.2 to 0.66 acres, with one
large lot (2.81 acres) to the immediatenortheastofthe subject property.

6. ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW.

A Determination of Nonsignificance (DNS) was issued October 3, 2014 for die Applicant's
original proposal for a Conq}rehensive Plan modification, rezone to Planned Development, and
33-lotpreliminary plat for the subjectproperty. There has beenno appeal of the DNS. City staff
does not believe the amendment requires any environmental review beyond the original DNS.
No publicor agencycomment of recordindicates any disputeon adequacy ofthe DNSto address
the amended plication.

7. 2005 SELAH URBAN AREA COMPREHENSIVE PLAN DESIGNATION.

The subject property and surrounding areas are designated as Low Doisity Residential on the
Future Land Use adopted with the Comprehensive Plan in 2005. The designation includes
adjacent County land within Selah's Urban Growth Area.

Page 4
Som»set n

912.42.14-05; 914.42.14-04



8. HEARING EXAMINER JURISDICTION

The Hearing Examiner has jurisdiction toconduct open record hearings onPlanned Development
applications based on SMC 10.24.060. Hearing Examiner minor rezone review authority is
included in SMC 10.40.070, and preliminary plat review authority is included in SMC
10.50.025. Some public comment regarded whether the review process could proceed inabsence
of the recoidation of the ordinance by which the subject property was annexed. The comment
was based on a brief [Hearing Exhibit 5] apparently submitted during the course of the city
council's review of the Plaiming Commission recommendation ontheoriginal application forthe
Comprehensive Plan amendment and major rezone. However, the briefdoes not address thejBwt
that an annexation ordinance sets forft the effective date of the aimexatiotL RCW 35A.14.100,
RCW 35A.14.150. Annexed property becomes part of tibe city upon the effective date. Id. The
effective date ofthe West Goodlander annexation was February 1,2014 (See Selah City Council
Ordinance No. 1935). TheHearing Examiner is charged withrecommending approval or denial
ofthe Planned Development rezone.

9. PROJECT ANALYSIS

a Review Criteria.

Thereview crit^a specifically applicable to a Planned Development zone^plication are set out
in SMC 10.24.060. Public comments raisedconcerns regarding the compliance of the amended
application with the provisions of SMC 10.40.070, which concerns review criteria applied in
hearing examiner review of ^bninor rezones." In particular, public comment concerned whether
there is any public purpose to be served by the zoning change as required in SMC
10.40.050(c)(3) or any change in circumstance to substantiate a rezone based on SMC
10.40.050(cX4). These provisions are made applicable to a minor rezone based on SMC
10.40.070(a). The ori^al application forthe Somerset II development included a major rezone
request The City Council remanded the original Planning Commission recommendation onthe
m^or rezone bade to the Plaiming Commission based on its determination that application
materials were incomplete on October 14, 2014. As noted earlier, the original application was
amended to avoid thenecessity for a Comprehensive Plan amendment andthusallow review by
the Hearing Examiner as a minor rezone.

The stafif report analyzes the amended spplication based on the implicit assunption that minor
rezone review criteria are applicable to the Plaimed Development rezone. On tiiis basis, the
pplication would be review^ based on both the standard rezone criteria and the criteria in SMC
10.24.060. In applying the ordinances, they must be given the effect of their plain meaning.
Dept. ofEcology v. Campbell &Owinn, LLC., 146 Wn.2d 1,9-10,43 P.3d 4 (Wash. 2002).

However, it is not clearthat a "verified rezone pplication" for a Plaimed Development based on
provisions of SMC 10.24.050 is subject to the provisions of SMC 10.40.070, given the
specifidty of thereview oiteria in SMC 10.24.060. The Planned Development ordinance makes
no mention of eifiier major or minor rezone review requirements, and some of the Plaimed
Development review requirements overlap the SMC 10.40.050(c) review requirements.

Pages
Somerset n

912.42.14-05; 914.42.14-04



particularly with regard to consistency with the Comprehensive Plan and harmony or
compatibiUty of the proposedaction with neighboring uses.

In addition, the purpose of the Plaimed Development zoning provision as expressed in SMC
10.24.010 is to provide project-specific relief firom otherwise applicable zoning standards in
order to allow creative use of property consistent with the Comprehensive Plan, in contrast to
SMC 10.40.050(c), which concerns adjustments to zoning to allow a different array uses than
would be allowable underexisting zoning. The broader rezoning ordinance is reviewed based on
the relationship of the changed zoning designations (and permissible uses in the zone) with
changes in circumstances, suitability of property foruses allowed in a proposed zone, andpublic
purposes to be served by changeofdesignation.

The application of the different review criteria to the same proposal presents the awdcward
possibility of the proposalbeing^propriate underone set ofcriteria,and inappropriate under the
other. In the interest of providing a complete record, the ^plication materials are reviewed
belowunder the criteria ofboth the general rezonecriteria in SMC 10.40.0S0(c) and the specific
PlaimedDevelopmentreview criteria in SMC 10.24.060.

b. Applicationofthe PlannedDevelopment Review Criteria

(1) Substantial conformanceto the city ofSelah Urban GrowthArea Comprehensive Plan:

The City ofSelah Urban Growth Area Comprehensive Plan designates the property as Low
DensityResidential on the adopted 2005 Future Land Use Map. This designation provides for a
maximum density of 5 dwelling units per acre. The intended future use of Low Density
Residential lands is a mfac of single family, two-family, townhouse and multifemily residences.
The mix of residential uses is controlled by the maximum density limitation on future (new)
development The density of development under the proposedproject is 5.1 dwellings per acre,
which is 2% greaterthan the Comprehensive Plan density limitation. Basedon the development
plan, the housing units in the project would be detachedsingle family dwellings. Consequently,
the proposed density does not appear to bear on the mix of uses in tiiis case. Other potentially
relevant Comprehensive Plan objectivesand policies suggestedby the staff report are discussed
as follows:

(i) Objective LUGM 3: Encourage economic growth while maintaining quality
development and controlling the cost ofpublic improvements in Selah's VGA Related
policies include Policy LUGM 3.2 ("Direct development to areas where infrastructure
(water, sewer and streets) is either present, can be easily extended, or is planned to be
extended") and Policy LUGM3.3 ("Conserve land, energy andfinancial resources by
minimizing urban sprawl").

The proposed project does not conflict with these considerations, but neither does it help realize
them, since rezoiung in this case does not direct development nor reduce sprawl in any obvious
way. The property was previously subject to a preliminary plat approval by the County,
although at a lower density ofdevelopment. Nothing in the policies correlates economic growth
with maximizing residential density. None of the immediately surrounding neighborhood

Page 6
Somerset II

912.42.14-05; 914.42.14-04



appears to have been developed up to maximum density of 5 dwelling units per acre. As the
Community Planner Dennis Davison noted at the hearing, die only place where densities
comparable to theproposed project have been developed is at "TTie Crest" subdivision, which is
separated from the subject property by at least one tier of lots that are 0.3 acres and up. "The
Cmstf' was subdivided prior to the establishment of current R-1 minimum lot size requirement
according to Mr. Davison.

(ii) Objective HSG 1: Maintain and upgrade the character of existing residential
neighborhoods. Related Policy HSG 1.2 encourages "new single-family development
throughout existingsingle-family neighborhoods as redevelopment andirfillconstruction
at appropriate densities.

The project would develop vacant property inthemidst ofa single &mily neighborhood, some of
which is withincity limite, and some outsidecity limits. Publiccomments raisedconcerns about
the effect on neighborhood character from the proposed small lot sizes, theuseof a private road
easementto serve the Phase 3 lots, and the potentM creationofwhat wouldeffectively be double
and triple frontage lots as a result of the private road development In light of the general
disfavor for double frontage lots in SMC 10.50.041(e), and disparity in lot sizes between those
proposed and diose in the immediate neighborhood, it is not clear that the proposed alignment
"maintains and iq)grades the character of existing residential neighborhoods." Neighboring
properties on Lyle Loop Road have been developed in compliance with R-1 standards. The
concept of"appropriate densities" isdiscussed fur&er inthe analysis ofPolicy HSG 2.1, below.

(Hi) Objective HSG 2: Encourage new residential development to approximate existing
residential densities and housing mix levels. Policy HSG 2.1 encourages that the
combined net density ofall residential development remain at present levels. Exceptions
to thispolicy shouldbepermitted where thedeveloper can demonstrate that thequality of
the projectdesign, construction andamenities warrants a different housing density.

TheComprehensive Plan maximum density provides foran average lot sizeof 8,712 square feet
or 0.2 acre. This is roughly the daisity of current development on Lyle Loop Road. Nearby
development on Herlou Drive and Weems Way translates into a d^ity of roughly 2.5 dwelling
units per acre (roughly 0.4 acre lots based on-line information available from the County
Assessor's web site. See Figure 1).

Theaverage proposed lot size for the proposed development is 7,041 square feet. This amounts
to a 19% reduction below the "average" R-1 lot size and a 60% reduction below the Herlou
Drive/Weems Way lot sizes. It is not clear that the proposal "ai^roximates"the surrounding
density. Thekeyquestion thusbecomes whether "the developer candemonstrate that the quality
of theproject design, construction and amenities warrants a different housing density." IntMs
regard, nothing in theapplication materials purportsto showthat a hi^er housing density is

http;//yakiinap.com/servlet/com.esri.esriiiiap.Esrimap?name=YakGISH&Lelt=1630284&Bottoin=48S709&Right=l
632fi27&Top=487633&TAB=TabAsse8Sor&DropDowaOrtho=None&Contour=&Utilities=&FEMA=&CAO=&Dr
opPownPlanning=7.nntng.frnrrniTViwnMnpSii«t=^mn11Aelic1r.x=i?<»SAclick.y=t61&Cmd=ZT&ORTHO_LIST=Non
e&MAP_SIZE=SinBU

Page 7
Somerset II

912.42.14-05; 914.42.14-04



WEB.)8

In ^ UtS**
^ «*"S|
& « .3. fa

I

LVLE AVE.

--OOMLfiy—. MAB—-
1

9

4141? 4I«4

4 j
WE£M

tl<2«

<I«B

SUB

tIBt

3IVSK

ItOR

• 1116

4HI0 4141 ( 4{4I2 |it419 41414 triu Liom iimr

to Z* tt 1S9
••

44Q0S

44021

44001

".' I

4Mi« « ^

•d'A

- i—pL\^..,LO0Pr.,.
-•3 1 H-.-.I—--
.i| «|r!j|'la

tOA

•

3-r •
(W*)'' 4440

n . "

ilJ - I
' • 1

4M»I

n 1

Figure 1. Somerset II Neighborhood (subject property highlighted)

warranted based on quality of project design, construction or amenities. Rather, the stated goal
of the Applicant is to acliieve the highest density allowable under the Comprehensive Plan
density limitations.

(iv) Objective HSG 4: Encourage new residential construction to be compatible with
existing residential development. Policy HSG 4.1callsforencouraging developers to use
private covenants and deed restrictions which specify architectural, maintenance and
landscaping standards within their development.

The thrust of much of the public comment received on the project was that the lot sizes and
subdivision design are not compatible with neighboring residential development, and that
neigliboring property values would be impaired. The Applicant included with the development
plan an analysis that provides evidence that the lot sizes proposed do not necessarily adversely
affect property values. The analysis relies on tax valuations by the Coimty Assessor, and
principally refers to properties within The Crest subdivision to show that lot size is not
controlling with respect to value.

Property value is not the sole basis for evaluating compatibility based on the pertinent objective
and policy. Architectural, maintenance and landsc^ing standards are implicitly associated with
the compatibility analysis, andthe application materials include no evidence of consideration of
such standards, other than photographs of existing homes in The Crest subdivision, reliance on
future lot developers to provide landscaping, and the designation of a 1233 square foot open
space parcel without clear indication of its objectives or potential use. It is noteworthy in this

Page 8
Somerset II

912.42.14-05; 914.42.14-04



regard that provisions of SMC 10.24.030 call for the preliminary development plans to contain
such information as '^horizontal and vertical dimensions of all buildings and stractures proposed
to be locatedon the site whichshall includedrawings, architectural renderings or photographsof
proposed buildings" and proposed landscaping. These provisions and similar provisions in SMC
10.24.050 appear totrack the compatibility objective and policy inthe Comprehensive Plan.

The Applicant has also indicated that the smaller lots will support lower cost housing
development, consistent with the Comprehensive Plants affordable housing goals. However, the
housing strategies adopted in the Comprehensive Plan at p. 41 only address parcel size in the
context of cluster development Cluster development could be achieved through a planned
development process, but is not part of the current proposal. In any case, this market-based
concept does not override odier housing objectives and policies in the Comprehensive Plan in
any clear way.

(2) The proposal's harmony with thesurrounding area, or itspotential future use.

This criterion appears to track closely with the previously discussed Comprehensive Plan
provisions relat^ to compatibility with neighboring residential uses and approximation of
neighboring densities. The same analysis applied to Comprehensive Plan compliance also
applies here.

(3) The system of ownership and means of development, preserving and maintaining open
space.

The preliminary plat shows an open space parcel of 1,233 square feet, to be located on the
boundary of Lots 1and 13 and adjacent to Herlou Drive. Noinformation has been provided in
the application materials regarding its development, preservation and maintenance, except to
note that open space can be used to preserve natural features. In addition, no information has
been provided to show the suitability of the open space for the proposed development as
provided in SMC 10.24.080.

(4) The adequacy of the size of the proposed district to accommodate the contemplated
development.

The Planned Development ordinance does not provide ^ecific guidance as to what would
constitute the "adequate" size of property to support a PD approval. The property is not large
enough to allow conforming public streets to serve the proposed Phase 3 lots without further
reducing lot size. Private streetsare allowable under the subdivision standards when there is no
impairment to traffic circulation on public streets. SMC 10.50.041(d)(4). There is no record of
any &e safety or similar concerns held by city JSre or public worics officials regarding the
configuration of the development or means of access. If it assumed that the basic objective of
the proposal is to reduce lot size, the evidence in the record does not provide a basis for saying
that the space is not adequate for the proposed project.

Page 9
Somerset n

912.42.14-05; 914.42.14-04



(5) Compliancewith Chapter 10^4 SMC.

Certain procedural requirements are called out in the Planned Development ordinance.
These include;

• Filing of a notice of intent, along with a preliminary development plan and program
containing certain specified information per SMC 10.24.020 and SMC 10.24.030;

• Filing a final development plan and program containing certain specified information
along withand"verifiedrezoneapplication" per SMC 10.24.050;

Specified information requirements to be included in the final development plan and program
include

a) Fxisting maps drawn to scale ofnot less than one inch toone hundred feet and proposed
final contour map;

b) Location, with the names of all existing and proposed streets, public ways, railroad and
utility ri^ts-of-way, parks or other open spaces and all land uses within two hundred feet
of the boundary ofthe development;

c) Existing sewers, water mains and other underground facilities within and adjacent to the
development and their certifiedcapacities;

d) Proposed sewer or ofiier waste disposal facilities, water mains and otiier underground
utilities;

e) Subdivision map, in the event a proposed planned development application is combined
with a proposal to divide landinto lots, identifying proposed lotconfiguration andsizein
square feet);

jO Proposed landusemapidentifying the location and purpose of eachstructure;
g) Location andsize in square feet ofcommunity facilities;
h) Location and size in square feet ofopen space;
i) Traffic flow plan;
j) Locationand dimension ofwalks, trails or easements;
k) Location of off-street parldng areas, arrangement, number and dimensions of auto

garages andparkingspaces, widthofaisles, baysand anglesofparking;
1) Location, arrangement, number and dimensions of truck loading and unloading ^aces

and docks;
m) Preliminary plans, elevations of typical buildings andstructures, including general height,

bulk, number of dwelling unitsand the exterior qjpearanceofthe buildings or structures;
n) Approximate location, height andmaterials ofall walls, fences andscreens;
o) Incfication ofstagesofdevelopment.
p) Statement of goals and objectives, i.e., why it would be in the public interest and be

consistent with the Conqirekensive Plan;
q) Tables showing total number of acres, distribution of areaby use, percent designated for

dwellings, commercial or industrial uses and open space, number of off-street parking
spaces, streets, parks, playgrounds,sdiools and open ^aces;

r) Tables indicating ovei^densities and density by dwelling types and any proposal for the
limitation ofdensity;

s) Restrictive covenants, otherthan those relating to retention and maintenance of common
open space;

t) Development timetable.

Page 10
Somerset II

912.42.14-05; 914.42.14-04



Whileall these elements are indicated as requiredin die jSnal development plan and program, the
ordinance does not specify that every Planned Development project must have all of the
elements. The ordinance is not clear as to which of the listed elements might be necessary and
which are not. Forexample, open space is notprescribed as a requirement. In the earlier version
of the ordinance, required open space was contemplated as a means of realizing the "full
potential" of a property. See Selah City Council Ordinance 1779, §78 (2004). As amended in
2009, the ordinance retains provisions for openiqiace evaluation andprotection evaluation but no
longer references the use of required open space to realize fijU property potential. City planmng
ofScials have viewed this change as Imving the effect of not requiring open space, but if open
space is provided in a proposal, then theadequacy review and protection provisions still apply.
However, it seems that, if open space was notimportant to thescheme of theordinance, the very
specific requirements for open space evaluation and protection could have been removed at the
time it was amended.

Interpretation of local ordinances is govemed by the same rules of constmction as state statutes.
Ordinances must be reasonably construedwith reference to tiieirpurpose. HJS Development, Inc.
V. Pierce County 148 Wn.2d 451, 471-472, 61 P.3d 1141 (Wash. 2003). The purpose of the
Planned Development ordinance is to allow new development that is consistMit with die
Comprehensive Plan but that would not be readily permitted in other zoning districts due to
limitations in dimensional standards, permitted uses, or accessory uses. Ordinances must be
interpreted and construed so thatall the language used is given effect, with no portion rendered
meaningless or superfluous. Whatcom County v. City ofBellingham, 128 Wn.2d 537, 546, 909
P.2d 1303 (Wash. 1996). The specified elements of the required development planandprogram
cannot be readto be superfluous. At the least, the requirements mustbe readas considerations in
whether theproposed Planned Development is consistent withthe Comprehensive Plan. Planned
Development review is not merely a matter of assuring the proposal meets the limitation on
maximum density. Otherelements of the ordinance alsowouldseemat least to illustrate the City
Council's purpose.

Given the scope of theproject (detached single family residential) andthe information provided
in the staff report, the purpose of the ordinance has generally been served by the submitted
materials with regard to plan and programs elements a) throu^ g), i) throu^ 1), o) q) and t), set
out above. However, the submitted materials are lacking information regarding

• open space adequacy and protection,
• preliminary plans, elevations of typical buildings andstructures, including general height,

bulk, number ofdwelling unitsand the exterior ^pearance ofthe buildings or structures,
• approximate location, heightandmaterials of all walls,fences and screens,
• a statement of goals and objectives, i.e., why it would be in the public interest and be

consistent with the Comprehensive Plan,
• restrictive covenants, otherthan those relating to retention and maintenance of common

open space.

These elements are all related to issues of substantial conformance with the Comprehensive Plan
discussed above at pp. 6-9, above.

Page 11
Somerset n

912.42.14-05; 914.42.14-04



In addition, relieffrom subdivision standards provided in SMC 10.50.041(d) and(e) for planned
developments depend on a showing of good cause. In this instance, good cause is directly
dependent upon the proposed Planned Development being consistent with the Comprehensive
Plan. The Applicant and the staffi^ort equate "efficiency" and "desirability" as the terms are
used in SMC 10.24 010(a) with the development of the property to maximum density. Such
efficiency or desirability could be the basis for a showing of good cause for relief from
subdivision design standards. However, since the terms are not specifically defined in the
ordinance, they must be construed in the larger context of fbe ordinance andthe Comprehensive
Plan it implements. The 5 dwelling unit per acre reference in the Comprehensive Plan is a
density limitation, rather than a desired density target, and as discussed earlier, other provisions
ofthe Comprehensive Plan are relevant to the proposal.

Based on the lack of information related to compliance with the Comprehensive Plant it is
difficult to justify any recommendation for approval. It is no less difficult to justify a
recommendation forapproval thatis conditional onthesubmission of theadditional information.
Such additional information would not be subject to public review and commentfor the record,
so the purpose of flie openrecord hearing on theapplication would be undercut

c. Application ofthe MinorRezone Review Criteria

(1) The extent to which the proposed rezone is consistent vwth and/or deviates fiom the goals,
objectives, mapping criteria and policies adopted in the Comprehensive Plan and the intent of
Title 10 SMC.

The conformance of the proposed project and rezone with the Comprehensive Plan is discussed
above at pp. 5-8. The purpose of Title 10 SMC is setout in SMC 10.02.030. Ofparticular note,
the purpose includes

• Implement the city of Selah Urban Growth Area Comprehensive Plan
enactedpursuantto the Washington StateGrowthManagement Act;

• Assure Ae orderly development of the city consistent with the Selah
UrbanGrowth AreaComprehensive Plangoalsand policies; [and]

• Encourage orderly growth while integrating new development and
redevelopment into the fabric of the community while maintaining a
high quality environment[.]

These purposes, including integration of new development in the fabric of the community, are
also addressed at pp.6-9.

(2) The adequacy of public facilities, such as roads, sewer, water and other public services
required to meet urbw or rural needs.

There is no evidence that public facilities associated with the subject property are inadequate to
meet urban needs. City public works and fire officials do not object to the proposed public
facility elements ofthe project.

Page 12
Somerset H

912.42.14^)5; 914.42,14-04



(3) The public need for the proposed change. Public need shall mean that a valid public
purpose, for which the Comprehensive Plan and this title have been adopted, is served by the
proposed application. Findings that address public need shall, at a minimum document:

a. Whether additional landfora particular purpose is required in consideration ofthe
amount already provided bytheplan m^ designation orcurrent zoning district within the
area as i^propriate;
b. Whether thetiming is appropriate to provide additional land fora particular use.

As described in the staff report and by the Applicant, there may be demand for lower cost
residential development thatmight be afforded by smaller lot sizes, though these representations
by themselves do not constitute substantial evidence of such a demand. More importantly, it is
not clear that the satisfection of such demand is a cognizable public purpose for whidi the
Comprehensive Plan has been adopted. See Spokane County v. Eastern Washington Growth
Management Hearings Bdt 176 WnApp. 555,309 P.3d 673, (Wash.App. Div. 3 2013) (County
didnot identify anyevidence demonstrating public need, and"desires aredifferent thanneeds").
This is in contrast to the matter of affordable housing, and the Comprehensive Plan includes
specific strategies for affordable housing beginning at p.41. No provisions in the
Comprehensive Plan or zoning ordinance have been identified as recognizing as a distinct
housing type or public purpose a "small lot detached single family residence" except as may be
implied ^m tiie cluster development provisions ofthe Affordable Housing section ofthe plan.
Otherwise, mixes ofhousing typesare contemplated in existing zoning districts andaddressed in
the permitteduse table in Chapter 10.28 SMC.

(4) Whether substantial changes in circumstances exist to warrant an amendment to the
current designation or zone.

The property waszoned R-1 in the annexation ordinance thatbecame effective February 1,2014.
Neither the Applicant nor the staff report address any substantial changes in circumstances that
might warrant a site specific rezone. Such a rezone would not be required to implement the
existing provisions offoe ComprehensivePlan.

(5) The testimony at foe public hearing.

Issues raised in public comments have been addressed above in foe specific context of foe
pertinent review criterion.

(6) The compatibility offoe proposedzone changeand associated uses with neighboring land
uses;

Compatibility of the proposed Planned Development zone with neighboring uses is discussed
above at p.8. The uses in foe zone are limited to those described in foe development plan and
program required by SMC 10.24.050.

Page 13
Somerset n

912.42.14-05; 914.42.14-04



(7) The suitability of theproperty inquestion foruses permitted imder the proposed zoning;

The uses under the proposed Planned Development (detached single family residential) are the
same as those under the existing R-1, zoning. There is no evidence that property is physically
unsuitable for residential development.

(8) The recommendation firom interested agencies and departments.

No agency recommendations regarding the application materials in the record have been
received.

d Subdivision review.

Subdivision design standards are set out in SMC 10.50.041. In addition, conventional conditions
on preliminary plat approval will assure compliance with the standards, subject to prior or
contemporaneous Planned Development approval. Based on staff review, it appears that the
proposal generally complies with the standards or can made to comply with the addition of
certain typical fire hydnmt requirements, and the extension of typical utility services to Phases 2
and 3. ^ceptions relate to block design, minimum lot size and dimensions (which is the basis
for the application for Planned Development zoning) and the use of private streets for access.
Certain subdivision standards that may be modified by a planned development under SMC
10.50.041(e) for good cause and where appropriate to provide for the contemplated type of
development and land use. As has been noted, good cause is tied to consistency of the Planned
Development with Comprehensive Plan. Assuming consistency for the sake analysis, the
pertinent standards are assessed below:

(1) Use ofPrivate Streets for Access.

The need for a private access street is primarily based on the topography and size of the area
north of Lyle Loop Road. The application describes the private road system as providing
sufGcient turn-around for fire apparatus with the farthest home no fiurther t^ 150 feet firom a
fire hydrant as required by the Fire Code. The subdivision code states that private access streets
may be authoriz^ where there will be no adverse effect on future traffic circulation of
neighboring parcels (SMC 10.50.041(d)(4)). This is the case based on topography of the site,
which together withthe development of surrounding areas, precludes future street extension into
those areas. The same conditions limit the availability of street fi^ontage to the relatively
undeveloped area to the east Parking within the access street will be subject to "no parking"
restrictions as necessaryto comply with fire ^paratus accessrequirements and pedestrian safety.
It is noteworthy that the use of paved private access easement effectively reduces the useable
area of the servient lots in amounts ranging ficm 3b650 square feet to ±1,500 square feet ( for
Lots 9 and 10).

(2) Double Frontage Lots

Double fiontage lots (lots having ficntage on two streets) "...should be avoided whenever
possible" SMC 10.50.041(e)(4). Potential double frontage in the current case arises fiom the

Page 14
Somerset n

912.42.144)5; 914.42.14-04



necessity for private streets toutilize thesite consistently with the Planned Development. The
intent behind avoidance of double frontage is notexpressed insomany words inthezoning or
subdivision standards, andnopolicy perspective is included in thestaffreport orwritten
materials, butthe plain language calls foravoidance and ispresumably considered to be
appropriate to meetthepurposes ofdie City's zoning controls in SMC 10.02.020. It appears that
no other subdivisions in the area include lots with doiible lot frontage (odier than comer
lots).However, theconfiguration is notreadily avoidable if theblock design andlotsize
proposed in the Planned Development is to be implemented.

(3) Minimum Lot Width.

The reducedwidths of Lots 7,9 and 10 are minimal dian one foot) and are likely a result
of fitting the lotsto the site andto accommodate the private streetsystem. Lot 1doesnot meet
the standard, but onlybecause it is measured at the rearofthe front yard. Farther back,lot width
exceeds 60 feet Thereis no intentgivenby the zoning or subdivision codesfor lot width
requirements, butdie staffreport indicates that the widdis are typically required to avoid
irregularly shaped lotsandensure thatsetbacks canbemet Comer lotsmay need more width
because they have larger side setback standards,and also to provide enough area to
accommodate vehicles where there is direct access to a street. Due to the minor amount of

reduction and the other characteristics ofthese lots, they would remain practicably developable.

(4) Public Comment on Street Design.

Comments raised concems about an apparent street jog indicated on the preliminaiy plat in the
vicinity of Lots7, 8,21 and 22. Publicstreetdesign on the plat is appropriately to be conditional
subject to City approval for consistency with subdivision design standards prior to street
constmction, and can be addressed by conations on preliminary plat approval.

From die foregoing findings, the HearingExaminermakes the following

IV. CONCLUSIONS.

1. Any of the foregoing Findings that are more suitably characterized as conclusions are
deemed to be such.

2. Notwithstandingthe delay in recordationof the West Goodlander Annexationordinance,
the Hearing Examiner has jurisdiction to conduct an open record hearing on the applications for
a PD rezone and associated subdivision, and to make a recommendation to the Selah City
Council regarding approval or denial of applications. The approval recommendation can be
conditional, and nothing requires that a recommendation for denial be a denialwith prejudice.

3. The application materials do not provide sufficient information to confirm compliance
with Chapter 10.24as indicatedby SMC 10.24.060, and as discussed in the Findingsat pp 10-12.
Such information would typically be subject to review and comment in the required public

Page 15
Somerset n

912.42.14-05; 914.42.14-04



hearing, but would beinsulated jfrom such conunent ifa recommendation for approval was made
conditional upon the future submissionofsuch information.

4. Based on current information in the record, the Planned Development zonewouldnot be
responsive tocomplaints thatthe project is inconsistent with protection ofand harmony with
neighboring uses described in Comprehensive Planobjectives and policies asdiscussed at pp.6-
9 in the findings. Inabsence of effective responses to those matters, particularly any showing
that'"'̂ quality oftheprojectdesign, construction andamenities warrants a different housing
density" than a density approximating the nei^boring densities, thePlanned Development is not
harmonized with theComprehensive Plan. Because the concerns raised atthehearing aretiedto
considerations in the Comprehensive Plan, they are notmere expressions ofdispleasure.
SunderlandFamily Treatment Services v. City ofPasco, 127 Wn.2d 782,903 P.2d 986 (Wash.
1995)

5. If thePlanned Development rezone is subject to theMinor Rezone review criteria in
Chapter 10.40 SMC, the plication materials andhearing evidence failsto show that sucha
rezone is supported bypublic need or thata material change in circumstances related to the
property has occurred that renders therezone appropriate. However, if a Planned Development
project otherwise meets the requirements of Chapter 10.24 SMC, that ordinance doesnotrequire
by its termsthat the 'Verified rezone application" bereviewed underChapter 10.40 SMC.

6. Based ontheincompleteness of theapplication materials andhearing indformation for
purposes of showing thattheproposed Planned Development complies with Conqtrehensive
Planprovisions, objectives and policies, a recommendation of approval, even wi& conditions, is
not ^rpropriate. However, thereis no basis for concluding that the information cannot be
developed to show Comprehensive Plan compliance or thatthedevelopment planandprogram
caimotbe amendedto address the issues raised at the open record hearing. Consequently, a
recommendation for denialcanbe for denial without prejudice, so that the appropriate
information or amendment might be developed.

7. Ifthe CityCouncil is persuaded that the Planned Development meets therequirements of
Chapter 10.24 SMC notwithstanding a recommendation fordenial, theapproval should be
appropriately conditioned on the following requirements as set out in the staffreport:

1. Alldesign and/or improvement notations indicated on the preliminary platare included
herein as conditions ofpreliminary plat approval. (Including, butnot limited to, dedicated
right-of-way width,easement widths and locations, lot sizeand configuration).

2. A preliminary engineering report and/orplan, preparedby a LicensedProfessional
Engineer,demonstrating the feasibilityofconstructionofall public improvements
required by SelahMunicipal Code,Chapter 10.50, mustbe submitted to the PublicWorks
Directorfor approval, includingapproval ofcompliance with public streetalignment
requirements.

Page 16
Somerset n

912.42.14-05; 914.42.14-04



3. All final plans and specifications forimprovements must beprepared bya Licensed
Professional Engineer andreviewed andapproved bythePublic Works Director priorto
construction. Specifications for improvements shown onthepreliminary plat are
minimiim specifications thatmay besuperseded byconditions contained herein orby
specific conditions asq)proved bythe Public Works Director. Upon completion of
construction andprior to final plan approval, final 'as-built' construction plans and a
writtencertification by a LicensedProfessional Engineer that said improvements where
completed in accordance withtheapproved construction plans must besubmitted to the
Public Works Director for approval.

4. Reports, plans and specifications previously submitted shall count toward meeting the
requirements ofConditions #2 and#3 ifacc^ted by thePublic Works Director to the
extent oftheimprovements forwhich fiiey aredetermined to be sufficient

5. LvleLoonRoad: Streetimprovements mustbe constructed to Citystandards as approved
by thePublic Works Director including 50 foot wide right-of-way, 32 foot wide asphalt
pavementconwete rolled (or better) curbandgutter, five (5) footwide sidewalk on one
street side and street illumination. The sidewalk shall be installed on the same side of the

streetas it is on the existingcompletedportionofLyle LoopRoad. Utility improvements
shallbe extended beyond streetpavement edge to facilitate future extension where
appropriate. Street grade shall not exceed 10%.

6. Lyle LoopRoad shall be constructed in its entiretyprior to the recording ofPhase 1 or a
temporaryturnaround constructed to City standards shall be providedat the point at
which it ends.

7. Theprivate interior street shallbe constructed as a hard-surfeced street to specifications
^proved by the PublicWorks Directorprior to recording a final plat for Phase3. The
street shall have a minimum surfocewidth of20 feet This improvementis not required as
a conditionoffinal plat recordingbeyond(eastof) the point at which it entersLot 6.

8. Covenants or a road maintenance agreement, providing for the perpetual maintenance of
the private roadway andthat establisha roadmaintenance fund shall be recordedwith the
Yakima CountyAuditor and a recorded copy submitted to foe Selah CommunityPlanner
prior to recording foe final plat

9. Documentationoffoe proposed use and ownershipoffoe common open space shall be
provided prior to recording a final plat for any phase. Documentation shall include
covenants, establishment ofa homeowner's association or deed restrictions and they shall
be recorded prior to recording any final plat. It may be combined with foe covenants or
agreement required for maintenance offoe private roadway. Documentation shall also

Page 17
Somerset n

912.42.14-05; 914.42.14-04



establish or demonstrate legal accessby all residents ofthe plat to the common open
space.

10. Streetillumination shall be installed by the developer at locations and to the
specifications of thePublic Works Director (typically at 300foot intervals or as
otherwise determined by the DirectorofPublicWorksin order to maximize
illumination). Street lights shall be installedon metal poles.

11.All lots mustbe served witha fiill rangeof publicand private services andutilities
including public water and sewer, power, natural gasandtelephone. Allutilities ^cept
for the standard telq)hone box, transmission box and similarstructures shall be
underground and installed priorto the surfacing of streets. All utilities placedbeneath
streets, crubs or sidewalksshall be extendedbeyond these featuresto avoid them being
disrupted by future extensions.

12.Thereshall be a moratorium on publicstreetcuts for a periodoffive (5) years fiem the
date ofplat recording.

13.Fire hydrants shall be provided and installedby the developerat locations approvedby
the CityofSelah Fire Chiefandto the specifications of Selah Municipal Code, Chapter
11.30.

14. Final lot dimensions and lot area must substantially conform to the preliminary plat
unless otherwise amended during the public hearing process.

15. Storm Water drainage Vilifies to accommodate runoff generated in the plat must comply
with a drainage facilitiesplan prepared by a Licensed Professional Engineerand
approved by the Public WorksDirector. Plans submittedpreviously will count toward
meetingthis requirement ifaK>roved by the Public WorksDirector. Additional
documentation may be required for portions ofthe site not covered by any such
previously submitted plans.

16.Prior to final plat recording, all requiredplat improvements (utilities, streets,drainage
fecilities, etc.) must be installed and accepted by the City or a surety bond pledged to the
City to ensure installation ofthe plat improvements within two years offinal plat
recording.

17.PlannedDevelopment approval shall be in substantial conformance to the projectdesign
as described in the project narrative, application materials and on the face ofthe
preliminaryplat Setbacks,building height and lot coverage shall be to the standards
required in the R-1 district by the zoning ordinance. Lot size and lot width shall either

Page 18
Somerset II

912.42.14-05; 914.42.14-04



confonnto the ^proved pFcliminary plator meetminimum R-1 standards. This
condition is not intendedto preclude modifications otherwise allowed underSMC
10.24.110.

18.All required streetsigns, posts and appurtenances must be supplied by the developerand
will be installed by the City.

19. The following note shall be placed on any final plat map:

^'The owners shown hereon, their grantees and assignees in interest, hereby
covenant and agree to retain all surface water generated within the plat on-
site.**

20. Lots in Phase 3 shall be served by an 8 inch sewer line extended in the utility easement
across Lots 9 and 10 and then continued to all ofthe individual Phase 3 lots in the access

and utility easement as shown on the Preliminary Plat.

21. Prior to final plat recording, a surety bond,or such other securefinancial method
acceptableto the City, in the amount of 15%ofthe cost ofthe public improvements as
determinedby the Public Works Director(streets, sidewalks, street lights, drainage
faciliti^ sewagecollection and water distributionfacilities, etc.) must be remitted to the
City and will be held for a period oftwo years fix>m the date offinal plat recordingto
guarantee against defects in materials and workmanship.

22. Improvements requiredfor the subdivision must be completed andthe final plat must be
submittedwithin the maximumtime period required by RCW 58.17.140. If this decision
is issuedon or beforeDecember 31,2014, that time periodis 7 years.Otherwise, it is 5
years. A one-time, one-year extension may be authorized in accordance with SMC
10.50.033(c)but the request must be made before the 7-year time period ends.

23. Any changes to the plan or program shall be subject to review in accordance with
Chapter 10.24 SMC.

From the foregoing Findings and Conclusions, the Hearing Examiner makes the foUowing

V. RECOMMENDATION.

The {q)plication by Zuker-Sample Development LLC. to rezone property describe in the
Preliminary Planned Development ofSomerset II, dated January 13,2014 fiom One-femily
Residential to Planned Development and to subdivide the same property into 24 single family
residential lots, as specified in the application materials (File No. 912.42.14-05 and 914.42.14-
04), should be DENIED without prejudice,wifiiallowancefor reopeningthe open record
proceeding commenced in accordance SMC 10.24.060 to allow consideration ofand public

Page 19
Somerset II

912.42.14-05; 914.42.14-04



commenton additioDal information and amended development plan or program material
submittedby the Applicant in its dis<netion.

DATED THIS 19*^ DAYOFDECEMBER,

Page 20
Somerset II
912.42.14-05; 914.42.14-04

PATRICK D.SPURGIN

HEi-^G EXAMINER



Somerset II

914.42.14-04 R-lTo PD (Planned Development) Official Zoning Map Amendment

912.42.14-05Somerset II Preliminary Plat

917.42.14-07 Environmental Review

EXHIBIT LIST

LIST OF DOCUMENTS PERTAINING TO SOMERSET II

EXHIBIT NO DESCRIPTION OF ITEM

1 Purpose of the Comprehensive Plan

2 SUGCP- Future Land Use Map

3 Proposed Somerset II Plat Map

4 Chapter 10.50 Regulation

5 Legal Brief

6 Chapter 10.24 Selah Municipal Code

7 Chapter 10.24.030 Selah Municipal Code

8 City Of .Selah Notice of Public Hearing

9 Proposed Plat of Somerset Estates Submitted to

Yakima County

10 BCDC Submitted to Yakima County Resolution

280-1997 Preliminary Plat Approval

11 Preliminary Plat Application of Somerset II

Submitted to Yakima County

12 Copy of Auditors Office Filing Selah Ordinances #

1935

13 Final Determination Of Nonsignificance

14 Somerset II Email



s...) 0 t: aL> i ±l '._Xf 11/3; ]•

PURPOSE OF THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN " 'i - ' Oj '

The Selah Urban Growth Area(UGA) is composed of the area within the current incorporated city and
potential future growth area for the Cityof Selah

The Plan, then, is a guidebook to aid the City of Selahand Yakima Countyin reviewing or initiating
change. It attempts to give an overall perspective of the Selah UGA. It establishes the necessary
principals, criteria, and poiicieswith which to make logical land use decisions.

To this purpose, the Plan establishes a process through which the Seiah UGA can grow in a coordinated
manner. The Planallows for an understanding of existing conditionsand accepted planning principals. It
then provides foran evaluation ofthese conditions and principals with respect to the attitudesof the
community (in termsof local goals, objectives and policies). Support facilities andlimits to providing
these facilities are then explored. Local attitudes, existing conditions and the configuration of future
services are incorporated into the elements of the Plan.

When changes to the existing environment are proposed, it should becarried through this review
process;

• What is the relationship of this change to existing conditions?
• Wouldthe change conformto established principals or current community policies?
o Isthe change ingeneral agreementwiththe growth objectives as graphically representedon

the Future Land Use Map?

• Whatwill be the implications of the change on the transportationsystem, supportfacilities,
and the naturai environment?

Chapter 10.24.010 - PLANNED DEVELOPMENT (PD) ZONING DISTRICT (Selah Municipal Code)

Aplanned development zone approved in accordance with this chapter shall bea separate
zoning district. Regardiess of underlying zoning requirements, a planned development zone
may permit all proposed usesand developments that canshown to be inconformance with
the policies ofthe comprehensive plan. Aplanned development zone may be permitted at any
location subject to the provisions ofthischapter. Approval ofa planned development zone shall
modify andsupersede all regulations ofthe underlying zoning district. An applicant may also file
a subdivision or binding site plan application which, iffiled, may be processed concurrently with
the planned development zone application.

The purpose ofthis chapter, providing forthe establishment ofa planned development zone, is
to allow newdevelopment that isconsistent withthe comprehensive plan but that would not
be readily permitted in other zoning districts due to limitationsin dimensional standards,
permitted uses, or accessory uses. Inaddition, planned development zones may:

(1) Encourage flexibility in design and development that are architecturally and environmentally
innovative, that will encourage a more creative approach in the development of land, and
which will result in a more efficient, aesthetic and desirable utilization of the land than is
possible through strict application ofstandard zoning and subdivision controls; provided,
that subdivision controls are applicable to planned development zoningonly when a
planned development zoneapplication iscombined witha proposal to divide landinto
lots.



Housing.... (Selah Urban Growth Area....Purpose of the Plan)

GOAL; Encourage the availability of affordable housing to all economic segments of the population,
promote a variety of residential densitiesand housing types, and encourage preservation of existing
housing stock.

Objective MSG 1: Maintain and upgrade the characterof existing residential neighborhoods.

Policy HSG 1.2: Encourage new single-family developmentthroughout existing single-family
neighborhoods as redevelopment and infill construction at appropriate densities.

Objective HSG 2: Encourage new residential developmentto approximate existing residential densities
and housing mix levels.

Policy HSG 2.1: Encourage the combined net density of all residential development to remain at
present levels. Exceptions to this policy should be permittedwhere the developer can
demonstrate that the quality of the project design, construction and amenities warrants a
different housing density.

R-1 STANDARD IN SELAH URBAN GROWTH AREAIS 5 RESIDENCES RER ACRE OR 8,000 SQ FT PER LOT.

WHAT ISTHECHANGE OF CONDITIONS JUSTIFYING THE CHANGE OF ZONING TO REDUCE LOT SIZE?

APPLICATION INFORMATION REQUIRED: PLANNED DEVELOPMENT (PD)ZONING DISTRia

10.24.030 - Development plan and program.

The notice required bySection 10.24.020 shall be accompanied bya planand program for the area
within the boundary of the project, which plan and program shall consist of the following:

{l)An accurate map drawnto scale of not lessthan one inch to one hundredfeet depicting the
following:

{AjThe boundaries of the site,

(B)Names and dimensionsof all streets bounding or touching the boundaries of the site.

Private road is not named

(C)Horizontal and verticaldimensions of all buildings and structures proposed to be located on the site
which shail include drawings, architectural renderings or photographs of proposed buildings which
wiil become part of the public record.

Pictures do not reflect the setbacks, driveway and sidewalk coverage, house footprint, height
of buildings.

(D)Proposed locationand dimension of "common or community open space,"

(E)Proposed public dedications,

(F)Location of off-street parkingfacilities, showing points of ingress to and egress from the site.

Absent the structure footprint there is no way of determining appropriate parking location off
street. Also, where are the covenants for parking on the "private road" if allowed?



(G)Location and direction bearing ofall major physiographic features such as railroads, drainage canals
and shorelines,

(H)Existing topographic contoursat intervals of not morethan five feet,

(I)Proposed contours at intervalsof not more than one foot,

The drawing has nocontour lines, which areneeded to relate to access ofthe public area and
additional square footage needed in lots 1 and 13.

(J)Proposed drainage facilities.

They may beon file but this a different configuration than the previous application and
drainage facilities are required on the currentapplication drawing.

(K)Proposed landscaping,

(L)Building types and intensities,

(M)Pedestrianand vehicularcirculation pattern,

(NjProposed subdivision map, in the event the proposed planned development application is combined
with a proposal to divide land into lots, identifying proposed lot configuration and size in square feet);

{2)A written program for development setting out detailed information concerning the following
subjects as they may be involved in orprovided for by the planned development project;

(A)Proposed ownership pattern,

(B)Operatlon and maintenance proposal, i.e., homeowner association, condominium, co-op or other.

If allowed, the "private road" will require, maintenance, snow removal, liability insurance,
street light power fee and use control language. Additionally, thepublic area will require a
homeowners association regarding the supervision and maintenance. The public area isnot
only inadequate but virtually inaccessible because ofthesteep slope it located upon.

(C)Waste disposal facilities,

(D)Lighting,

The lighting isn't sited on the drawing, considerations will need to be identified because of the
slope ofthedevelopment and the lights will be tooiow for the uphill lots. Sommerset I
(phase one) oftheoriginal development has metal poles and homeowners were told at
purchase time thattherest ofSommerset II would match thequality of Sommerset I.

(E)Water supply,

(F)Public transportation,

(G)Community facilities.

No legitimate access to thisarea from Herlou Drive or the adjacent lots.

(H)General timetable of development.

Itis unacceptable toconstruct a few homes and leave theearth disturbed creating runoff
issuesand windblowndust. The local home owners have a right to expect a development to
have a completion dateor itwill affect their property values. Unless the road, sidewalk and
curbsare finished before starting there will also be trafficand water runoffissues.



APPLICATION SUPPLIMENT

(2) Since this property was included in the urban growth area (GMA) of Selah, although it was in

Vakima County, the Growth Management Act (GMA) of the 1990s gave the City of Selah

comprehensive land use and zoning approval. This act required diverse housing, efficient

use of property and aesthetic design. This proposed project, meets those criteria.

The state in Its implementation of the GMA recognized the R-1 designation and low

density of 5 residences per acre. At no time did the state recommend reducing this 8,000

sq. ft. lot size to meet diverse housing or demand efficiency in R-1 by reducing the 8,000

sq. ft. Sommerset II is in an R-1 zone, has no physical limitations that can be construed to

require a reduced lot size. Additionally, Sommerset I, advertised this phase (Sommerset

II) would match the Sommerset I development.

There should be a profile drawing of the development roads and lots to present the slope challenges of
the Sommerset II development areas.

10.40.040 - Major rezones.

Amendments to the zoning map that are contingent upon legislative approval of a comprehensive plan

amendment shall be considered a major rezone.

(cjDecision criteria the planning commission shall issue a written recommendation to approve, approve
subject to a development or concomitant agreement, modify or deny the proposed comprehensive plan
amendment/major rezone. The recommendation shall include the following considerations:

(3)The public need for the proposed change. Publicneed shall mean that a valid public purpose,
for which the comprehensive plan and this title have been adopted

(4)Whether substantial changes in circumstances exist to warrant an amendment to the current

designation or zone;

(5)The testimony at the public hearing;

(6)The compatibility of the proposed zone change and associated uses with neighboring land
uses;

(7)The suitability of the property in question for uses permitted under the proposed zoning;

10.40.070 - Minor rezones.

(a)Rezone applications that are not dependent upon a comprehensive plan amendment shall be
considered minor rezones. These quasi-judicial actions may be processed at any time. The

review criteria for minor rezones shall be the same as those listed in Chapter 10.40.050(c).

10.50.000 - Title, purpose, scope and administrating authority.

(a)Title. This chapter shall be known as the "Selah Subdivision Code."



(b)Purpose. The purpose of this chapter is to regulate the subdivision of land and to promote the
public health, safety and general welfare in accordance with standards established by the city and

state of Washington, to prevent the overcrowding of land, to lessen congestion in the streets and
highways, to provide for adequate light and air, to facilitate adequate provisions for water, sewerage,
parks and recreation areas, sites for schools and school grounds and other public requirements, to

provide for proper ingress and egress, and to provide uniform monumenting of land subdivisions and

conveyance by accurate legal description

ADDITIONAL DEVELOPMENT CONCERNS

Surface coverage % is unidentified in the development.

Lot 1 and 13 square footage needs to be adjusted (increased) because of surface slope.

10.12.030 - Lot size.

(a)The minimum lot size requirements for any newly created lot (including lot line adjustments) in this
district are progressive based on slope and utility provisions:

<10% Municipal water and sewage system 8,000 sq. ft.

>10%

<15% Municipal water and sewage system 10,000 sq. ft.

>15%

<20% Municipal water and sewage system %acre

>20%

<25% Municipal water and sewage system 1 acre

>25% 5 acres

The "Private road" appears to reduce lots 1,2,3,4,5,6,7,8, 9,10,11,12 well below7,000 sq. ft."

R-1 minimum is 8,000 sq. ft. per lot

Five lots don't meet a minimum width of 60.0'...lots 1,7,9,10,15

Lots3 and 4 have an easement that is required by the position of a fire hydrant, can they use the
easement for a driveway or parkingwithin that zone. Doesthe Selah Police Department have the
authority to issue tickets for parking too close to that hydrant on the "private road"?

Open publicspace is an insult, halfof the identified 1,233 sq. ft. is entered on a hillside so steep that it
can't be walked down.

10.50.041 DESIGN STANDARDS AND SPECIFICATIONS

C(10)....A Tangent of ..."One hundred feet for residential access streets" shall be provided between
reverse curves (C3 into C4)

E(3) Each lot must front on a public street.

E(4) Lots having frontage on two streets should be avoided whenever possible.

Lots 7,8,11,12 have roads on two sides.

Lots 9 and 10 have roads on three sides.



10.50.00 Platting and Subdivision requirements

10.50.010 Definitions....there is no recognition or definition of an entity called a "private road".

Is it a "Private road" if it is required for ingress and egress for six lots?

No Cul-de-Sac

No curbs/gutters for water runoff No sidewalk

Limited on street parking safely (20' road surface)

Access for Selah school district handicap bus...Americans with Disability Act

No Cul-de-Sac for handicap bus turn around

10.50.044 SIDEWALK STANDARDS

The sidewalk shall be installed on the public right of way contiguous to the curbs.

Where are the sidewalks serving lots 1, 2,3,4,5,6?

SEPAstatement is inaccurate and incomplete

Sommerset I (Roy Sample) made a commitment to maintain lot size and residential quality through the
Sommerset II development phase.

Consistency with culture of other lots and residences in the neighborhood.

"Private roads" are not allowed, acknowledged or promoted in the Selah Municipal Code

Sommerset I HAS 8,000 + SQ FT lots (Sommerset II proposed is 7,000 sq. ft.)

Weems Way has 20,000 SQ FT lots

Increased and future traffic should be considered. Berger family has about 20 acres that is developable
West of Herlou Drive.

Design for privacy from upper floors looking into adjacent yards

Substandard homes on substandard lots will become rental homes.



II II lUJ M •oni
IT

W

E

yea AQf «fiio

M

nmrr

r

l2-M-rl ^ w
SOK\

-T

0 mo aeo

VMS 0U

FUTURE LAND USE MAP

COLOR LEGEND

C»i3

[—j

LOW DENSITY RESIDENTIAL

- 0 TO 5 DWELLING UNITS PER ACRE
MODERATE DENSITY RESIDENTIAL
- 0 TO 12 DWELLINGS UNITS PER ACRE
HIGH DENSITY RESIDENTIAL
- 0 TO 24 DWELLING UNITS PER ACRE

COMMERCIAL

INDUS'TOIAL

INDUSTRIAL SPRAYFlELD

PARKS

QUASI-PUBLIC OPEN SPACES
FLOOOWAY

STEEP SLOPES
URBAN RESERVE

CITY OF SELAH

MUNICIPAL BOUNDARY

URBAN GROWTH
AREA BOUNDARY

MUNICIPAL BOUNDARY
& URBAN GROWTH
AREA BOUNDARY

❖
IMbwttte. Ummi Aatocltlw. Int.

CMV CMNOMNe • 1>MD SUMTlWd • PUNHN9

r TWaTMM tl W

(MV) (B0I) fO-WD

EXHIBIT 3.7

•AttBlUU&iL



rrtCJLiNuntAHT

SO'MBRSET 11
W THE S 1/2 OF THE SE 1/4 OF SECTlOW 26. TOWhSWP 14 NORTH RANGE IB EAST. VtU.

CITY OF SEUH YAKWA COUNTY. WASHINGTON

11/4 coMot see. a.
'.14 H. R-ta C.

pARca tisasi PARQlMCfflSA

SELAR

sssr

MLOT 1
7ooe Si*

i4r uTurr

LOT 12
7000 SX

M-ia*

LOT 2
7001 Si".

to Accm *
vrurrcBrT

LOT 11
7000 SX

M.»r

LYLC LOOP ROAD

H eo-sras* c 3M.70'

tr usun
tan (Tw.}

tan FtR I

»»

N ao'ss'zs' c i07xr

LOT 15
7104 s.r.

LOT 10 8
7000 SX.

61 .OS

LOT 17 8
7000 s.r

SI .OS'

LOT IB
7000 SX.

Hwtfjrt \72rnr
PARCZL NUffian

ttM20-43«74

PAftcsL nuBora
WaM-MiCSO

PAIieSL NUH3D1
tBUa3-44460

CURVE TABLE
CUR«C t lUOAIS oau UKCW Twepn 0««s OCARM CHOV iXHOtH OAM « uowo oaTA UNS1H lANOCNI attRO KARMO OKRO UMCM

a 700.00 xaii'xo' au3 44*4 811^X40* a 9741 CO 17340 18V9X 4140 X4.4D N orirxo* a 41X4

ex n-Do mrar 9M« 14.40 0 77YXX1* [ 7109 eio lOOOO onpji* I17X 111 sosYTae*! 1170

ei Toaeo warax 9141 VM N •ntrio* a 91X4 CH iToee ir4cro4* 9140 XI.4I s irfox a 9111

«4 700.00 imi-tT SlU 2>X» 0 a7xr47* [ 8111 eu 17100 Tiroo* 0.X9 AM ooirofw 049

a 71DO •rji'oi" 117.10 74X7 N 4$YOOO' V lO&U Ci9 xxiee iT'uno' 4140 IA73 N u'AfYO' a 4170

M 9000 •rxi'oi* TUX 4KAB N inner « 7041 ei4 xxieo xtru* 1).M 4.U H 799X41' V 1104

O 73000 filts xite 0 0X^4* t S170 99 I71D0 iNwir 4149 7447 • 08ir4r c 417*

cs 8X100 lonx 07 1X7 t 7rco:4r c 449

LOT 3
7000 s/

SI .OS'

(Run
canjTtr.)

LOT 19
7000 SX

7ARCQ. lUOSI

I w 8»sys4* t 1M1 n-

LOT 4
7000 %f

LOT 9 V
7307 SX

LOT 20
7000 S.P

BtJS

njjswr z

PARCEL HUZara
18«aOHl446t

LOT 5
7000 SJ.

inurrecn^
^ ujr..

LOT 0
7000 SX.

ir RUK
tan

LOT 21
7007 s.r

PARCa RUSrai

d| LOT 7
- 7000 SX.

OWNCR/DEVaOPER

ROY SAMPLE rORl
tUKCR-SAWPlI. UtC.
P.O. eox 990
SEUH. WASNINCTON 99942

PARCa MAOn

irwiT
anpwj

LOT 22
7000 SX

PAAca. MBsnn
ttH2»-M«00

s coRicR afr sa.
1-14 N. R-te L «u

LYLE LOOP ROAD
H arS4'2»' t 114.70'

7I.S4

LOT 23
7001 SX

SURVEYOR/ENGB^R

RICMARO L WCKIL PIS _ ^
PL&A CNCtNOniHC ft SURVmNO
1120 HCST UNCCIN AVENUE
VAXtMA. WASKTMCrON 98902

/2-'i'-Vh
LEGAL DCSCnPTlOHS

PARCa A

M SOUTH HUX or IXC NORtKaUt OUARTR
Of tHC souixSAn ouARitR or t«
SOUTKUST OUARTCR AKO THt SOUTH 110 fttt
or THAT PART OF THC NORTHKAtf OP THC
KORIHHMX or THC SOUTHCAST 0UAR1CN V
M SOUTICASt OUMtDI ITMO fCST Of THt
HAM UTOUi or THCNACHCS-SOAM CANAL.
M SCCTtW 2S. tORNSKP 14 NORK RMtCC18
UST. 9Mi

Tocncx WIN LOT I. SOAWA MANOR, AS
RCeOROCD M VOUAfC TCP R>1S. PACC 47.
RCeOROS OP TAWA COUNTY. VA9CNCT0N. ANO
THAT PORTION OP VACATEDIMtT OP WAY
ACCRUMC THERCTO RtCOROS OY RCASONOP
RCSOUmONNUU8CR 4(0-7007. RCCOROED
OCTOetR 11. 7007, UNOCR AUOTORSHU
mmer Tsaiasse

CxetPT GCOtMCNe AT A POMT ON TIC CAST
UNtOP SAO StCOON 76. A D8TAMC OP _
M7O0 FCn NORTH OP 1HC SOUTHCAST OORMCR
THCRCOP: 1HCXCC NORTH OO'Se'TCST 370 FCH
TO THC CCNTCRINC OP SMO CANN. AND THC
TRUC POMT CP BCCMNMCt THCNCC NORTH 0;4S-
CAH COrTTTi THOtCC SOUTH 0r60*«CST ISO
nCT: THCNCC SOUTH O'lS CAH M ttCXi
THCNCC SOUTH efTS CAST TO THC TRUC PCCNt
OP eteiMMft

ANO CXCCPT THAT PORTION LTMC WTKN THC
PUT CP SOUCRSCT I. RCOQROGD (MOCR
AUQfTQRS nC NUMBER 7194172. ACCORDS CP
YANMA COUNTY, WASKMOTON.

PARCa 0

THE TCST 400 FCn OP THC NORTH HAIX OP
THC NORTH HALTOP THC SOUTHCAST OUARTCR
or THCSOUTHEAST OUARTCR OP SECTIONTS.
tOINPItf' 14 NORTH. RANK 18 CAST. WJA;
CXCCPT THC SOUTH 10 PCO THCRCCP.

babmsL wtiaaiwB | PARfiCL NUBBER

CMOCCRMG-SUnVCYMG-PLAMCNC

fBO MET INCOLN AVCNC
YAXUA. WASKNGTON 98902

I = (SOW S7S-ft9»0

PRELBflWARY PLAWEO DEVELOPMEMT [wmn m^
OP PARCa NO'S. 181429 - 44009 ft 44071

^PREPARO rOR—

ZUKER^SAKPLE. LLC. . ^
S 1/2. St 1/4. SEC. 79. T-14 H. R-IB E.WM| 1



I 1 ui IV

(js) r
12 - - M8«tah, Washington, Code of Ordinances » T«le 10 -ZONING » Chapter 10.60 PLATTING AND SUBDIVISION REGULATIONS » j- -JT

- /i
Chapter 10.50 PLATTING AND SUBDIVtSION REGULATIONS

Sections:
10.50.000 THIB.DUIPOSB scope and samlnlstrelinfl auWorilv

10.50.010 Deflnltton.

10S0.012 SiMivlaiOl teei

10.50.013QuslHied eaenipUen-i

10.50.017 Deiinn standaffla end improvenieflte reaulred

10.50.019 fesBiclefl

10.50020 FBno of crslltninafv plal

1050022 Review o( mbrnWed malerial

10.50.025 Nearino aamingr meeHno—DiiBm el heatlna exafnirwf

10.50.026 Heartna «»amlnef recommeiwiiiBnng lo eoutidl

10.50.030 Cllv council—Publicmeellna—Conaldefallan—Public hwinn

10.50.031 Pia>lichMfino n recommendahon fiMacceniaa

10.50.032 Cound cenaidanilinn

10.50.033 Efted of aoproval of prearninflrv plat.

10.50.040 Pretlminarvolal map oreoarallon

10.50041 Deslan atandards and soeciliceliofB

30.50,042 moftumcnte.

10.50.044 SldMlk Mandardft

na in

10.50.052 Pubflc mewina—CounOi—Time imllallnn

10J0.0S3 final etet reouliwnenis.

10.50.060 Final clal—Standards.

10.50070 Emnlicyn

10.50.090 CanSW

lO.OO.IIOEWeatva <1ga

10.50.120 Revigw nl dim tinn

10.50.000 Titie, purpose, scope and administrating audiority.
(a) Tide This chapter shall be known as Ihe "Selah Subdivision Code."

(b) Purpose The purpose of this chapter Is to regulate the subdivision of land and to promote the public health, saleiy and general welfare In
accordance with standards established by the city and state of Washington, to prevent the overcrowding of land, lo lessen congestion In the
streets and highways, to provide for adequate light and air, to lacilitate adequate provisions for water, sewerage, parks and recreation areas,
sites for schools and schiooi grounds and other public requirements, to provide for proper ingress and egress, and to provide uniform
monumenting of landsubdivisions and conveyance byaccurate legaldescription.

(c) Scope. This chapter shall apply lo all land within the municipal boundary of the city of Selah including any lot or block forming part of any
subdivision created and recorded pnor to the effective date of this chapter Where this chapter or other standards adopted by reference
imposes greater restnctions orhigher standards than other laws, ordinances orrestnctrve covenants, the provisions ofIhrs chapter shall
prevail

(<f) Administering Authority. The authority for the administration of this chapter shall be the city council. Administrative functions, powers and
duties arising from this chapter are delegated by this chapter to the city administrator. (Manning commission, and planning department. The
planning department may prepare and require the use of such forms and documents asare essential to the proper administration of this
chapter.

(Oro t635S J, 21304 OnS 524 (paW. 1974.)

(dm No 1879. § r. 5-S-f2>

10.50.010 Definitions.

For the purpose of this Chapter certain terms, abbreviabons. phrases, words and their denvatives shall be construed asspecified in Selah
Code Title 10 except asspecific definitions are set forth by tnis chapter When not inconsistent with the context words used in the present tense
include the future, the singular Includes the plural and the plural the singular; "shall" and "will" are always mandatory and the vroro "may" Is
permissive and indicates the use of discrelion

https://library.municode.eom/HTML/16770/level2/TIT10ZO CHI0.50PLSURE.htnil 10/20/2014



(a) "Alley" as defined in Selah Municipal Code. Title 10. Appendix A. Section A.
(b) "Block" as defined inSelah Municipal Code. Title 10. Appendix A, Section B.
(c) "Comprehensive plan" means those coordinated plans including zoning ordinance in preparation oradopted by the city ofSelah for the

guidanceof growth and the improvement of the cityand which indicatesthe general locationsrecommended forthe variousfunctional
classes ofpublic works, placesandstructures (streets, parks, transportation facilities, public buildings, etc.).

W) "Cul-de-sac" means a residential access street dosed atone end by a circular drive ofsufficient radius for turning automobiles around,
(e) "Dedication" means the voluntary donation of land by its owner for public use, reserving tohimself no other rights than such asare

compatible with the full exerciseand enjoymentof the publicuses to whichthe property has been devoted.
(0 "Easement" means agrant by a property owner to a public agency or private party to use land for a specific purpose or purposes.
(9) "Official plans" means those official maps ormap orany portion adopted by ordinance as provided in R.C.W. 35A.63 as amended
(h) "Plat" means a map or representative of subdivision showing the division of a tract or parcel of land Into lots, blocks, streets, alleys or

other divisions and dedications.

) "Preliminary plar means a drawing of a proposed subdivision showing the layout of streets, alleys, lots, blocks and restrictive
covenants tobe applied to thesubdivision along with theotherelements ofa platorsubdivision which shallfumish a basisfor
the approval or disapproval of a subdivision.

(2) "Final plat" means the final drawing of the sutxlivision and dedication prepared by aregistered land surveyor or engineer for
filing for record with the county auditor and containing all elements and requirements set forth in this chapter. After the county
auditor has recorded thefinal plat, itshall thereafter be known as an authorized plat, subdivision ordedication.

(') Public right-of-way" means any defined area dedicated to public use for vehicular and/or pedestrian use.
"Roadway" means the portion orportions ofa street orway that isavailable for vehicular traffic orthe portion orportions lying between
curbs where curbs are laid.

"Street" means a public right-of-way which isintended to provide or which provides a roadway for vehicular circulation and gives
access toabutting properties and which may also include provisions for public utilities, pedestrian walkways and drainage,
(f) "Arterial streets" means a roadway designed to collect and distribute traffic from different areas or neighborhoods within a

community.

(2) "Residential streets" means a roadway whose primary function is to provide access to residential property within a
neighborhood

(3) "Street width" means the shortest distance between the lines which delineate the right-of-way of a street.
"Utilities" means water and sewer pipelines, drainage facilities, natural gas lines, overhead and underground electric lines, telephone
lines, cable television lines andall necessary appurtenances commonly associated with thesefacilities.

(m) "Subdivision" means the division of alot, tract or parcel of land into five or more lots or other divisions of land for the purpose, whether
immediate orfuture, of transfer ofownership, lease orbuilding development, including all changes in street orlot lines and shall
include all resutxfivisions of land

(1) "Short subdivision" means the division of a lot, tract or parcel of land into four or less lots or other divisions of land for the
purpose, whether immediate orfuture, of transfer of ownership, lease orbuilding development, including all changes in street or
lot lines and shall include all resubdivisions of land

(n) "Subdivision-undeveloped" means asubdivision or short subdivision where no building permit has been applied for or any lot, tract or
parcel therein before theeffective dateoftheordinance codified in this chapter.

(0) "Subdivider" means any person, firm or corporation who proposes to make or has made a subdivision.

(On! >6355 2. 2004: Oni 524 (part). 1974.)

10.50.012 Subdivision fees.

The fee schedule for applications, permits, certificates, appeals andprocedures contained in Selah Municioal Code. Title 10. Chanters
10.50.000 through 10.50.130 iscontained inSelahMunicipal Code. Title 20.Chanter 20.06

(Ora 1418s 27. 1998)

10.50.012"A Engineeilng and inspection fees.

An applicant requesting apreliminary or final long plat approval or short plat approval which has been reviewed by the city's consulting
engineer, when requested by the city's public works director, shall be responsible for the engineering review and inspection fees Incurred by the city.

(1) Preliminary long plat and short plat engineering review fees shall be paid to the city prior to preliminary plat approval by the city.
<2) Final long plat and short plat review and inspection fees shall be paid to the city prior to recording the final long plat or short plat.
(3) Yakima County auditor recording fees and required official prints of the recorded document shall be paid by the individual requesting

the recordingof the finallong plat or short plat.

fOrtf. 1448 S 1. 1999)

10.50.013 Qualified exemptions.

The dty administrator may exempt the following actions from the requirements of this chapter asnot consbtuting adivision of a lot, tract or
parcel of land for the purpose, whether immediate or future, of transfer of ownership, lease or building development, including all changes in street
or lot lines and including all resubdivisions of land. This exemption is only available for those actions which do not contravene the spirit of this
chapter, or of state law. Applications for exemptions shall be submitted to the dty administrator accompanied by an application fee asestablished in
Selah Muniapal Code, Tftjq^. Chpptqr 20.0? In determining whether spedfic actions may be exempt, the city administrator may require submittal
of pertinent instruments, court orders, affidavitsand the like:

(a)

(j)

(k)

(I)

https://library.municode.eom/HTML/l 6770/level2/TITl OZO_CH 10.50PLSURE.html 10/20/2014



Adivision of land by simultaneous merger of a fractionpart of land intoland contiguouson more ttian a single point,so longas no lot,
tract or parcel is rendered nonconforming or more nonconforming wittiapplicable zoning ordinance provisions.

(1) "By simultaneous merger," for purposes ofthis section, means a specific declaration of merger with thenew description ofthe
lands contained within the correction deed or instrument of sale, lease or transfer. The deed or instrument shall t>e tiled for
record by the applicantinthe Yakima Countyauditor'soffice witha copyto the administrator. Nosuch mergedfractional part
maythereafterbe sold, leased, transferredor developed through building permit or otherdevelopmentpermit as a division
separate or distinct from the land in which it is merged.

(3) The exception shall become null and void if thefiling ofthe deed orinstrument and transmittal ofthe copy tothe administrator is
not accomplished withinninety days from the grant of the exemption;

(h) Adivision provided for by law not for the purpose of sale orlease including, in the absence of the administrator finding circumstances
to the contrary, the following:

(f) Financial segregations which do not involve a division ofland through transfer ofsimple title. This exemption islimited to
mortgages or deeds oftrustexecuted solely for the purpose ofsecuring financial obligations thatare conducted inallrespectsin
compliance with the laws governing same;

(2) Adivision by court order limited to the following and not including voluntary transfers of land in lieu of compliance with the
applicable judicial procedures governing them: mortgage ordeedoftrustforedosures, and property distributions between
spouses pursuant to separation of dissolution proceedings

(On) 1418 $28, 1998'Onf. 770$ 1. 1981)

fO/d flto f879. $ 1. 5-e-12)

10.50.015 Filing of short subdivisions.

Any action which will result ina short subdivtsion ofany lot, tract, parcel orplot of land for any reason whatsoever shall besubject toapproval
of the cityadministrator. Approvalshall be based on standards and conditions herein set forth in this section.

(On) 537 § 1 (pan). 1974.)

(Old No 1879. s 1. 5-8-12)

10.50.016 Procedure.

(a) All short subdivisions shall besubmitted totheplanning department for staff review If theplanning staff determines that thesubdivision
appears tohave metallrequirements for shortsutxtivisions and the shortsutxfivision contains sufficient elements anddata to furnish a ttasis
ofcommission action, the staff shall submit the short sutxfivision tothe planning commission at the next regularly scheduled commission
meeting.

The planning commission shall review theshort subdivision in accordance with theprovisions ofthis chapter, andshall recommend
approval, approval with alterations, ordenial oftheproposed subdivision. Planning commission recommendations shall beforwarded tothe
city administrator for a decision.

The city administrator shall approve, approve with alterations, ordeny the short plat within ten days of receipt by the planning
department, uniess the applicant consents to a time extension.

If the decision of the city administrator differs from the final recommendation of the planning commission, a review of such short plat
and final determination shall be made bythe 6ty council

(b) An application for approval of a short subdivision shail be accompanied by an accurately scaled and dimensioned drawing of the proposed
subdivision prepared by a civil engineer orregistered land surveyor ata scale of one inch equals twenty feet orone inch equals fifty feet

(c) The application shall contain an accurate legal description of the area involved in the subdivision. In the event the boundaries are described
by metes and bounds, the accuracy of the description shall be attested to and signed by acivil engineer or registered land surveyor. Basis of
bearings shall be stated.

(d) The total property owned by the applicant which is contiguous to the parcel being subdivided shall be accurately indicated on the drawing.
(e) In the event the proposed subdivision will result in lots smaller than required by the zoning ordinance, the dty administrator shall have the

authority toapprove theshort subdivision if the resulting new lots arelarger than those previously existing.
Land which the planning commission has found tolie unsuitable due to flooding, bad drainage, swamp, steep grades orany other conditions
likely totre harmful tothe safety, welfare and general health offuture residents, and ttie planning commission considers irrappropriate for
development, shall not besubdivided unless adequate means ofcontrol have been formulated and certified toby a civil engineer

(9) In the event the land to be subdivided has aslope or slopes of more than twenty percent and/or has rock or unstable soil conditions, the
subdivider shall furnish soils datatothecity administrator. If conditions warrant control measures tocontrol slide, erosion orother simiiar
problems, the subdivider shall beresponsible for the design, installation and expense ofany device orcorrective measure, subject to
approval of the dty administrator.

(h) All short subdivisions shall be prepared by acivil engineer or registered land surveyor, and shall be filed with the Yakima County auditor after
final approval has been given by the city administrator, all public improvements have been installed and prior to the start ofany construction.

(Old 1S3S §§3.4. 2004: Old 1418 $ 29. 1998: Old 859. 1986: Old 537$ 1(part). 1974)
(Old No 1879. S 1. 5-8-12)

10.50.017 Design standards and improvements required.

(a) All easements, rights-of-way and improvements shall bein accordance with the standards established for regular plats
(b) Prior to granting approval for any short subdivision, the city administrator shall ascertain that the following improvements have been made or

instailedforeach parcel created by the division of land;
(1) Water mains, lire hydrants and other necessary appurtenances,
(2) Sanitary sewer lines, manholes, and other necessary appurtenances:

(f)

https://library.municode.eom/HTML/16770/level2/TIT10ZO_CH10.50PLSURE.html 10/20/2014



J A * A V./ I V A W A^J A A A V./A ^ Kf

(3) Culverts and other drainage structures if required;

(^) Sidewalks, curbs, gutters andstreet paving:
(^) Appropriate dedications oreasements, made if required;
(^) All improvements shallbe installed at the cost ofthe sutidivider;
U) All improvements shall conform togrades and specifications established and approved by the 6ty.

(c) Performance bonds may be accepted in lieu of installation of the above improvements subject to approval of the city administrator and the city
attorney.

(Ont. 537§ tfpard. 1974 )

(Ofd. No. 1B79. § 1. S-8-12)

10.50.018 Building permits restricted.

(a) Nobuilding permit of any kind shallbe issued forconstruction ofany kind unless:
(^) Such lotwas of record prior to;
(2) Suchlotis a division ofa recorded sutsdivision; or
(3) Such lot was created in compliance with the provisions of Sections lO.SO OiS through 10.50.019 of this chapter;
(4) Aplot plan issubmitted showing the placement ofthe structure upon the lot;
(5) Improvements and other requirements set forth in Section lO.SO Ot?have beenmade.

(b) It shall be the responsibility of the property owner or contractor to establish the status of the lot asit pertains to the above.
(Ord. 537 $ 1 (part). 1974.)

10.50.019 Resubdivision restricted.

Any short subdivision, orland involved in a short subdivision shall not beresubdivided for a period of live years from the date of approval of
theshort subdivision without thesubmission andapproval ofa final platdoneinaccordance with the provisions ofSections 10.50.01Sthrough
10.50.019 of this chapter.

fOrtt 537 § 1 (part). 1974 )

10.50.020Filing of preliminary plat

Asubdivider shall file six copies of the proposed application and preliminary plat, a preliminary title report, and any proposed covenants with
the planning department

(Old. 1635S 5. 2004:Old 524 (part). 1974)

10.50.022 Review of submitted material.

If the planning department determines that the application is complete and contains all requirements for the preliminary plat and that the
preliminary plat contains sufficient elements and data to furnish a basis for consideration by the hearing examiner the planning department shall affix
afile number and date of receipt to the application and to promptly forward copies of the plans and data filed to the dty engineer. Yakima County
health district and the utilities for their review and reports. Reports will berequested within fourteen days

(Old. 1635§ 6. 2004:Old. 524 (part;. 1974)

10.50.023 Hearing date.

Upon receipt of an application, the planning department, in consultation with the hearing examiner shall, within thirty days, fix the date at
which the proposed preliminary plat shall tie considered and reviewed by the hearing examiner at a public hearing.

(Old. 1635S 7. 2004: Old 524 (part). 1974)

10.50.024Notice of hearing before hearing examiner.

(a) Notice of hearing shall be published once not less than ten days prior to the hearing in the official newspaper of the city.
(b) Additional notice of such hearing may tie given by mail, posting on the property or in any manner the planning department or heanng

examiner deems necessaryto notify adjacentownersand the public.
fOrtf. 7635S 8. 2004: Old. 524 (part). 1974.)

10.50.025 Hearing examinermeeting—Duties of hearingexaminer.

At the meeting ofthe hearing examiner the examiner shall consider all relevant evidence to determine whether to recommend that the
preliminary plat be approved, conditionally approved or disapproved by the city council. The hearing examiner shall determine whether the proposed
plat complies with the standards set forth in this chapter and those adopted by reference, including but not limited to, appropriate provisions for
drainage, roads, alleys and other public ways, water supply, sanitary sewerage disposal, parks, playgrounds, fire protection facilities, minimum lot
size and other public and private facilities and improvements and provisions contained in any of the city's adopted comprehensive plans (i e land
use. sewage,storm drainage, transportation, water, etc.)and thezoning ordinance.

(Old 1635§ 9. 2004:Old. 524 (part). 1974.)

10.50.026 Hearing examiner recommendations to council.

https://libraiy.municode.eom/HTML/l6770/leveI2/TITl OZO_CH 10.50PLSURE.html 10/20/2014



L 1 T W l-'i L A 1 V^i 1

Not later than fourteen days following the hearing examiner meeting or any continued meeting, the hearing examiner shall submit a written
report and recommendations to the city council. The hearing examiner may recommend that the proposed plat be approved, conditionally approved
or disapproved. Conditions of approval shall be precisely recited in the hearing examiner's report and shall Include recommended protective
improvements, ifany. The hearing examiner may. at the examiner's discretion, recommend higher standards than those set forth in this chapter if
the examiner determines it is necessary to protect the health, safety, welfare and public interest of the city.

fOnf. 1635 $ 10. 3004; O/d 524 (part). 1974)

10.50.030 City council—Public meeting—Consideration—Public hearing.

Upon receipt of the recommendation on any preliminaryplat, the council shall, within forty-five days, consider the recommendation at a public
meeting where it may adopt or reject the recommendations of the hearing examiner. If. after considering the matter at a publicmeeting, the council
deems a change in the hearingexaminer'srecommendation approving, conditionally approving or disapproving any preliminary platis necessary,
the change of the recommendation shall not be made untilthe council conducts a putilichearing and thereupon adopts its own recommendations
and approves or disapproves the preliminary plat Such publichearing may be held before a committeeconstituting a majority of the council.

lOrd. 1635 5 11, 2004. Om S24<pat1). 1974.)

10.50.031 Public hearing If recommendation not accepted.

Notice of a public hearing as set forth above shall be provided in a manner consistent with Section 10.50.024 Allnotice shall be mailed a
minimum of twelve days proceeding the date of hearing.

fOrtf 1635 § 12. 2004 Orel 524 (part). 1974)

10.50.032 Council consideration.

Ateitherthe public meeting or public hearing the council shalldetermine whether the public interest would be servedbyapproving the
preliminary plat. Itshall determine ifappropriate provisions are made in thesubdivision for, but not limited to. drainage ways, streets, alleys, other
public ways, water supplies, sanitarywastes, parks, playgrounds, sites forschoolsand schoolgrounds, and shallconsiderallother relevantfacts
anddetermine whether the public interest will be servedbythe subdivision anddedication. Ifitfinds thatthe platmakes appropriate provisions for
the above, then the preliminaryplat shall be approved.

(Ortl. 524 (part). 1974.)

10.50.033 Effect of approval of preliminary plat

(a) Approval ofthe preliminary plat bycity council shall constitute authorization for thesubdivider to proceed with developing thesubdivision
facilities in accordance with thestandards andprocedures established in this chapter, adopted byreference andincluding anyconditions
imposed by city council.

(b) The subdivider shall have five years from the date of preliminary plat approval by city council to complete all improvements within the area of
the preliminary platand to comply with allconditions that mayhave been imposed bythe council.

<c) If the subdivider isunable tocomplete the improvements within the prescribed five year period of time, the subdivider may. prior tothe
expiration ofthe five yearcompletion period, apply to thecity council for a one-lime extension, limited inlength toa maximum period oftwelve
months, torecord thefinal plat. Council may grant such extension only upon evidence that theapplicant hasmade a good faith effort to
complete the required facilities within thefive yearperiod andthatfailure tocomplete therequired facilities wasduetocircumstances beyond
his/her control. Ifa preliminary platapproval is sutyected to judicial review the five yearperiod will commence at theconclusion ofsuch
judicial review.

(Old. 1635 5 13. 2004. Ofd 1374 5 1, 1998.Ofd.524 (part). 1974.)

10.50.040 Preliminary plat map preparation.

(a) Avicinity map ata scale between one inch representing four hundred feet and one inch representing one thousand feet. The vicinity map
shallshowalladjacentsubdivisions, truenorth arrow, typeof landuse. zoning, streets and with the namesofownersof record ofsuch
parcels and amount they own;

(b) Name and location of proposed subdivision, name and address of the owner or owners, name of the licensed land surveyor or engineer who
prepared the preliminary plat:

(c) Date ofpreparation, true north point and graphic scale:
(4) On both land to besubdivided and adjacent land, locale the following: Existing and platted property lines, streets (should show streets in the

proposed subdivision andtheir relationship with existing orproposed streets in adjacent subdivisions orundivided properties), buildings,
watercourses, railroads, sewers, bridges, culverts, stonn drains, water mains, allpublic orprivate utility orroadway easements, andany
existing development or improvements:

(e) The zoning applicable to the land to be platted, subdivided or dedicated, and of the land adjacent and contiguous to it:
Plans ofproposed underground utility layouts (sanitary and storm sewers, cable T.V.. water, gas. telephone and electrical power), showing
connections to the existing or any proposed utilitysystems:

(9) Contours shall beshown at vertical intervals ofnot more than five feet. The contour maps shall bereferenced tothe U.S. Coast and Geodetic
Survey Datum:

The names, locations, widths and other dimensions ofproposed streets, alleys, easements, parks and other open spaces, reservations, lot
lines, yard requirements and utilities:

Number of tots, total squarefeel ineachlot, percent ofland In streets,andtotal area ofproposed subdivision inacres:
(i) The profiles and grades of each street, together with typical cross sections indicating width of pavement, location and width of sidewalks, and

location and size of utilitymains:
(k) The proposed plat shall have attached toit copies ofany proposed orexisting restrictive covenants.

(f)

(h)

(')

https://library.municode.coni/HTML/16770/level2/TIT1OZO CH10.50PLSURE.html 10/20/2014



v^iiapiwi 1 1 L,/-v 1 1»iN\j/"iiiiv ovjui-'i V loivyi'"! 1 iv./i''iij

(On# 524 (part). 1974)

10.50.041 Design standards and specifications.

(a) The most current design documents, includingany amendment thereof, are herein adopted by reference and shall be considered the
standards and specifications forthe dty. These standards and specifications, together with the lawsofthe state ofWashington, ordinances
and resolutions of the city, shall apply except as amended or superceded by dty ordinance or resolution.

1' Standard Plans

for Road. Bridge and MunicipalConstruction

Washington State Department of Transportation

American Public Works Association. Washington State Chapter

2. Standard Spedfications

for Road. Bridge and Municipal Construction

Washington State Department of Transportation

American Public Works Association

3. Construction Manual

Washington State Department of Transportation

4. Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices

U.S. Department of Transportation

Federal Highway Administration

(b) When landis subdivided such parcels shallbe so arranged so as to allow fortheopening offuture streetsand logical further subdivision,
unless doing so Is impracticalfor reasons of property size or topography.
In addition to the design documents adopted byreference, thefollowing provisions shallapply:

(1) The location of all public streets and roads sttall conform to the official street plan adopted or in preparation by the city.
(2) The proposed public street system shall extend existing public streets atthesame orgreater width, but in nocaseless than the

required minimum set forth in the street standards.

(3) Streets intersecting with existing orproposed public highways and major arterials shall beheld toa minimum
(4) Grades onarterial streets shall not exceed tenpercent
(5) Where adeflection angle of more than ten degrees in the alignment of a street occurs, a curve of reasonably long radius shall be

introduced, subjectto reviewand approval of the dty engineer On streets sixtyfeet or more inwidth, the centerlineradiusof curvature
shall not be less than three hundred feet; on other streets not less than one hundred feet.

(6) All public streets shall be platted at full width, and no public boundary streets atless than full width shall be allowed unless required to
provideright-of-way forstreets and arterials designated by the official plans of the dty.

(7) The dty may require that street width in commerdal orindustrial areas beincreased toprovide for traffic movement and to reduce or
eliminate traffic congestion. Thedty mayrequire a traffic study to t)eprepared/paid for bythedeveloper.

(8) Cul-de-sacs arepermitted provided they do not exceed six hundred feet measured from the center ofthe turn-around tothe nearest
connecting street intersection. They shall neither have a street right-of-viray width lessthan fifty feet nor a cul-de-sac right-of-way radius
less thanfifty-two andone-half feet. Industrial andcommerdal cul-de-sacs shall have thewidth andradius determined by the public
works director.

(9) All changes in grade shall be connected by vertical curves of aminimum length of one hundred feet unless specified otherwise by the
public works director.

(10) Atangent of atleast two hundred feet in length shall be provided between reverse curves for major arterials: one hundred filty feet for
neighborhood collectar streets: and one hundred feet for residential access streets

(11) Street jogswith centerline offsetsof less than twohundred feetshallnotl)eallowed.
(12) Each subdivision shall have at least two points ofconnection with the public street system, except for those subdivisions in which the

only dedicated street is a cul-de-sac.
(13) Streets shall intersect atright angles asnear aspossible. Deviation up to a maximum of fifteen percent may be permitted with

justification.

(14) City ofSelahstandard details for streets,water, sewerandstorm water.
(4) Block design in a subdivision shall conform to the following standards, except in the event a subdivision is combined with aplanned

development zone proposal, inwhich casethe following standards may bemodified for good cause shown and where appropriate toprovide
forthe typeofdevelopment and landuse contemplated as a planned development:

(1) Blocks shall be wide enough to allow for two tiers of lots, each of which shall have a minimum depth of eighty-live feet, except where
fronting onmajor streets orprevented by topographical conditions orsize ofproperty in which casetheadministering authority may
approve a single tier.

(2) The length of blocks shall not be less than three hundred feet nor more than one thousand three hundred and twenty feet. In blocks
oversixhundred and sixty feet in length, the administering authority mayrequire one or morepublic crosswalks ofnotless than ten
feet in width dedicated tothe public toextend entirely across theblock andat locations deemed necessary. Such crosswalks shall be
paved for theentire width andlength with a permanent surface andshall be adequately lighted. Fences shall beprovided along both
sides of crosswalksand shall be locatedon privateproperty.

(3) Alleys shall be required in any block where atleast one tier of lots is used for commercial or industrial purposes.
(A) Alleys shall havea minimum right-of-way oftwenty feet inwidth.

https://library.municode.coni/HTML/l6770/level2/TITl OZO CH10.50PLSURE.html 10/20/2014



• x/.v' t i-f \-y 1 « &h-/AV^Al • V ^ \w« 1^4 # OA • W

(8) Uliiilyeasements sixteen feel In width may be permitted in lieu of alleys in residential distnds. provided water lines are not in or
proposed to be in the utility easement

t**) 7>iere shall be noprivate streets inanysubdivision, and every lotand blodtshallbe served from a publicly dedicated street: provided,
that private access streets may be authorized where there will be no adverse effect on future traffic circulation of neighboring parcels.
There shall be no privately held or owned reserve stnps paralleling or terminating street ends or otherwise controlling access to streets.

(6) tot designina subdivision shallconform to the fdlowing standards,except inthe event a subdivision is combined with a planned
development zone proposal, in which case the following standards may be modified for good cause shown and where appropnaie to provide
for the type of development and land use contemplated as a planned development:

(^) Lots are required in a residential subdivision only when a block Isintended to t>e sold Into more ihan oneownership
(2) Inso^r as practical, side ioi linesshould be at right angles to street Imes or radial tocunredstreet lines. Sideand rear lottinesshall be

straight or composed of strarght-line elements.

(3) Eachlotmust front upona public street with a width not less than thoseset forth in the street standards.
<•*) Lots having frontage on two streetsshould be avoided whenever possible
(3) Lots shall not from onanarterial ifitispossible toavoid it Lots fronting ona maprarterial shall have a minimum depth ofonehundred

feet.

(B) The Size and shape of lots shall meet the minimum areaand width requirements of theapplicable zoning classification.
(A) Thedistance from thefront lot line to the rear lot line shall not exceed two andone-half times thedistance between the sidelot

lines

(B) There shall be a minimum lot depth ofeighty-five feet
(C) There shall bea minimum lot width ofsixty feet at the rear line of therequired front yard. Corner lots shall have a width of

seventy feet from the rear line of the required front yard and a ten percent greater area than the minimum required
(B) All lots shall have a minimum lot areaas established by zoning district in Title 10 Zoning

rOrtf 1S35iU 2(W OrO S24tpani. 1974J
rOnf No. 1795. §§ 1—B. 3-23-10)

10.50.042 Subdivision monuments.

Monuments in a subdivision shall conform to the following standards.

(1> Casedmonuments, with metal stamped caps, shall be setat all corners ofthesubdivision, at all points where the streetlines intersect
the extenof boundaries ofthe subdivision, atangle points and points ofcurve in each street and at all street intersections. All surveys
shall tie second degree accuracy. The use of slate plan coordinates is encouraged

(2) All other lot comers shall be marked with a permanent suitable metal marker not less than three-eighths inch In diameter and twenty-
four inches long and driven flush with the finished grade

(3) Any other monuments considered necessary and appropriate by the city engineer.

lOnI 16351 15 2004. Oftf 524 (pa/i). 1974 J

10.50.043 Curbs and gutters.

Curbs and gutters of cement concrete shall be provided in accordance with Ihe standards set forth in Chapter 10 SQ

fO/tf 1635{ ts. 2004 On) 615 j Ifpart). 1976 On) 542 (part). 1974 On) 524(pan). 1974)

10.50.044 Sidewalk standards.

Sidewalks ofcementconcrete shall be installed on bothsides ofan arterial street Ona residential street,cementconcretesidewalks shallbe
installed on at least one sideof the street Thesidewalk shall be located on the public right-of-way contiguous toIhecurbs Sidewalks shall be a
minimum of five feel wiOe on arterial streets and fivewide on allother streets and shall be conslrucled in accordance withthe standards set forth m
Section 10.50 041lal of this chapter.

(On) 163! S I? 1004 On) 615 SUpan). 1976 On). 542 (pan) t974. On) 524(pan) 1974)

10.50.045 utilities—Underground installation.

The public interest, safety and welfare require that utilities withm undeveloped subdivisions shall beplaced underground. The requirements
shall be

(a) Underground installation ofutility facilities shall not include overhead facilities installed in order to provide emergency service, temporary
polesend overheadlinesused or to be used inconnection with construction projects, service meters localeO at structures, surface-mounted
connection boxes, surface-mounted transformers, pedestal-mounted terminal boxes, transmission lines and supporting structures, "through-
feeders" ofdislnbution lines and supportng structures that passthrough a subdivision but provide noservice toproperty located therein,
wiresfor fire alarm and traffic signal installations, and structures used forstreet lighting facilities.

(D) The subdivider shall make all arrangements for the installation of underground utility facilities with Ihe appropriate agency or utility. The cost
ofconstrucbng new facilities underground orrelocating existing aerial facilities underground shall beborne by the serving utilities, the owners
ofIhereal property tobeserved, and'or others requesting such underground services inaccordance with theapplicable filed tariffs, the
accompanying rulesand regulations ofsuch utilities as approved bythe Washington Utilities and Transportation Commissidn, and the
published policies ofthe respective municipal and/or other utilities; provided, however, that such published policies, as distinguished from
approved tariffs are not inconflict with presently enacted or hereafter enactedor amendedapplicable oily ordinances
Easements for the underground installation ofutility facilities and, where necessary, for existing overhead transmission and existing through-
feeder distribution facilities, shall be provided bythesubdivrder and shall be set forth inthepreliminary plat andfinal plat toservethe

(c)

https://Iibrary.municode.coin/HTML/16770/level2/TIT10ZO CH10.50PLSURE.html 10/20/2014



subdivision and each lot therein. The lot easements shall be a minimum of sixteen feet in viridth and. when possible, centered on side or rear
lot lines, or eight feet on the property side of front lot lines.

(f') Where underground utilities areinstalled within a subdivision, all lot owners shall beserved only by those underground facilities.
(^) Street lights shall beat locations and onpoles authorized by the city providing illumination approved by the public works director. At a

minimum street lightsshall be installed at all street intersections and at no greater spacing than three hundred feet. Inthe event that the city
or suttdivider determinesthat the poles otherthan woodpoles shall be used forstreet lighting, the cost of such poles shall be in accordance
with the policies and applicable tariffprovisions of the utility involved.

O In addition tothe foregoing, the utilities in a subdivision shall conform tothe following specifications and standards:
('1) All water and sewer lines shall bedesigned in accordance with the comprehensive water and sewer plans of the city ofSelah.
(2) Installation ofall water and sewer lines and storm drains shall bein accordance with thestandards setforth in paragraph S.M.C.

t0.50.04t(al of this ctiapter and under the supervision of the public works director.
(3) After grading iscompleted and approved, but before any base isapplied, all ofthe underground utilities and all service connections

shallbe Installed, completed andapproved throughout the length ofthe road andacrossthe fat section according tocity's standards.
(4) The water distribution system shall also be designed and installed in a manner that is satisfactory to the fire department of the city at

the subdivider's expense.

(3) Astorm drain system for the sutxlivision shall be constructed in such a manner asto prevent erosion or the development of safety
hazards. All storm water runoff from development shall be retained on-site. Storm water runoff calculations anddrainage facilities
sizing calculations must be prepared by thedeveloper's registered professional engineer andtransmitted tothecity for review. The
development's storm drainage facilities mustcomply with the city ofSelahStormwater Management Plan.

(On) 1635 § 18. 2004: On) 524 (pan). 1974)

10.50.046 Street signs.

street sign locations, types and design must beapproved by the public works director, provided by the developer and installed by the city at
theappropriate time. Where thestreets in a subdivision areextensions ofcurrent streets, thenames ofthestreets in thesubdivision shall be the
same as those currently existing

(On). 1635§ 19. 2004: On) 524 (part). 1974.)

10.50.047 Environmental review.

Every application for a preliminary plat shall be accompanied by an environmental checklist as provided for inChapter 11.40 which shall be
processed in accordance with Chapter 11.40 prior toconsideration ofthe preliminary plat application by thehearing examiner.

(On) 1635 s 20. 2004: On) 524 (part). 1974.)

10.50.050 Final plat procedure.

Afinal plat, meeting all the reguirements of Selah Municipal Code. Title to. Cfrapter 10.50 and any other condition imposed during
environmental review orpreliminary plat approval, ora performance bond sufficient to insure the completion of all required improvements, shall be
submitted tothe city council for approval within five years ofthe date ofpreliminary approval, unless previously extended in accordance with Section
t0.S0.033

(On). 1635§ 21. 2004 On) 1374$2. 1996: On) 524(part). 1974.)

10.50.052 Public meeting—Council—^Time limitation.

(a) Upon receipt of the proposed final plat for final approval and the mayor's signature, the planning department, in consultation with the city
administrator shall seta public meeting time before the city council to consider and approve the final plat for recording.

(b) Final plats shall be approved, disapproved or returned to the subdivider for modifications within forty-five days from the date of submission
unless the subdivider consents to an extension.

(On). 1635§ 22. 2004: On). 524 (part). 1974.)
(On) No. 1879, { 1. 5-8-12)

10.50.053 Final plat requiraments.

(a) In addition toother final plat requirements specified herein, the final plat shall contain orhave accomplished the following:
C) Certification thattheapplicant istheland-owner.
(2) Certification showing that streets, rights-of-way and all sites for public use have been dedicated;
(3) Certification by a licensed land surveyor or engineer that asurvey has been made and that monuments and stakes have been set;
('') Certification by the county health district officer that the methods of sewage disposal and wafer service are acceptable:
(5) Certification by the engineer that the subdivider has complied with either of fhe following alternatives:

(A) All required improvements have been installed in accordance with this chapter, applicable city standards and any conditions that
may have been imposed by the city council, or

(B) In lieu of the completion of the actual constnrction of any required improvements, whether public or private streets prior to the
approval ofthe final plat, theapplicant shall deposit a surety bond orsecure financial method, orcash deposit in amount fixed
bythecouncil, guaranteeing theconstruction andcompletion oftheroads, thesetting ofmortuments. theconstruction and
completion ofthesidewalks, streetlights andstreet name signs, installation ofdrainage facilities andutilities, andall other work
and improvements proposed by the developer within twelve months from the date of final approval of the plat, and guaranteeing
the payment of certain additional charges as herein described'
(i)

https://libraiy.municode.eom/HTML/l 6770/level2/TITIOZO_CH 10.50PLSURE.html 10/20/2014



I ^ W 1-/X^ A T W A ^ KJ A^i k A A A1 UA A M^V ^ VA A \J

Any and all services performed by cityemployees In field inspection of construction of plat improvements, clearings and
grading processes shall be invoiced to the developer at one hundred percent of the direct salary cost, plus thirty-five
percent of such cost for overhead and fringe benefits.

(•0 Any outside consultants retained bythecity toevaluate any phase ofplat construction shallbe invoiced at actual cost
plus fifteen percent. Billings shall be tendered to developer and shall be payable within thirty days. The amount of the
bond shall be established by the city council.

The plat bond will not be released untilall billingsfor such additional charges are paid in full. The bond may be
released by motion of the city counal accepting the construction of the completed public facilities, and after a
maintenance bond ftas been posted guaranteeing repair of deficiencies and public facilities as set forth hereafter;

(6) The subdivider stiall furnish the city a plat certificate froma title insurance company documenting the ownership and titleof all
interestedpartiesin the plat,subdivision or dedication and listing allencumbrances. The certificate shall be dated within forty-five days
prior to the granting of the final plat by the city council:

(7) Certification bythe appropriate county authorities that all taxes required tobe paid have beenpaid in full;
(8) Certification by the dtyclerir-treasurer that there arenodelinquent special assessments andthat all special assessments certified to

the dty clerlr-treasurer forcollection on any property hereincontainedfordedication as streets, alleysor other public use are paidin
full;

(9) The submission ofthefinal plat shall indude copies ofsuch restridive covenants as may beused in the subdivision in a form ready for
filing with the county auditor;

<10) Before a final plat issubmitted to the dty coundl for approval, it shall besigned by the planning commission chairman and the public
worirs director. After final platapproval byresolution of the dty council, the final platshallbe signedbythe mayor and cityderlr-
treasurer. Following adoptionof the final plat, the original platshall be filed forrecordwiththe Yakima Countyauditor.

(OnS r635 5 23. 2004 OrrI 704 § 1. 1978: OrO 524 (part). 1874.)

10.50.060 Final plat—Standards. .

Every final plat shall consist ofoneor more mapstogether with other appropriate documents, induding butnotnecessarily limited to,the
following standards and information.

(a) Preparation of Final Plat Map.

(1) The final plat map shall beprepared in a neat and legible manner. In drawing ink, on reproducible mylar oran equivalent and
with a trimmed size ofeighteeninchesbytwenty-four inches. Themap maybe in two or moresedions on separate sheets ifthe
scaleofthedrawing cannotbeaccommodated on one sheetwithout unduly congesting the drawing. Ifadditional sheets are
utilized they shall be consecutively numbered;

(2) Name of subdivision;
(3) Name and address of the subdivider;

(^) The date, true north point, scale, datum plane anddateofsurvey;
(3) Scaleshall be one hundred feetequalsone inch;
(6) All dimensions tothenearest one-hundredth ofa foot and angles and bearings indegrees, minutes and seconds;
U) Theaccuratelocation, material and sizeofallmonuments;
(8) The length ofall arcs, radii, internal angles, points of curvature, length and tiearing ofthe tangents;
(9) The boundary lines with accurate distances and bearings, the exact location ofall existing orrecorded streets and ways

intersecting the boundary of the tract;

(18) True bearings and distances to the established street lines or official monuments, which shall be accurately described on the
plat; municipal, township, county orsection tines accurately tied tothelines ofthesubdivision by distance and bearing;

(11) The lines ofall streets androads, alley lines, lot lines, lots and blocks numbered in numerical order, reservations, easements
and proposed land dedication;

(12) All easements for right-of-way provided for public services orutilities and any limitations ofthe easements;
(13) The accurate outline ofall property which isoffered for dedication for public usewith purpose indicated thereon, and ofall

property that may be reserved bydeed covenants forthe commonuse of the property ownersinthe subdivision;
(14) Private restrictions;
(15) Dedication acknowledgement, endorsements and signatures, except as modified herein, shall bein accordance with state

statutes.

(b) Supplementary Documents.

(1) Mylar reproducible "as built" construction documents, certified and signed by a licensed engineer, identifying the design and
location ofallimprovements thatwere madeduring the construction of the subdivision, within or outsideofthe subdivision,
including but not limited to the following;

(A) Aprofile ofeachstreetwith thegradesshown thereon;
(B) Cross section ofthe streets showing widths ofroadway, types of surfacing, curb location and width and location of sidewalks;
(C) Plans and profiles of the sanitary and storm water sewers with the grades, pipe sizes and the location of manholes indicated;
(D) Plans and profiles of the water distribution system showing grades, pipe sizes and the location of valves and fire hydrants;
(E) Complete field and compulation notes shall befurnished showing original or reestablished comer with description of the same,

showing truebearings anddistances toestablished streetlines andmonuments, turning angles, points ofcurvature, lengths of
tangents, andtheactualtraverseshowing errorofclosure and method of balancing with sketchesshowing alldistances, angles
and calculationsrequired to determine corners and distances of the plat, subdivision or dedication.The errorof closure shall not
exceed one foot in four thousand feel.

(Old 1635 § 24. 2004: Old 524 (part). 1974.)

https://library.municode.eom/HTML/16770/level2/TIT10ZO CH10.50PLSlJRE.html 10/20/2014



I vr««/ V M. & A A XA ^ 4 A« ^ KJ X^X^ A V AX^X A V A VX^%^ X^l XXX 4 A X> X XX^W A \/ V/A AX/

10.S0.070 Exceptions.

(a) Exception Requirements. The hearing examiner may recommend to the citycouncil an exception from the requirements of this ctiapter when,
in the examiner's opinion, undue tiardship may be created as a result of strict compliance with the provisions of this chapter or any standards
adopted by reference. In recommending an exception the hearing examiner may prescrit>e conditions that the examiner deems necessary to
or desirable for the public interest. No exception shall be recommended unless the hearing examiner finds:

(1) Thatthereare special physical circumstances orconditions affecting the property suchthatthestrict application ofthe provisions of
this chapter would deprive the applicant of the reasonable use or development of the land:

(7) That theexception is necessary toinsure such property therights andprivileges enjoyed by other properties in thevicinity:
(3) Thatthe public interest is preserved.

C*) Applications Required. Applications for anexception shall besubmitted in writing by the subdivider prior toorduring the installation of the
requiredbdlities to the hearingexaminer.The application shall state fully all substantiating facts and evidencerelating to the request. A
request for an exception shall be considered separate and apart from the consideration of the plat.

(On* 1635 s 25. 2004: Ord 524 (part). 1974.)

10.50.075 Maintenance bond. .

Therequired public improvements shall notbe considered completed until the final platIsaccepted bythe city council. Thepublic works
director shallfurnish to thecity council a written report and recommendation on public improvements within the subdivision. Thedty council shall not
accept the completionof the improvementsuntil the cityhas been furnisheda surety bond, or other secure financial method, in the amount of fifteen
percentof the cost of the improvements to guaranteeagainstdefectsofworkmanship and materials inthe public improvement fora period of two
years from thedateoffinal plat recording. The bond shall secure against anycostsincurred bythe dty in correcting thedefects inworkmanship and
material, including but not limited to:

(1) Any and allservices performed bydty employees infield inspection ofconstruction of improvements, at one hundred percent ofthe
directsalarycost, plus thirty-five percent of such costs foroverhead and fringebenefits:

(2) Any outside consultants retained by the dty to evaluate any inspection or services necessary to correct defects in workmanship and
material in the public improvements.

(Ord 1635§ 26. 2004: Ord 704 § 2, 1978)

10.50.080 Penalties and enforcement

(a) The developer orany person, firm, corporation oragent thereof who hasneglected orfailed tocomply with theprovisions ofthis chapter shall,
uponconviction, be guilty ofa misdemeanor and shall besubject toa fine notto exceedfive hundred dollars foreach such violation, or
imprisonment fora period notto exceed ninety days, or both such fineand imprisonment

(•>) In addition, any person, finn, corporation or agent representing the developer thereof who transfers, options, offers to sell, sells or leases any
landwhich is undergoing platting procedures beforesuchplator map has been approvedbythe dty ofSelahand beforethe same has been
filed forrecord inthe office ofthe Yakima County auditor, shall, upon conviction, be subject to a fine nottoexceedfive hundred dollars for
each suchviolation or imprisonment fora period notto exceedninety days,or bothsuchfine and imprisonment for each violation or each
transfer, option, offer tosell, saleorleaseofeachseparate lot, tract orparcel ofland in violation ofany provision oftheseregulations shall be
deemed a separate and distinct offense.

(c) Whenever any parcel of land is divided into five or more lots, tracts or parcels of land and any person, firm or corporation or any agent of any
ofthem settortransfiers oroffers oradvertises for saleortransfer, anysuch lot, tract or parcel without having a final plat ofsuch subdivision
filed forrecord, the city attorney shallcommence an action to restrain andenjoin further subdivisions or sales,or transfers oroffers ofsale or
transfer andcompel compliance with all provisions ofthis chapter. The costs ofsuch action shall be taxed against theperson, firm,
corporationor agent sellingor transferringthe property.

(Ord 1635§ 27. 2004: Ord. 524 (part). 1974.)

10.50.090 Conflict

All chapters, sections orparts ofchapters contained in theSelah Municipal Code which arein conflict herewith are repealed.

(Ord f635 § 28. 2004: Ord. 524 (part). 1974 )

10.50.100 Validity.

If, in an instance, thehearing examiner fails toactorcarry outtheexaminer's responsibilities according totheregulations contained herein,
the city council ofthe city ofSelah shall assume all the duties of the hearing examiner as herein specified relating tothe application concerned

(Ord 1635 s 29. 2004: Ord 524 (part). 1974)

10.50.110 Effective date.

This chapter shall not beretroactive in application but shall bein full force and effect at 12:01 a.m. on the first day after its adoption and
publication as provided bylaw. (Amended during Supp.No. 7,4-05:Ord. 524(part), 1974.)

10.50.120 Review of decision.

An aggrieved party shall make application for writ of review tothe superior court ofYakima County within twenty-one days oftheissue date of
the decision tobereviewed. The cost oftranscription ofall records ordered certified by the court for such review shall beborne by the appellant, who
shallpaysuch sum inadvanceas requestedbythe city.

(Ord r«3S § 31. 2004: Ord 723 § 5. 1979)

https://library.municode.eom/HTML/l 6770/level2/TITl OZO CH10.50PLSURE.html 10/20/2014



/Vl"'
\ —i 1-

CITY OF SELAH
CITY COUNCIL

In the Matter of Amendment to 2005

Selah Urban Area Comprehensive Plan
Future Land Use Map; Zoning Map
Amendment; and Preliminary Plat

Proponent: Zuker/Sample Development,
LLC

Property Owner: Zuker/Sample
Development, LLC

Opponent's BriefConcerning
UGA PLAN AMENDMENT
2014-01; ZONING MAP
AMENDMENT 914.42.14-04:

R-1 to PD; PRELIMINARY
PLAT 912.42.14-05

L Introduction

The undersigned represents Mark Waller who appeared and spoke in

opposition to the applications referenced hereinabove at the September 30, 2014

public hearing conducted by the Selah Planning Commission, and Wayne Worby

who did not. Both Mr. Weller and Mr. Worby received notice of the planning

Commission meeting, their single-family residences lying within 600 feet of the

proposed increased density "townhouse" development. Mr. Weller resides at 110

Lyle Loop Road, Selah, WA 98942 (parcel no. 181426-44443) and Mr. Worby

resides at 200 Weems Way, Selah, WA 98942 (parcel no. 181426-41412).

The property proposed for development is currently comprised of two

parcels (181426-44005 & 44021) totaling 4.7 acres, is currently zoned one-family

residential, and is surrounded on all sides by like-zoned one-family residential

properties including Mr. Weller's to the southeast and Mr. Worby's to the north.

Opponents to the "major rezone" application(s) do not believe the applicant

made any showing of a "substantial change in circumstances" warranting an

Opponent's Hearing Brief-1



amendment to the currently designated zone, that the applicant failed to even

address let alone demonstrate public need for this rezone, and that it is wholly

unsuitable and incompatible with the neighboring land uses which are all criteria

required to have been established by the applicant in accordance with SMC

10.40.050. Equally conceming, however, are procedurally related defects already

encountered in the review process. The first goes to the City of Selah's

jurisdiction over the property in question; the second involves application of the

"appearance of fairness" doctrine for the hearing before the Planning Commission.

The procedural defects will be addressed, then the major rezone criteria.

II. Legal Analysis

A. Annexation of the Property Subject to Development Is Not Complete.

Opponents to the current applicationreceivedword fiom Yakima County officials

that the so-called "West GoodlanderAnnexation"ofwhich the subject property would be

part, is still incomplete. Opponents are aware thatthe City of Selahadopted Ordinance

No. 1935 puiporting to annex 51 parcels ofproper^, including the applicants, on January

14,2014 pursuant to RCW 35A.14.120. The Ordinance included this Council's

determination that "One-Family Residential (R-1) zoning is the appropriate zoning

designation for the property to be annexed basedon the adopted 2005 CityofSelah

Urban Growth Area Comprehensive Plan," The trouble is, RCW Chapter 35A et. seq.

containsa post-adoption requirementthat appears to have been missed. RCW

35A. 14.140 provides:

Following the hearing, if the legislative body determines to effect the annexation,
dieyshall do so byordinance Upon passage of theannexation ordinance a
certified copy shall be filed with the board ofcounty commissioners of the county
in which the annexed property is located.

This is to allow for County notice to all relevant governmental agencies for voting,

mapping, school districting, fire andpolicedistrictirig andproperty taxation matters,

amongothers as well as recordationof the aimexation ordinancewith the Auditor's office

to depart constructive and actual notice ofannexation to the affected property owners and

Opponent's Hearing Brief -2



the public atlarge. Minutes ofthe City Council meeting ofJanuary 28,2014 show this
was indeed the intentof Selah's CityPlanner, however, it was apparently still not

accomplished. The undersigned has confirmed with atitle company that the Ordinance

has notbeen recorded, and theYakima County Boundary Review Board has yetto be

provided with a certified copy ofthe Ordinance with a map suitable for recording, orpaid

the requisite fee for recording the Ordinance with the Auditor. At this point neither

voting district officials. County GIS mapping personnel, health, fire, treasurer's office or

assessor's officehave anynotice there's been a completed aimexation, anduntil that's

accomplished it was premature to entertain any land use applications forthe subject

property. Theundersigned further learned that theClerk of the Yakima County

Boundary Review Board specifically brought this matter to theattention ofSelah's City

Planner viacommunication onSeptember 30,2014, and that response was made by

Selah's Planner thattherequisite Ordinance and recordation fees would beremitted this

week enabling the Ordinance to be recorded and theagency notices to go out. Asof this

writing that has still not been accomplished.

Theproblem here is thatxmtil theannexation process is trulyfinalized, there

would be nojurisdiction forSelah Planning officials to exercise overanyland use

application filed with respect to these properties. Simply put, aCity should not review a
land use application, make SEPA determinations, and hold Planning Commission public

hearings until all theprerequisites to the exercise of exclusive jurisdictionoverthe

property imder consideration have been met. According toRCW 36.70C.130(l)(e) any

land use decision outside thejurisdiction ofthebody orofficer making it is invalid.

The applications under review should be rejected, with notice tothe applicant that

they may be re-filed following 'perfection' of theCity'sarmexation Ordinance through

recordation. The Planning Commission hearing should then be rescheduled.

B. The "Appearance of Fairness" Doctrine.

Washington doctrinal law referred toas the "Appearance of Faimess" Doctrine

applies to the conduct of this quasi-judicial decision-making process.

Application of the appearance of faimess doctrine to local land use
decisions shall be limited to the quasi-judicial actions of local
decision-making bodies as defined in this section. Quasi-judicial

Opponent'sHearing Brief-3



actions of local decision-making bodies are those actions of the
legislative body, Planning Coimnission, hearing examiner, zoning
adjuster, board of adjustment, or boards which determine the legal
rightsj duties, or privileges of specific parties in a hearing or other
contested case proceeding.

RCW 41.36.010.

The core ofthe appearance offairness doctrine, oftrepeated isthat:

Hearings to which thedoctrine applies must notonly befairin fact, but
must appear to be fair and to be free of an aura of partiality,
impropriety, conflict of interest or prejudgment ... the nature of the
zoning process warrants considerable effort to protect it from an
appearance of impropriety.

Hoyden v. City ofPortTownsend, 28 Wash. App. 192, 196,622 P.2d 1291 (1981).

The Opponents have learned that Planning Commissioner Willie Quinnell, one of

thethree Commissioners who metonSeptember 30,2014 recommending approval ofthe

subject land use petitions, is abusiness partner ofRoy Sample's' who happens also to be
theapplicant's managing member. Theoffice in which they're business partners is

Sample Quinnell, Realtors. Regardless whether this created actual partiality infavor of

the applicant, itatleast creates an aura ofconflict ofinterest orprejudgment that should
have been disclosed on the record, first, and led to Mr. Quinnells recusal, second. Of

course, had that happened the Planning Conunission would have lacked a quorum ofits 5

members and the public hearing should have been continued. Because ofthe violation of

the appearance offairness doctrine, even if theCouncil bj^asses the jurisdictional issue,

the matter should beremanded to the Planning Commission to redo the public hearing

with proper disclosures and recusals. The Hcyden case dictates that "the nature ofthe

zoning process warrants considerable effort to protect it from an appearance of

impropriety." Hoyden at 196. That effort needs to applied here toensure the integrity of

these proceedings, and merits remand ofthe matter tothe Planning Commission.

C. Application of the Rezone Criteria

The application(s) at issue are subject to the City of Selah's "major rezone"

criteria set forth at SMC 10.40.050, which provides:

' That is, unless thereare twodifferent Selah, William Quinnells.

Opponent's Hearing Brief -4



(c) Decision criteria the Planning Commission shall issue a
written recommendation to approve, approve subject to
a development or concomitant agreement, modify or
deny the proposed comprehensive plan
amendment/major rezone. The recommendation shall
include the follovdng considCTations;

(1) The extent to vdiich the proposed amendment/major
rezone is consistent with and/or deviates from the goals,
objectives, mapping criteria and policies adopted in the
comprehensive plan and the intent ofthis title;

(2) The adequacy ofpublic facilities, such as roads, sewer,
water and other public services required to meet urban
or rural needs;

(3) The public need for the proposed change. Public need
ghall mean that a valid public purpose, for which the
comprehensive plan and this title have been adopted, is
served by the proposed application. Findings that
address public need shall, at a minimum, document:

(A) Whether additional land for a particular purpose is
required in consideration of the amount already
provided by the plan map designation orcurrent zoning
district within the area as appropriate; and

(B) Whether the timing is appropriate to provide additional
land for a particular use.

(4) Whether substantial changes in circumstances exist to
warrant an amendment to the current designation or
zone;

(5) The testimony at thepublic hearing;
(6) The compatibility of the proposed zone change and

associateduses with neighboring land uses;
(7) The suitability of the property in question for uses

permitted under theproposed zoning;
(8) The recommendation from interested agencies and

departments.

First of all, the rezone criteria must be supported by substantial

evidence. Henderson v. Kittitas County^ 124 Wn. App. 747, 845, 100 P.3d

842(2004). Further,

(1) There is no presumption ofvalidity favoring the action of
rezoning;

(2) The proponents of the rezone have the burden of proof in
demonstrating that conditions have substantially changed
since theoriginal zoning; [and]

Opponent's Hearing Brief-5



(3) The rezone must bear a substantial relationship to the
public health, safety, morals orwelfare.

Ahmanne-Yamane, LLC v. Tabler, 105 Wn. App. 103, 111, 19 P.3d 436

(2001); Bjarnson v. Kitsap County, 78 Wn. App. 840, 845, 899 P.2d 1290
(1995); and Parkridge v. City of Seattle, 89 Wn.2d 454, 462, 573 P.2d 359

(1978).

The Staff Reportacknowledges that the applicant did not even address

the public need requirement for a major rezone (SMC 10.40.050(c)(3)) and

there is also no record of discussion, let alone proof,ofchanged circumstances

meriting rezone. Indeed, how could there be when the zone sought to be

changed which was started with the applicant's February 20, 2014

Environmental Checklist, had just been determined a month earlier by theCity

Council to most appropriately be the zoning designation, One-Family

Residential (R-1).

Counsel for the City of Selah has previously argued in the Superior

Court for Yakima County that lack of proving changed circumstances in the

neighborhood is fatal toa major rezone proposal.

"It [is] the [applicant's] burden to demonstrate a change in
circumstance that would justify a need for redesignation of the area
and a zone change. . . . The "change in circumstances" provision
contemplates some change in the nature ofhow the area properties are
being put to use. Of all the criteria set forth in SMC 10.40.050, this
criteria is the one criteria that our courts have acknowledged as pivotal
in considering whether a change should bemade."

City of Selah's Brief in Matson Fruit Company v. City of Selah, Yakima

County Superior Court Cause No. 07-2-04502-2, p. 18; also citing Bjarnson v.

Kitsap County, 78 Wn. App. 840, 846, 899 P.2d 1290 (1995). But for this

most "pivotal" factor there's no evidence whatsoever that the area siuxounding

the proposed development, all one-family residential properties, has had any

change in the few months since the City of Selah determined the R-1 zone

most appropriate. It begins to look like this rezone, creating a Planned
Development Zoning island in themiddle of one-family residential parcels for

Opponent's Hearing Brief-6



which it is at odds, ill-suited eind just designated but a few months ago for

continued R-1 use, is primarily aimed now at benefitting the applicant's

property monetization objectives. This would also make it an illegal "spot

zone".

Washington courts have long condemned "spot zoning". Smith v.

Skagit County. 75 Wn.2d 715, 743, 453 P.2d 832 (1969); Save A

Neighborhood Environment v. City ofSeattle. 101 Wn.2d 280, 286, 676 P.2d

1006 (1984); and Chrobuck v. Snohomish County. 78 Wn.2d 858, 872, 480

P.2d 489 (1971). InAnderson v. City ofSeattle, 64 Wn.2d 198, 390 P.2d 994

(1964), a rezone from multiple residence low density to multiple residence

high density was set aside as an illegal spot zone because it was primarily
aimed at benefitting the private interest of the property owner applicant and

not the community as a whole. As such the rezone was arbitrary, capricious,

unreasonableand illegal. Id at 200-202.

III. Conclusion

For the foregoing reasons.

Opponent's Hearing Brief -7



v^fiafjici 1 1 urviN1NU/L/V Urijwr iviLiiN j ly; z-iWi>iinvj i^io i ivi\«'i rage i ui *t

'y<H
\^-i- H

Selah, Washington, Code of Ordinances » Title 10-ZONING » Chapter 10.24 PLANNED DEVELOPMENT(PD) ZONING DISTRICT» n ^

Chapter 10.24 PLANNEDDEVELOPMENT (PD) ZONINGDISTRICT

Sections:

10.24.010 Puipose.

10.24.020 NoBfication of intenl

10.24.030 Paveloomenl plan and prccram

10.24.040 Informal review by Ihe Dlannino departinenl

10.24.0S0 Rezone acpliciitioo-final devatoofnent elan and prooram

10 24 060 Rezone—Hearing and Bmlinoa

10.24.070 Prolecldensilies.

10.24.060 Common cnen aoaca requjfamenls.

10.24.000 Retention end maintenanca of conunoo ooen soace.

10.24.100 Recommendation of Ihe hearinn examlner-Subacauanl Procedure.

10.24.110 Modificafons to devetopmanl.

10.24.120 Revtew of ofevious Planned dftvelopmenl rezone aogfcvat.

10.24.130 Review hearinn fornon-dewlonmenl

10.24140 Reconstaictton of buitdlnos or (morovemenls

10.24.150 Review of detiiion

10.24.010 Purpose.

Aplanned development zoneapproved inaccordance with thischaptershall tiea separatezoning district. Regardless of underlying zoning
requirements, a planneddevelopmentzone may permit allproposed uses and developments that can shownto be inconformance with the policies
ofthecomprehensive plan. Aplanned development zonemay be permitted at anylocation subject to the provisions ofthis chapter. Approval ofa
planned development zone shallmodify and supersede ailregulations ofthe underlying zoning district. An applicant mayalso file a subdivision or
binding site planapplication which, iffiled, maybe processed concurrently with the planneddevelopment zone application.

The purpose ofthischapter,providing forthe establishment ofa planned development zone, is to allow newdevelopment that is consistent
with thecomprehensive plan butthatwould notbe readily pemiilted inotherzoning districts dueto limitations indimensional standards, permitted
uses, or accessory uses. In addition, planned development zones may:

(1) Encourage flexibility indesign anddevelopment thatare architecturally andenvironmentally innovative, thatwill encourage a more
creative approacfi in the development of land, and which willresult in a more efficient, aesthetic and desirable utilization of the land
thanis possible through strict application ofstandard zoning and subdivision controls; provided, thatsubdivision controls are applicable
to planneddevelopmentzoningonlywhen a planneddevelopmentzone application is combinedwith a proposalto divide landintolots.

lOrd. 1634 § 78 2004.)

(Om No 1779. 10-13-09)

10.24.020 Notification of intent

Theapplicant(s) for a proposed planned development shall file with the planning department a notice oftheapplicant's intention toapply for a
planned development zone,giving such preliminary information concerning the proposed project as maybe requested bythe planning department
on forms furnished bythedepartment. The notice shallbe signed bytheowner(s) ofallproperly to be involved inthe planned development zone.

(Om 1634 § 79. 2004 )

10.24.030 Development plan and program.

The notice required bv Section 10.24.020 shall beaccompanied bya plan andprogram for theareawithin theboundary oftheproject, which
plan and program shall consist of the following:

(1) Anaccurate map drawnto scale of not less than one inchto one hundredfeet depicting the following:
(A) The boundaries of the site,
(B) Names anddimensions ofall streets twunding or touching thetioundaries ofthesite,
(C) Horizontal and vertical dimensions ofall tiuildings and structures proposed tolielocated onthesite which shall include

drawings, architectural renderingsor photographsof proposed buildings which will become part of the public record,
(f)) Proposed location and dimension of"common orcommunity open space,"
(E) Proposed public dedications.
(n Location ofoff-street parking facilities, showing points ofingress toandegressfrom thesite,
(G) Location and direction bearing of all major physiographic features such as railroads, drainage canals and shorelines,
(H) Existing topographic contours at intervals ofnotmore thanfive feet,
(I) Proposedcontours at intervals of not more than one foot.
(J) Proposed drainage facilities,
(K) Proposed landscaping,
(I-) Building typesand intensities,
(M) Pedestrian and vehicular circulation pattern,
(N)

https://library.municode.eom/HTML/l 6770/leveI2/TITl OZO CH10.24PLDEPDZODI.html 10/8/2014



(2)

Proposed subdivision map. in Ihe event the proposed planned development application iscombined with a proposal todivide
landinto lots, identifying proposed lotconfguration and sizeinsquarefeet):

Awritten program for development setting out detailed information concerning the following subjects as they may beinvolved in or
provided for bythe planneddevelopment project:
(A) Proposed ownership pattern.
(B) Operation and maintenance proposal, i.e.. homeowner association, condominium, co-op or other.
(C) Wastedisposal facilities.
(D) Lighting.
(E) Water supply.
(E) Public transportation.
(G) Community facilities.
(H) General timetable ofdevelopment.

fOnJ 1634 § 80. 2004.)

(om No 1779. 10-13479)

10.24.040 Informal review by the planning department

The planning department shall informally review the preliminary development plan and program and may recommend additions or
modifications to. orother changes in, the proposed plan orprogram which in the opinion ofthe department more fully complies with the
comprehensive plan and adopted municipalcodes

(On) 1634 § 81. 2004 )

10.24.050 Rezone application—Final development plan and program.
Upon completion of the informal review, the applicant may submit a verified rezone application requesting a change of zoning to a planned

development zone pursuant toChapter 10.26 of the Selah Code. The final development plan and program consisting ofthe plan elements and
program elements enumerated trelow shall accompany the rezone application.

(1) Plan Elements.

(A) Existing maps drawn to scale of not less than one inch to one hundred feet and proposed final contour map;
(B) Location, with the names of all existing and proposed streets, public ways, railroad and utility rights-of-way, parks or other open

spaces and alllanduses within two hundred feetofthe boundary ofthedevelopment:
(C) Existing sewers, water mains and other underground facilities within and adjacent to the development and their certified

capadties;

(D) Proposed sewer or other waste disposal facilities, water mains and other underground utilities;
(E) Subdivision map. in the event aproposed planned development application is combined with aproposal to divide land into lots,

identifying proposed lot conftguration andsizeinsquarefeet);
(E) Proposed land use map identifying the location and purpose of each structure;
(G) Location and size in square feet ofcommunity facilities;
(H) L(x:ation and size in square feet ofopen space;
(0 Traffic flow plan;
(J) Location and dimension ofwalks, trails oreasements;
(K) Location of off-street parking areas, arrangement, number and dimensions of auto garages and parking spaces, width of aisles,

bays and angles of parking;
(L) Location, arrangement, number and dimensions of truck loading and unloading spaces and docks;
(M) Preliminary plans, elevations of typical buildings and structures, including general height, bulk, number of dwelling units and the

exterior appearance of the buildings or structures;
(N) Approximate location, height and materials of all walls, fences and screens;
(G) Indication of stages ofdevelopment.

(2) Program elements.
(A) Statement of goals and objectives, i.e.. why it would be in the public interest and be consistent with the comprehensive plan;
(B) Tables showing total numlMr of acres, distribution of area by use, percent designated for dwellings, commercial or industrial

usesand open space, number ofoff-street parking spaces, streets, parks, playgrounds, schools and open spaces;
(C) Tables indicating overall densities and density by dwelling types and any proposal for the limitation of density;
(D) Restrictive covenants, other than those relating to retention and maintenance of common open space;
(E) Development timetable.

(Om 1634 S 82. 2004 )

(Onl. No 1779. ro-13-091

10.24.060Rezone—Hearingand findings.

The application for rezone to aplanned development zone shall be heard before the city of Selah hearing examiner at an open record public
heanng within the time and in the manner provided bv Chapter 10.26 of this title The recommendation of the hearing examiner to approve or deny
the application shallbe based on the following criteria:

(1) SubstanUal conformance to the city ofSelahUrban Growth AreaComprehensive Plan
(2)

https://library.municode.eom/HTML/16770/level2/TITI0ZO_CH10.24PLDEPDZODI.html 10/8/2014



The proposal's harmony with the surrounding area, or its potential future use;

(3) Thesystemofownership and meansofdevelopment, preserving and maintaining openspace:
W Theadequacy ofthesizeoftheproposed district toaccommodate thecontemplated development;
(3) Compliance with thecity's sutxjivision code, ifa proposed planned development application iscombined with a proposal todivide land

into lots;

(6) Compliance with thischapter.

(Om 1634 § 33. 2004.)

(Orti. No. 1779. 10-13-09)

10.24.070 Project densities. ..

Project densities shall not exceed the underlyingland use designations contained on the city of Selah Urttan GrowthArea Comprehensive
Plan Future Land Use Map.

(Onl. 1634 § 64. 2004.)

10.24.080 Common open space requirements.

(a) Common open space in a planned development zone shall meet the following requirements:
(1) The location, shape,sizeandcharacter oftheopenspace must be suitable for theplanned development:
(2) Common open space must beused for amenity orrecreational purposes. The uses authorized for thecommon open space must be

appropriateto the scale and characterof the planneddevelopment, considering itssize, density, expected population, topography and
number and type of dwelling units to be provided;

(3) Common open space must besuitably improved for its intended use. but common open space containing natural features may t>e left
unimproved. The buildings,structures and improvements which are permitted in the common open space must be appropriate to the
uses whichare authorized forcommon open space and must conserve and enhance the amenities of the common open space in
regard to its topography and unimproved condition.

(t>) The development schedule which isa part ofthedevelopment plan must coordinate improvement ofcommon openspace, construction of
buildings, structuresand improvements in the common open space and the construction of residential dwellings in the planneddevelopment.

(On) 1634 S 86. 2004.)

10.24.090 Retention and maintenance of common open space.

(a) The final developmentplanand program shall includea provision approvedby the hearing examineras beingsufficient to assure permanent
retentionand maintenance of the commonopen space ina planned development district. Such assurances may be in the formof restrictive
covenants, dedication of the open space to the publicwheresuch dedication will be accepted bythe legislative body,an undertaking by an
association ofowners ofproperty within the planned development district zone,or inanyother form or byanyothermethod approved bythe
hearing examiner and dty attorney as being practical and legally sufficient to assure the permanent retention and maintenance of the
common open space. All legal documents to carry out the plan and program in this regard shall be filedby the applicant withthe final
developmentplanand programaccompanying the rezone application, and shall be subjectto approvalas to fomn bythe dty attorney. All
such plans and programs stiall contain provisionswhereby the dty will be vested withthe rightto enforce the permanent retentionand
maintenance of the common open space and further that in the event the common open space is permittedto deteriorate, or is not
maintained in a condition consistentwith the approved planand program, then insuch event the citymayat its optioncause necessary
maintenanceto tie performed and assess the costs thereofto the owners of the properly within the planneddevelopment zone.

(b) No common open space may beput to any other use than asspecified in the approved final development plan unless the development plan
has tieen modifiedto permit such other use pursuant to Section 10.24.110 of this chapter. No such modification of use shall be deemed as a
waiver of any of the provisions of the approved finaldevelopment plan assuring the permanent retention and maintenance of the common
open space.

(On) 1634 § 86. 2004.)

10.24.100 Recommenclation of the hearing examiner—Subsequent procedure.

Atthe conclusion of the hearingbythe hearingexamineras provided forin Section 10.24060 of thischapter, the hearingexaminershall
recommendto the legislative txxiythat the application forrezone to planned development zone be eitherapproved,denied, or approvedwith
modifications specifiedbythe hearingexaminerinwritten findings. Within ten calendar days of receiptof the hearingexaminer's recommendation
the planning department shall mail to the applicant, at the address shownon the rezone application, notification of the hearingexaminer's
recommendation.

(b) The procedures provided forbvChapter 10.40.020 oftheSelahMunicipal Code(zoning ordinance) shall be followed to afford a review bythe
legislative bodyof the recommendation submitted by the hearingexaminerand to provide forthe adoptionor rejection of the hearing
examiner's recommendation.

(On). 1634 § 87. 2004 )

10.24.110 Modifications to development ..

(a) Major Modifications. Applications formajor modifications inthe final development planand program mustbe submitted to the planning
department for review and hearingsheldand recommendations made bythe hearing examiner and the legislative bodyshalladoptor reject
the hearing examirter's recommendationas ifsuch applicationwere an original application for a planned developmentzone.

(b) Mittor Modifications. Minor modifications in the final development plan and program may beapproved by the dtyadministrator. Such changes
maytndude minor shifting of the location of iMiildings. proposedstreets, public or private wayst>etween the easements, parksor other public

https://library.municode.eom/HTML/l6770/level2/TIT10ZO CHI0.24PLDEPDZODLhtml 10/8/2014



open spaces, or olherfeaturesofthe plan, butshallnot include those changes involving increasesofdensity, changes ofboundaries,
changes in land use or other changes of locationwhichare not devoted to specificland uses

(Om 1634 s 63. 2004.)

(Oixl No. 1679. § 1. S-8-12)

10.24.120 Reviewof previous planned development rezone approval.

Ifwithin eighteen months after the grantingof an applicationfor a planned developmentzone, substantial construction has not been
performed ontheapproved project, thehearing examiner may review at theexaminer's discretion theprevious approval oftheplanned development
rezone at a public hearing aftergiving written notice ofsuchhearing to the record owner(s) oftheaffected property as reflected in theofficial records
oftheYakima County assessor.Thenotice shall begiven at leasttvirenty days prior tosuchhearing, andafterotherwise giving notice ofsuch
hearing as required bv Title 21 of the Selah fiflunidpal Code.

(Om 1634 § 69. 2004 )

10.24.130 Review hearing for non-development

Hearings shall beheld at times, and in themanner, prescribed inTitle 21 oftheSelah Municipal Code andmay be continued as provided
therein. At such hearings thehearing examiner shall determine whether thecontinued existence ofsuch planned development zone is in thebest
interests ofthe public and such determination shall bebased on the criteria specified in 10.24.060 ofthis chapter. At the conclusion ofsuch hearing,
the hearing examiner shall recommend to the legislative body thattheexistence ofsuchplanned development zonebe continued orthatthearea
within such planned development zone berezoned toanother zone. In the event such recommendation isthat the area berezoned, theprocedure
specified inTitle 10.21of the Selah Municipal Code shall be followed to effectsuch rezone. Thissection shall notbe construedso as to divest the
hearing examiner orthelegislative body oftheauthority tootherwise rezone property within a planned development zone pursuant toandin
accordance with the provisions of Chanter 10.40of the Selah Municipal Code.

(OrO 1634 § 90. 2004 )

10.24.140 Reconstruction of buildings or improvements.

Replacement orreconstruction ofany buildings orimprovements damaged ordestroyed shall substantially conform tothe originally approved
planned development zone plan.

(On) 1634 § 91. 2004.)

10.24.150 Review of decision.

An aggrieved party shall make application for writ ofreview totheSuperior Court ofYakima County within thirty daysfrom thedecision tobe
reviewed. The cost oftranscription ofall records ordered certified by the court for such review shall be borne by the appellant, who shall pay such
sum in advance as requested by the city.

(Ortr 1634 § 92. 2004 )

https://library.municode.eom/HTML/l6770/level2/TITl OZO_CH10.24PLDEPDZODI.html 10/8/2014



I z - M i o 1 H

So c i'lS C T -L
SOMMERSETII

CHAPTER 10.24.030 CODE

PLANNED DEVELOPMENT (PD) ZONING DISTRia

1) The required map has been submitted.

A) The map shows the boundaries of the site.

B) All names and dimensions of the streets bounding the siteareshown

C) See attached photos.

D) Community open space is 1233SF and is located on Herlou Drie.

E) Public dedications are road rights-of-way and public utility easements as shown on the
proposed plan.

F) Public parking will beon the right of way for Lyie Loop Road.
Each unit has an attached two-car garage. Private parking will be in thegarage orthe
apron leading into each unit, allowing each unit four parking spaces. Points of ingress and
egress shall be directly infront of each garage.

G) No physiographicfeatures are on the site.

H) Existing contours are shown on the proposed plan.

I) Each site will be leveled to accommodate level footings andfoundations foreach
building. Some sites may require approved retaining walls at the perimeter of thesite.
Final grading and contours will be determined at the time ofsubmittal ofbuilding
permitsand will be Inspected by the City Building Inspector.

J) Final drainage, water, sewer and street Improvements for LyIe Loop Road prepared by
PLSA have been approved by the Public Works Director and are on file with theCity of
Selah.

Sewer and watermains have been installed in Phase Iandapproved by the Public Works
Director.

A16' utility easement between lots 9and 10 in Phase Iaccommodates thesewer design
for Phase III.

Final drainage, water,sewerand private road Improvements forPhase III shall be
designed and approved by the Public Works Director atthetime offinal platting ofPhase
III as per
Item #3 of the 21 conditionsof final plat approval.

K) Landscaping will consist ofgrass lawns and trees and shrubs maintained by the property
owners.



L) Buildings will be single famly homes at one house per lot.

M) Vehicle and pedestrian circulation will beasshown onthe attached map.

N) Lot configuration andsize are shown on the attached map.

2} Detailed Information;

A) The units will be for sale.

B) Not applicable.

C) Waste disposal will be provided by the City of Selah. Sewer mains for Phase Iare already
installed.

D) Street lighting will be by wooden pole street lights, as designed.

E) Water service shall be supplied by the City ofSelah. Water mains are already installed in
Phase I

Electricity supplied by Pacific Power & Light
Natural Gas supplied by Cascade Natural Gas

F) N.A.

G) As shown on attached map.

H) Phase Ishall be completed assoon aspossible after theCity ofSelah approval.
Subsequent phases shall be completed as the market determines.



SUPPLEMENT

1) The Preliminary Plat submitted toYakima County in their R-1 zone in 2012 was a "preliminary" plat
and could bealtered anytime prior to final platapproval. Once the property was annexed into the
City ofSelah, the previous preliminary platwasrendered null and void by Zuker-Sample.
There are 4.7 acres inthe propertyand the R-1 zoneallows up to 5 units/acre.

2) Since this property was included in the urban growth area (GMA) ofSelah, although itwas In Yakima
County, the Growth Management Act (GMA) ofthe 1990s gave the City ofSelah comprehensive land
use and zoning approval. This Act required diverse housing, efficient use ofproperty andaesthetic
design. This proposed project meets those criteria.



^SDr^^ . ' L

CITY OF SELAH NOTICE OF CANCELLED PLANNING

COMMISSION HEARING

AND

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING BEFORE THE CITY OF

SELAH HEARING EXAMINER

Zuker Sample, L.L.C. previously filed applications to Amend the Comprehensive Plan
amending an area designated as low density residential to moderate density residential (Plan
amendment 2014-01); an Application to thereafter Amend the Zoning Code applicable to the
area from R-1 to Planned Development and Application to subdivide the subject property into
thirty (33) individual single family lots. The Applications were considered by the Planning
Commission on September 30, 2014. The Planning Commission recommended their approval to
the City Council. The City Council heard the matter on October 14, 2014 and that lime did not
follow the recommendation for approval but instead remanded the matter back to the Planning
Commission due to a conflict of interest of one of the Commissioners and with direction to the

Planning Commission to more ftilly consider the criteria applicable to Comprehensive Plan
Amendments and Planned Development zoning. A hearing was scheduled before the Planning
Commission on remand for November 18, 2014.

Zuker Sample, L.L.C. has now withdrawn its Application to Amend the Comprehensive
Plan and is only pursuing applications for a rezonc to Planned Development and Preliminary Plat
approval. Because the Application for Comprehensive Plan Amendment has been withdrawn, the
Planning Commission will not consider the matter. The Application for a Rezone to Planned
Development and Preliminary Plat approval will be heard by the City of Selah Hearing
Examiner.

The City of Selah Hearing Examiner hereby provides notice that Zuker Sample, L.L.C.
has submitted an amended application requesting the rezone and preliminary plat of 4.70 acres
from One Family Residential (R-1) to Planned Development (PD) and preliminary plat approval
to subdivide the site into twenty-four (24) individual single-family residential lots consistent with
the Planned Development Plan. Each lot would be served with municipal water and sewage
service and accessible cither from Lylc Loop or a private roadway assessing six (6) lots. Average
lot size within the subdivision would be approximately 7,000± sq. ft. in area.

Proposed Zoning Map Amendment 914.42.14-04
Proposed Preliminary Subdivision 912.42.14-05 "Somerset 11'

Proposed Zoning Map Amend the Official City of Selah Zoning Map from One-Family
Amendment Residential (R-1) to Planned Development (PD) based on a specific
914.42.14-04 site development plan. (Parcels: 181426-44005 and 181426-44021)



Proposed Preliminary Subdivide Ihe 4.70± acres into twenty-four (24) parcels served by
Plat 912.42.14-04 public and private streets, municipal water and seweragesystems,

and include drainage and street illumination,

Location: East of Hcrlou Drive approximately 75 ft. north of Lyle
Loop and 100 ft. .south of Wccms Way.

The Hearing Examiner's public hearing will be held on Thursday, December 4'̂ , 2014,
commencing at 7:00 p.m., or as soon thereafter as practical, in the Council Chambers, City Hall
Building, i 15 West Naches Avenue. Selah, WA.

Application infonnation and maps detailingthe proposals are availablefor public inspection
during regular business hours at the City of Selah Planning Department, 222 South Rushmorc
Road, Selah, WA. Persons who wish to testify in supportof, or against, the proposed rezone
and/or subdivision are encouraged to attend. All written comments received before the day of the
open record public hearing will be considered. If you submit written comments be sure to
reference file numbers 914.42.14-04 (planned development rezone) and/or 912.42.10-04
(preliminary plat) in your correspondence.

The Examiner will forward a recommendation of rezone and subdivision approval, approval with
conditions, or denial to the Selah City Council for theirconsideration and final disposition, The
Examiner's open record public hearing is the only opportunltv to provide comment,
testimony, and evidence concerning the proposals.

If you have project or procedural questions please feel free to contact Dennis Davison,
Community Planner in person at 222 South Rushmorc Road, Selah, by phone at 1 (509) 698-
7365 or by fax at I (509) 698-7372.

Dated this 14th day ofNovember, 2014.

/s/

Dennis Davison, Community Planner



Yakima County Flanniny

iS I

.'J!

/ / / r —/>a>w ••
/ I I

l-J
Llii//

19 ."h

It) ?
9/oa s^>

^ Af'.AS

t j 2 "likjSsrj;
<11 I • . I"

=5^3!

nf/ f?;
SrT>9fr9 J>«£^ ^

F'[«)f'()SE[) f'LAT OF
SOMERSET ESTATES
PAI?T OF.THE SE.1/4, SEC.20,TWN, J^IOEWM

Ui

i\.A- - .^1
'i—.
,9V«& *(<»wfe«>»y

1-

I •

ai

. I I I tl I

••miis

VICINITY MAP

Z9,se,Sf 5Z.
f - /^->e /. ^ ^ ft

1 '.• . ^"27
I * A*9T^t ^ ^»»»«—999
! /ig* ^ 7»^ jr^fc*.*
I y^tf>.^ ^ /3i^^ fta
• -A ^9 I n - -

/aii,r9 /<»«% f n^" —1^ g
^ly ^ 7f> <

I ITS
^ffAfA AJf9.

J- V//ao - -.<^1*
- - ,^/<5

-^3^02. -

A-Oh^
/^ -yerjcz. 5137^6-A

//W/^ f^o'
1Z6e>Ui^^ES>

5 '11 * xneea .
ipfi _ /Slf3e,-'%^6jesz. JST

^££. /S^^U>PS^

- •/>*«fi»rvSU ^
ZiAsa^

s. acS
A'^ 5S»eeJ

S K

U |_
2H?

u3e ;

ORAWK &r
SOa/

DATE

sHca

1



11 10

S." ~ JIT

BOARD OF YAKIMA COUNTY COMMISSIONERS

IN THE MATTER OF APPROVAL )
OF PRELIMINARY PLAT NO. 454 ) RESOLUTION NO. 280-1997
KNOWN AS "Somerset Investment" )

WHEREAS, according to Yakima County Ordinance No. 10-1974, relating to
platting, subdivision and the dedication of land and adopted pursuant to ROW 58.17, a
public hearing was held on June 10, 1997, at 10:30 a.m., in Room 420, Yakima County
Courthouse, Yakima, Washington for the purpose of considering Preliminary Plat No.
454, known as "Somerset Investment" described as follows:

Parent Parcel Numbers 181426-43400,43401.43402, and 44004

This property is located on the east side of Herlou Road between Weems and Goodlander
Roads, adjacent to the city ofSelah. Situated in Yakima County, State ofWashington

and,

WHEREAS, testimony was taken from those persons who wished to be heard;
and,

WHEREAS, the Board of Yakima County Commissioners has reviewed the
Findings of Fact from the Hearing Examiner in support of approval on the Prelimin^
Plat No. 454 and hereby adopts said findings as part of the decision contained herein;
and,

WHEREAS, due notice of the hearing was given as required by law, and the
necessary inquiry has been made into the public use and interest to be served by such
platting; and,

WHEREAS, the Board of Yakima County Commissioners has considered
elements ofpublic health, safety, and general welfare pertaining to the preliminary plat;
now, therefore,

BE IT HEREBY RESOLVED by the Board of Yakima County Commissioners that
Preliminary Plat designated as "Somerset Investment," be and the same hereby is,
approved along with the following conditions;



Resolution No. 280-1997

ROADS

1. The public road improvements for the interior street must be designed and
constructed to current Yakima County standards for urban access streets complete
with a sidewalk on one side and street lighting to meet Yakima County lighting
requirements. Street plans must be prepared by a licensed professional engineer
and reviewed and approved by the County Engineer prior to construction.

Prior to approval of Phase I of the plat, the street extending easterly from Herlou
Drive must terminate in a temporary cul-de-sac, with an end-of-road barricade,
meeting the requirements of the County Engineer.

2. Prior to the approval of Phase 2 of the plat, the street along the north must be
constructed and must extend to Herlou Drive in order to provide a second
connecting street. The street must be built to a minimum 24 foot paved width,
within 35 feet of dedicated right-of-way. This roadway must include curbs,
gutters, sidewalks, and streetlights. The street, including connection to Herlou
Drive, must be constructed within the plat unless right-of-way is granted from the
property owners to the north. A temporary end-of-road barricade meeting the
requirements of the Public Works Department must be installed until the second
street is constructed. The intersection must meet intersection site distances as

determined by Public Works.

3. Barrier curbing must be installed around the radii of the intersection of the new
plat streets and Herlou Drive to the end of the radius before transitioning into
mountable curbing. Approved mountt^le curbing may be installed on the
remainder of the interior streets as approved by the County Engineer. The
minimum radius forcurbing at intersections is 25 feet.

4. Sidewalks adjacent to rolled curbs and gutters shall be six (6) inches thick instead
of the standard four (4) inch thickness.

5. Sixty feet of public road right-of-way including 30 feet by 30 feet clear vision
triangles or approved radii at all road intersections must be dedicated for the
interior plat streets unless the developer's engineer can demonstrate to the
satisfaction of the County Engineer that the improvements can be constructed
within 50 feet of right-of-way.

6. The location of any proposed and/or existing roadapproach to Herlou Drive must
be applied for, reviewed and approved by the County Engineer. Lots 2 and 17
must gain access by way of the interior plat street.



Resolution No. 280-1997

ROADS rrONTINIIFn^

7. The Yakima County Public Works Department will determine if any road signs
are required for this development. If so, they will be installed by the Public
Works Department prior to acceptance of the road and all costs associated with
supplying and installing the signs must be reimbursed to Yakima County by the
developer. All road names must be approved by Public Works.

8. The developer must arrange a pre-construction conference prior to any road or
utility construction within the proposed or existing road right-of-ways and an
inspector must inspect the actual road construction.

WATER. SF.WKR. AND I.TTT fTTRS

9. All lots must be served with public sewer and water.

10. Ail public and private utilitiesmust be underground.

11. Fire hydrants must be provided and installed by the developer at locations and to
the specifications of the Yakima County Fire Marshal.

12. Storm water drainage facilities to accommodate runoff generated within the plat,
must comply with a drainage facilities plan prepared by the developer's licensed
professional engineer (LPE) and approved by the County Engineer.

The plans must include any required alterations to the existing underground storm
drain system (and the streetlight) for HerlouDrive at bothapproach locations.

13. Detailed plans for all proposed utilities within right-of-ways must be submitted
for reviewand approval prior to construction of the utilities.

14. Minimum 10 foot wide utility easements must be provided adjacent to all public
road right-of-ways and as specified by the utility providers.

ISQTES ON THE PT,AT

15. The following notes must be placed on the face of theplat:

a. Road approach permits are required for each lot. All road approaches
must be reviewed and approved by the County Engineer prior to the
issuanc^fabuilding permit. No direct access shall be permitted for Lots
2 and (TT^xcept hvwav of the interior street.



L

Resolution No. 280-1997

NOTKS ON THK Pf .AT rrONTINUEDt

b. The owners shown hereon, their grantees and assignees in the interest
hereby covenant and agree to retain all surface water generated within the
plat on-site. Any natural drainage ways must not be altered or impeded.

c. A portion of the lots contain a Type 5 Stream as defined in the Critical
. >0 ^ Area Ordinance. As such, a25 foot building setback is required for lots

, 28, 29, and 30 (lot 27 shall be included in this, if physical inspection
(h establishes location of the outfall on lot 27).

W
d. An outside utility agreement with the City of Selah requires that the more

stringent building and fire code provisions of the City of Selah or Yakima
Countyapply to all construction.

MISCELLANROIJS

16. Final lot dimensions and lot area must substantiallyconform with the preliminary
plat.

17. A method of dust control during the construction phases must be submitted to,
and approved by, the Yakima Clean Air Authority. A written copy of their
approval must be submitted to the Plaiming Department prior to construction of
any work phase. The developer must designate a responsible party for contacts
during workinghours regarding alleged air quality violations.

18. Monuments must be placed at street intersections and curvature points as
specified in Yakima County Code Section 14.32.020. The monuments must be
protectedby cases andcovers as approved by the County Engineer.

19. Prior to recording the final plator issuance of building permits, all required plat
improvements must be installed, or alternatively, an escrow account established or
a bond provided in an amount and with conditions acceptable to the County
Engineer, to assure installation of all required improvements. Building permits
may be issued on a lot-by-lot basis, by the County Engineer, when determined
that buildingconstmction will not interfere with utility and roadway constmction.

20. If the developer elects to escrow or bond for the required plat improvements as
provided below, and fails to complete them in the time specified in the escrow or
bond agreement, the County Engineer shall have the authorityto suspend issuance
of building permits or occupance permits until the required improvements are
accepted as satisfactorily completed.



Resolution No. 280-1997

MISCEI.f .ANKOUS frONTTNIIirn>

21. The total project must be completed and the final plat submitted with in the
maximum five year time periodset forth in RCW 58.17.140.

Done this 10"' day of June, 1997.

ATTEST:

SylviaE. Hinojosa, Clerkofthe Board

WillianiM. Flower, Chainnan

Settle Ingham, County CotnraKjioner

James M. Lewis,
Constitutingthe
for Yakiina County,

mnussioner

County Commissioners
hington



PBELIMINARY PLAT
or

SOMERSET II
P«T CF Tf« tt/a. SEI/t SEC 9« Tl« Rl« Ml

sf ffSSt"™

JlW-t T,f?^^V-"-f- ^-|lR^^^—fi^t-^-^T ^ ia-i« ^ ra3!^3£«i':!£

'I 'r
1^^" • '̂' }j •|;

II *'— f . ''_ LTLE 1.I1F wui; '̂/'''

'•;.'!.sp,-ianrtja'a te3aisai.v%jf.ansN7Ki

•AMIS KjbJ ••••

cnantn »mi

CiRTIH BHi

cnfiH M

MSftW «!•

IIXIX

cnntB MBA «<iB

ecntM iwi iu

trtvtm «4<» lAcoi

^7^s»s^3®;>TOS?:ri.^-2iirra,-sB —.
PS KCSIj—kpllR"* M** •> «u» ir*ia A «iiriiM» mi.h•«? •>

SSB ' ••Hi Mff*114

MMCb •

as'O'Wj:!?«;- lafi«.Tr. •AB.'s.Teii.'ir.SLji—" - •

T.mmiKii

VMM^:
iintiisfci!

iPM

c:7.r..rjTt..

li'Si

;r-/.,s£?-iii^;,-,K'!;l«

SELAH VICINITY MAP
Ktl

CxHis^- ll
\Z- S - _
^>OV\'^CV^StL- )



Yukima Counlv CilS

JPiiri Map] (Close Map]

PROPERTY PHOTO

Yakimap.c^m

wmm
••

ESHbiIIS

PROPERTY INPORMATION

iPateelAdpress. HERLOU DR/WEEMS WY, ,WA
•Parcel Owner(s): ZUKER ZUKER SAMPLE DEVELOPMEnfLLC
'Parcel Number 18142644005 jParcel Size: 2.03 Acre(s|
Properly Use' 91 ResldetrHal land Undeveloped

TAX AND ASSESSMENT INFORMATION

iTax Code Area (TCA). 403 iTax Year 2012
'Improvemeni Value: SO

Cu^ntUse Value: $0

NewConslruclion;$0

iLand Value $42350
iCurrentUse Improvemeni $0

ItoIsI Assessed Value S42350

750 1000

_ OVERLAY INFORMATION
Zoning R-1 ^ Jurisdiclion: County
Urban Growlh Area Selah _ PuTure Landuse Designation. UGA (Yaklma County plan 2015)
FEMA Not In floodplain (X) 1fiRMPanel Number. 53077C0716D" ~

LOCATION INFORMATION
- Latilude46'40' 06.623 ' |> Longllude-120° 32' 05.852" |Range:18 Township 14 Section 26
Narianve Deseripiion- Section 26 Township14 Rai>ge 18 Quarter SE:W400 FT OF Nir2Nl/2Sei/4 SE1/4. EX S 110FT

DISCLAIMER
MAP AND PARCEL DATA ARE BELIEVED TO BE ACCURATE, BUT ACCURACY IS NOT GUARANTEED THIS IS NOT ALEGAL
DOCUMENT AND SHOULD NOT BE SUBSTITUTED FOR ATITLE SEARCH, APPRAISAL SURVEY FLOODPLAIN OR ZONING
VERIFICATION

lutp:/A\\\vv.yakimap.coin''servlci/com.c.sri.c.srini!ip.r.siimap?namo=YakGJSI!&C'md- i^iin... IO/.>l/20n



PROPERTY PHOTO PROPERTY tNFORMATION

Parcel Address: LYLELOOP RD/HERLOU RD, SELAH ,WA98942
Parcel Owner(s>; ZUKER ZUKER SAMPLE DEVELOPMENT LLC

Parcel Number 18142644021 Parcel Size: 2.67 Acre(s)
Property Use: 91 Residential land Undeveloped

TAX AND ASSESSMENT INFORMATION

TaxCodeAreafTCA): 403 iTa* Year; 2012
Improvement Value: SO Land Value. S440S0

CurrentUse Value: $0 ICurrentUse Improvement: $G

New ConsIrucllon:$0 T otal Assessed Value:$440S0

OVERLAY INFORMATION

Zoning; R.1 Jurisdlctlort: Counfy
Urban Growth Area: Selah

FEMA: Not in floodplain (X)
Future Landuse Designation: UGA (Yahlma County Plan 2015)
FIRM Panel Number: 53077C07160

LOCATION INFORMATION
♦ Latllude:46''40' 04.914" I* Longitude:-120* 32'06.076" |Range:18 Township:14 5ection:26
Narrative Description: Section 28 Township 14 Range 18 Quarter SE: BEG NW COR LOT 24 OF "PLAT OF SOMERSET 1"(AF#
7194172), TH N89"19'25"E 122.76 FT. TH N00* 06" 3r' E23.4 FT, TH N89* 53TH NOO* 34' 29"W147.7 FT.TH S 89* 54" 29" E
660.97 FT, TH S 00* 34' 29" E 77.13 FT.THS 89* 19'25" W 139.1 FT,TH S 00* 40'35" E 93.99 FTTOPOB ALSOTH PTNVAC
R/W DESC AS1 PLAT OF "SELANDIA MANOR" TH N89* 34" 00" E138.88 FT, TH NOO* 21'00"WTO NE COR SD PLAT TH TH
S 25* 20' 24" W TO POB

DISCLAIMER

MAP AND PARCEL DATA AREBELIEVED TO BEACCURATE. BUT ACCURACY IS NOTGUARANTEED: THIS ISNOTALEGAL
DOCUMENT AND SHOULD NOT BESUBSTITUTED FOR A TITLE SEARCH, APPRAISAL. SURVEY. FLOODPLAIN OR ZONING
VERIFICATION

htlp:/Avww.yakimap.com/servlet/com.esri.esrimap.Esrimap?name=YakGlSH&Cind=l'iin... 10/31/20! 1



D!K^Q.iSii
OJHIWUV ii:

PRELIMINARY LONG PLAT
SITE PLAN SUBMITTAL CHECKLIST

Yakima County Public Services
128 North Second Street • Fourth Floor Courthouse • Yakima, Washington 98901
(509) 574-2300 • 1-800572-7354 • FAX (509) 574-2301 •www.co.vakima.wa.us

This supplemental checklist is a required submittai for your long plat proposal. Check the box beside those
items you have included on your site plan. Cross through the entire line of an item if you think it does not
apply. The administrative official may require additional information.
A sample site plan is available for your assistance. For information or assistance, please contact Public
Services.

YeS: No

imim

Required Site Plian Information:

All required items on the Site Plan Minimum Requirements Submittai Checklist.
Proposed name of the subdivision (the name cannot be a duplicate of a name used on any other recorded
subdivision in Yakima Countv).

Location of the subdivision by section, township, and range. ^

Names and addresses of the owners, subdivider, designer of the subdivision and the surveyor.

Full and correct legal description of the entire parcel to be subdivided.

Existing property lines of the entire parcel to be subdivided, including dimensions and acreage enclosed,
drawn at a scale ol at least 1 inch » 200 feet.

Contour lines with 5 fool intervals or less showing elevation, ifground slope exceeds three percent.
Contour lines extended 100 feet beyond boundaries of the subdivision if individual sewage disposal systems
are contemplated, and if ground slope exceeds three percent.
Existing uses of the property, including those uses whicfi are not contained within structures.

Proposed uses of the property.

Location of any existing and proposed walks, curbs, gutters, culverts, buried conduits and subsurface drains.

The location, name, right-of-way widtfi, approximate radii of curves and approximate grades and gradients of
all proposed streets, alleys or roads within or on the boundary of the proposed subdivision,

Approximate linear dimensions of all lot boundaries and approximatesizes of lots with proposed lot and block
numbers. Please check to make sure lol sizes and shapes comply with applicable zoning regulations for
your zoning district.

A brief statement regarding the contemplated sewage disposal, water supply, and drainage improvements for
the oroDOsed subdivision.

fvlinimum building setback lines according to applicable zoning laws. Atypical lot may show setbacks for all
regular shaped interior lots. All setback lines must be shown on irregular shaped and comer lots.

Proposed cross section(s) of interior and bordering streets.

Location of aii existing and proposed fire hydrants.

Vicinity map of at least 800 feet surrounding the subdivision (use separate sheet if necessary) to include: All
other existing subdivisions and their names; roads or road reservations; other parcels; streams; public
buildings and areas; and any other pertinent information that will assist in the consideration of the proposal.

All other exisling sutxiivisions and their names

Roads or road reservations

Acreage and property lines with dimensions

Streams

Public buildings and areas

Anyother pertinent information that will assist in the consideration of the proposal

By signing this fo are certityuu that the above information is attached and accurate.

Signature:



'SERVICE

P

!'• •••» <COMUIllllff rr

PRELIMINARY LONG PLAT
Supplemental Checklist

Yakima County Public Services
128 North Second Street •Fourth Floor Courthouse •Yakima. Washington 98901
(509) 574-2300 •1-800 572-7354 •FAX (509) 574-2301 •wvtfw.co.yakima.v/a.us

Form # PLN S 002-SC2-A
Revised 4/1/10

This supplemental checklist is arequired submittal for your long plat proposal. Check the box beside those items you
have induded on your site plan. Cross through the entire line of an item if you think it does not apply
Asample site plan is available for your assistance. For information or assistance, please contact Public Services.

1 w n All required items on the Site Plan Minimum Requirements Submittal Checklist.
2

'—•'

•
Proposed name of the subdivision (the name cannot be aduplicate of aname u.sed on any other
recordedsubdivision in YakimaCounty).

rrr n Location of the subdivision by section, township, and range.

4 fpf n Names and addresses ofthe owners, subdivides designer ofthe subdivision and the surveyor.
n Full and correct legal description ofthe entire parcel to be subdivided.

6 •
Existing property lines of the entire parcel to be subdivided, including dimensions and acreage
enclosed, drawn at a scaleof at least 1 inch = 200 feet.

7 ny n Contour lines with 5 foot intervals orless showing elevation, if ground slope exceeds three percent.

8 • •
Contour lines extended 100 feet beyond boundaries of the subdivision ifindividual sewage disposal
systems are contemplated, and ifground slope exceeds three percent.

q n Existing uses of the property, including those uses which are not contained within structures.
10 n Proposed uses of the property.

II •
Location of any existing and proposed walks, curbs, gutters, culverts, buried conduits and subsurface
drains. ——

12 •
The location, name, right-of-way width, approximate radii ofcurves and approximate grades and
gradients of all proposed streets, alleys or roads within or on the boundary of the proposed
subdivision.

13

/

•
Approximate linear dimensions of all lot boundaries and approximate sizes of lots with proposed lot
and block numbers. Please check to make sure lot sizes and shapes comply with applicable zoning
regulations for your zoning district.

14 [zf •
Abrief statement regarding the contemplated sewage disposal, water .supply, and drainage
improvements for the proposed subdivision.

15 q/
/

•
Minimum building setback lines according to applicable zoning laws. Atypical lot may show
setbacks for all regular shaped interior lots. All setback lines must be shown on irregular shaped and
comer lots.

16 PI -n Proposed crosssection(s) of interiorand bordering strceLs.

17 pf n Location of all existing and proposed fire hydrants.

18 izT •

Vicinity map of at least 800 feet surrounding the subdivision (use separate sheet if nece.ssary) to
include: All existing other subdivisions and their names; roads or road reservations; other parcels;
streams; public buildings and areas; and any other pertinent information that will assist in the
consideration of the proposal.

By signing this fori

Signature:

re certifyin t the above information is attached and accurate.

n„... 7/7/g//Ll



CtTYOFSELAH
115 WestNachcs Avenue
Selah,WA.98942

* 7 8 5 7 0 9

FILE# 7857093
YAKIHA COUNTY, WA
t2/0t/2014 0I:27:40PH

ORDlNflUtE

PACES: 9

VAKIHA COUNTY PLANHINO OEPARTKENT

Recording Fee: 80.00

reference number of documents assigned or RELEASED:

names OF

HNoHh.Range ,8

East, W.M.

ASSESSORS TAX PARCEL NUMBERS:

181426.43472,43473.43474,44001,44002,44003,44005,44011,44015,44018,44019,
44020,44021,44022,44418,44420,44421,44422,44423,44426,44429,44430,44431,44432,
44433 44436,44437,44438,44439,44440,44441,44442,44443,44444,44445,44446,44447,
44448' 44449,44450,44451,44452,44453,44454,44455,44456,44457,44458,44459,44460
and 44461 together with any portion ofthe right ofway ofOoodlander Road lying between the
westerty right ofway line ofSeiah Loop Road, also known as North First Street, and the
southerly extension ofthe westerly right ofway line ofHerlou Drive.

(E'-xBiBn

Yakima County Auditor Flln ff — Pago 1of 8 •

1

-r-i



xn " to I )

12- H

FINAL DETERMINATION OF

NONSIGNIFICANCE

1. DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSAL:

(a) Reclassify 4.70 acres from Low Density Residential (maximum five units per acre)
to Moderate Density Residential (maximum twelve units per acre).
(b) Rezone the acreage from One-Family Residential (R-1) to Planned Development
(PD) based on a specific site development plan.
(3) Consider the Preliminary Plat of"Somerset H" subdividing the site into thirty-
three (33) individual lots for the construction ofsingle-family residences. Each lot is tobe
served with municipal water and sewerage service, accessible via either a public or
private street connecting toHerlou Drive. The development will include curbs and
gutters, street drainage and street illumination.

2. PROPONENT: Zuker-Saraple LLC
1304 Heritage Hills Place
Selah, WA. 98942

3. LOCATION OF PROPOSAL: East ofHerlou Drive approximately 75 ft. north ofLyle
Loop and 100 ft. south of Weems Way. (Taxation Parcels: 181326-44005 and
181426-44021).

4. LEAD AGENCY: CityofSelah File Number: 971.42.14-07

5. A Determination of Nonsignificance (DNS) was issued under RCW 43.21C andthe lead
agency did notacton thisproposal for 14days from theissue date.

6. DNS issuedate:September 16,2014

FINAL DNS ISSUE DATE: October 3,2014.

David Kelly, City Admijjfisb^tor / SEPA Responsible Oificial

SIGNATURE:

APPEALS: Any action to set aside, enjoin,Bcview, orotherwise challenge such action on the
grounds ofnon-compliance with the provisions ofChapter 43.21c RCW (State Environmental
Policy Act) shall be commenced within five (5) business days, ofthe Final DNS issue day, or
before October 10,2014.

IT



DETERMINATION OF NONSIGNIFICANCE

1. DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSAL:

(a) Reclassify 4.07 acres from Low Density Residential (maximum five units peracre)
to Moderate Density Residential (maximum twelve unitsperacre).
(b) Rezone the acreage from One-Family Residential (R-1) to Planned Development
(PD) based on a specific site development plan.
(3) Consider the Preliminary Plat of "Somerset 11" subdividing the site into thirty-
three (33) individual lotsfor the construction of single-family residences. Eachlot is to be
served with municipal water and sewerage service, accessible via either a public or
privatestreet connecting to HerlouDrive.The development will include curbsand
gutters, street drainage and street illumination.

2. PROPONENT: Zuker-Sample LLC
1304 Heritage Hills Place
Selah, WA. 98942

3. LOCATION OF PROPOSAL: East ofHerlou Drive approximately 75 ft. north of Lyle
Loop and 1GO ft. south of Weems Way. (Taxation Parcels: 181326-44005 and
181426-44021).

4. LEAD AGENCY: CityofSelah File Number: 971.42.14-07

5. The lead agency for this proposal has determined that it will not have a probable significant
adverse impact onthe environment and anEnvironmental Impact Statement (EIS) isnot
required under RCW 43.21 C. This decision was made after review ofacompleted
environmental checklist, theproposed comprehensive planamendment, rezone and
preliminary plat and other information on file with thelead agency. This information is
available forpublic inspection during regular business hours at the City of Selah Public
WorksDepartment, 222 So. Rushmore Road,Selah,WA.

This DNS isissued under WAC 197-11-340; the lead agency will not act on this proposal for 14
days from the issue date. Comments must besubmitted by5:00 p.m. September 29th 2014.

6. RESPONSIBLE OFFICIAL: DAVID KELLY

7. POSITION/TITLE: CITY ADMINISTRATOR
8. ADDRESS: 113 W. Naches Ave. Selah, WA. 98942
9. ISSUE DATE: September 16,2QJ
10. SIGNATURE:

DETERMINATION OF NONSIGNIFICANCE

Somerset IIComprehensive Plan Amendment; Planned Development Rezone; andSubdivision
FILE: 971-42-14=07



CITY OF SELAE
Planning Department

222 South Rushmore Road

SELAH, WASHINGTON 98942
Phone S09-698-7365

Fax S09-698-7372

TO: SEPA Reviewing Agencies

FROM: Cityof Seiah Planning Department

SUBJ: ER-971.42.14-07

This is tonotify all public and private agencies with jurisdiction and/or environmental expertise
that the City of Seiah has been established as the lead agency pursuant to the Washington State
Environmental Policy Act (SEPA) for the following proposal:

(a) Reclassify 4.07 acres from Low Density Residential (maximum five units per acre)
to Moderate Density Residential (maximum twelve unitsper acre).
(b) Rezone the acreage from One-Family Residential (R-1) to Planned Development
(PD) based on a specificsite development plan.
(3) Consider the Preliminary Plat of"Somerset 11" subdividing the site into thirty-five
(35) individual lots for the construction of single-family residences. Each lot is to be
served with municipal water and sewerage service, accessible via either a public or
privatestreetconnecting to Herlou Drive. Thedevelopment will include curbsand
gutters, street drainage and street illumination.

The project site is located East ofHerlou Drive approximately 75 ft. north ofLyle Loop and 100
ft. south of Weems Way. (Taxation Parcels: 181326-44005 and 181426-44021).

The City of Seiah is lead agency for this proposal and has assigned file number 971.42.14-07

The lead agency for this proposal has determined that it will not have a probable significant
adverse impact onthe environment and an Environmental Impact Statement (EIS) isnot required
under RCW 43.21 C. This determination was made after a review of the completed environmental
checklist, the proposed preliminary plat, and other information on file with the lead agency. This
information is available forpublic inspection during regular business hours at the Public Works
Department, 222 So. Rushmore Road, Seiah, WA.

Attached is the Determination ofNonsignificance (DNS), the environmental checklist, project
and vicinity maps.

TheDetermination of Nonsignificance (DNS) was issued September 15,2014under WAC 197-
11-350(3); the lead agency will not act on this proposal for 14days from the issuedate.
Comments must be submitted by 5:00 p.m. on March 29,2014.



SUBJ: ER - 971.42.14-07

"SomersetU" Comprehensive Plan Amendment, Planned Development Rezone and Preliminary
Plat

Feel free to comment by separate letteror completing and submitting thecomment page.

() This project does not affect us

0 We have no comments

WE HAVE THE FOLLOWING COMMENTS:

DATE: AGENCY:

SIGNATURE:

TITLE:

TELEPHONE NO.:



CITY OF SELAH
PLANNING DEPARTMENT

113 WEST NACHES AVENUE

SELAH, WA 98942
PHONE: (509)698-7365 FAX(509) 698-7372

ENVIRONMENTAL CHECKLIST

FILENUMBER: ^ ^ / N - C? J
DATE FEE PAID ., »,S-- 2.0 I M

RECEIVED BY '^1 /
FEE: $275

INTRODUCTION ~~

The State Environmental Policy Act (SEPA), Chapter 43.21C RCW, requires all governmental agencies to consider the environmental
iiipacts ofaproposal before making decisions. An environmental impact statement (EIS) must be prepared for all proposals with
probable significant adverse impacts on the quality ofthe environment. The purpose ofthis checklist is to provide information to help
you and the agency identify impacts fi-om your proposal (and to reduce or avoid impacts fi'om the proposal ifit can be done) and to
help theagency decide whether anEIS is required.

This environmental checklist asks you to describe some basic information about your proposal. Government agencies use this
checklist to determine whether the environmental inpacts ofyour proposal are significant, requiring preparation ofan EIS. Answer
the questions briefly, with the most precise information known, orgive the best description you can.

You must answer each question accurately and carefully, to the best ofyour knowledge. In most cases, you should be able to answer
the questions from your own observations or project plans without the need to hire experts. Ifyou really do not know the answer or if
aquestion does not apply to your proposal, write "do not know" or "does not apply". Complete answers to the questions now may
avoid unnecessary delays later.

Some questions ask about governmental regulations, such as zoning, shoreline, and.landmark designations. Answer these questions if
you can. Ifyou have problems, the governmental agencies can assist you.

TTie checklist questions apply to all parts ofyour propos^even ifyou plan to do them over aperiod of time or on different parcels of
land. Attach any additional infoimatidn that will help describe your proposal of its ehvifonm^^ Th^apicylo ^ch~you'
submit this checklist; may ask you to explain your answers or provide additional information reasonably related to determining if there
maybesignificant adverse inqiacts.

Complete this checklist for nonproject proposals, even though questions may be answered "does not apply". IN ADDITION comnletp
the SUPPLEMENTAL SHEET FOR NONPROJECT ACTIONS (part D). ' ^

For nonproject actions, the references in the checklist to the words "project applicant," and "property ofsite" should be read as
"proposal," "proposer," and "affected geographic area," respectively.

BACKGROUND

1. Name ofproposed project, if applicable: <eT"lL
2. Name of applicant:

3. Address and phone number of applicant and contact person: 7^^ ^ , jrr / , ^ C>t
. y y 1304- nlLLS4. Date checklist submitted: / /20/74- UJ^

5. Agency requiring checklist: CITY OF SELAH ^
6. Proposed timing or schedule (including phasing, ifapplicable):



7. Do youhave any plans for futureadditions, expansion, or furtheractivity related to or connected with this proposal? If
yes, explain.

8. List any environmental information you know about that has been prepared, or will be prepared, directly related to
this proposal.

9. Do you know whether applications are pending for governmental approvals or other proposals directly affecting the
property covered by your proposal? If yes, explain. f\/^

are several questions later in thischecklist that askyouto describe c^ain amectsofyourproposal. You do notneed to -
repeat those answers on this page. nCl^6> ^n(20^ C>(l}
ei^ els'fy9/^iL/ fi'aT:>-TotO0Ml(sfCo-lOTUPe) Lor^

12. Location of the proposal. Give sufutient information for a personto understand the precise locatiffn of yourproposed
project, including a street address, if any, and section, township, and range, if known. If a proposal would occur over a
range of area, provide the rangeor boundaries of the site(s). Provide a legal description, site plan, vicinity map, and
topographic map, if reasonably available. While you should submit any plans required by the agency, you are not
required to duplicatemaps or detailedplans submitt^with any permit applications related to this checklist.

AiJve)creo^tcAj
Taxation parcel numbers(s): /^OO P13.

TO BE COMPLETED BY APPLICANT EVALUATION FOR AGENCY USE

ONLY

B. Environmental Elements

1. Earth

a. General description of the site (circle one): Flat^ollinuhilly, steep slopes, mountainous, other .

b. What is the steepest slope on the site (approximate percent slope)? ^^ ^^72y PoEXiOfS^
c. What general types of soils are found on the site (for example, clay, sand, gravel, peat, muck)? If you know the

classificationpf agricultural soils,specifythem and note any prime farmland.
IV/AJP BLOtV^

d. Are there surface indications or history of unstable soils in the immediate vicinity? If so, describe.
^0

Describethe purpose, type, and approximate quantities of any filing or grading proposed.Indicate sourceof fill.
Awn nes UoKidO^oo ^i-orLB/ecid^

Coulderosion occuras a result ofclearing, construction, or use?If so,generally describe. '

A'DT SK^ViFtC/^ lOT
g. About what percent ofthe site will becovered with imifervious surfaces afterproject construction (forexample, asphalt

or buildings)?

h. Proposedmeasures to reduce or controlerosion,or other impacts to the earth, if any:

^ ^ r fs^j C£S \/J^reiS-l, GjHAVI/f Co 01 (^/4CnOA,

f.

2. Air

a. What typesof emissions to the air would result from the proposal (i.e., dust, automobile, odors, industrial wood smoke)
during construction and when the project is completed? If any, generallydescribeand give approximate quantities if

^'^COUi'T/ttAO'ioo C6luie /'Ifvor
b. Are there any off-sitesources of emissions or odor that may affectyour proposal? If so, generally describe.

NO



c. Proposed measures to reduce or control emissions or other impacts to air, if any:

, ts/OfOS \/C(\OuJO
3. Water

a. Surface:

1) Is there anysurface water body onor in the immediate vicinity ofthe site (including year-round and seasonal
streams, saltwater, lakes, ponds, wetlands)? If yes, describe type and provide names. If appropriate, state what
stream or river it flows into. /s/O

2) Will the project require any work over, in, oradjacent to(within 200 feet) the described waters? Ifyes, please
describe and attach available plans. f\jO

3) Estimate the amount of Till and dredge material that would beplaced in or removed from surface water orwetlands and indicate the area of the site t^^w^^e affected. Indicate the source of fill material.
4) Will the proposal require surface water withdrawals or diversions? Give general description, purpose, and

approximate quantities ifknown. /\J0 '
5) Does theproposal lie within a 100-year floodplain? If so,note location onthesiteplan.

Mo6) Does the proposal involve any discharges ofwaste materials to surface waters? Ifso, describe the type of waste
and anticipated volume of discharge. JiJQ

b. Ground:

1) Will groundwater be withdrawn, or will water be discharged to groundwater? Give general description,
purpose, andapproximate quantities ifknown. '

2) Describe waste material that will be discharged into the ground from septic tanks or other sources, if any (for
example: Domestic sewage, industrial, containing the following chemicals...; agricultural; etc.). Describe the
general size of the system, the number ofsuch systems, the number ofhouses to be served (if applicable), or the
numberof animals or humans the system(s) are expected to serve.

N0N6
c. Water Runoff (including storm water):

1) Describe the source of runoff (including storm water) and method of collection and disposal, if any (including
quantities, ifknown). Where will this water flow? Will this water flow into other waters? Ifso, describe.

2) Could waste materiaU enter ground or surface waters? Ifso, genei^ly dwcribe. tUm

NO
d. Proposed measures to reduce orcontrol surface, ground, and runoff water impacts, ifany:

A5 AB0\/^

4. Plants

a. Check or circle types of vegetationfound on the site:

deciduous trees: alder, maple, aspen,other
_ evergreen tree: fir, cedar, pine, other



shrubs
grass

pasture
crop or grain
wet soilplants: cattail, buttercup, bulrush, skunk cabbage, other
water plants: water lily, eelgrass, milfoil, other -*vrr:) <

t/" other types ofvegetation ^ (LASS ^ UJ

b. What kind of and amount of vegetation will be removed or altered?

c. List threatened or endangered species knownto be on or near the site.

tJOUCx
d. Proposed landscaping, useof nativeplants, or other measuresto preserve or enhance vegetation on the site, if any:

5. Animals

a. Circle any birds and animals, which have been observed on or near the site or are known to be on or near the site:

Bird:^w^ heron, eagle^ngbir^other:
Mammals: leer,bear,ellOSeaverTother:
Fish: bass, salmon, trout, herring, shellfish, other:

b. List any threatened or endangered species knownto be on or near the site.
A/oA)6

c. Is the site part of a migration route? If so, explain.
Uo

d. Proposed measures to preserve or enhance wildlife, if any:
M0A}6

6. Energy and Natural Resources

a. What kinds of energy (electric, natural gas, oil,wood stove, solar) will be used to meet the completed project's energy
needs? Describe whether it will be used for heating, manufacturing, etc.
eLBcr(i\ci TV -

b. Would yourprojectaflectthe potential useofsolar'ener^ by adjacent properties? If so,generally describe.
MO

c. What kind of energy conservation features are included in the plans of this proposal? List other proposed measures toreduce or control energy impacts, if any.(/O"TyPlCAL ^0T\^L
AieA'CiTv oF petAH Coves

1. Environmental Health

Are there any environmental health hazards,including exposure to toxic chemicals, risk of fire and explosion, spill, or
hazardous waste, that could occur as a result of the proposal? If so, describe.

A/0
1) Describe special emergency services that might be required.

A/0K)6
2) Proposed measures to reduce or control environmental health hazards, if any:

VU-^r CohiTRoL^, LFup SCA
SiLT FStXes '

Noise

i) What types of noise exist in the area which may affect your project (for example: traffic, equipment,construction, operation, other)? ^ Q̂



2) What types and levels ofnoise would be created by or associated with the project on a short-term ora long-
term basis (for example: traflGc, construction, operation, other)? Indicate what hours noise would come from
thesite. Akj'p

3) Proposed measures to reduce or control noise impacts, if any: ^F^
MOkJB

8. Land and Shoreline Use

a. What is the current use of the site and adjacei^roperties? a _
CPFA) ^CS iTPtrfiJCcy

b. Has the site been used for agriculture? If so, describe.

c. Describe any structures on the site.

h/oh}e
d. Will any structures be demolished? If so, what?

^fo
e. What is the current zoning classification of the site?

f. What is thecurrent comprehensive plandesignation of thesite? ^
Locu'oe'Ajs.n^ -Res-ive^oTfAc-

g. If applicable, what is the current shoreline master program designation of the site?
U/UKAOcd/Uh. Has any part of the site been classified as^n '̂Mvironmentally sensitive" area? If so specify.

i. Approximately how many peoplewouldreside or work in the completed project?
lOO

j. Approximately how may people would thecompleted project displace?
a/OAJBk. Proposed measures to avoid or re^ce ^^^ement impacts, if any:

1. Proposed measures to ensure the proposal is compatible with existing and projected land uses and plans, ifanv

A/£>AJS
9. Housing

a. Approximately how many unite would beprovided, ifany? Indicate whether high, middle, or low-income housing
3'S'Mit?jpcs j::aJco/^<fb. Approximately how many unite, ifany, would be eliminated? Indicate whether high, middle, orlow-income housing

f^o/oe
c. Proposed measures to reduce or control housing impacts, if any:

Nooe
10. Aesthetics

a. What is the tallest height ofany proposed structure(s), not including antennas; what isthe principal exterior building
material(s) proposed? _ ,

IS' - T5R.ICK, STUCCO, OR-l^oco SfOlfJf.
b. Whatviews in the immediate vicinity would bealterra or obstructed? '

NOFiG
c. Proposed measures to reduce or control aesthetic impacts, ifany:

h/ou6

11. Light and Glare

a. What type oflight or glare will the proposal produce? What time ofday would itmainly occur'
LtFHT^- Ft A/f

b. Could light or glare from the finished projectbea safety hazard or interfere with views?

MO



c. What existing off-site sources of light or glare may affect your proposal?

A/OOE
d. Proposedmeasures to reduceor controllight and glare impacts,if any:

A/oioe
12. Recreation

a. What designated and informal recreational opportunities are in the immediate vicinity? y\
SCffoOL Gi(lOUAJl> s , f^OOL,

b. Would the proposed project displace any existing recreational uses? If so, describe. AJ(X 7^

c. Proposed measures to reduce or control impacts on recreation, includingrecreation opportunities to be provided bythe
project or applicant, if any: f\JQ /(J ^

13. Historic and Cultural Preservation

a. Are there any places or objects listed on, or proposed for, national, state, or local preservation registers known to be on
the site? If so, generally describe.

b. Generally describe any landmarks or evidence of historic, archaeological, scientific, or cultural importance known to be
on or next to the site. /\/OlO(S

c. Proposed measurers to reduce or control impacts, ifa^:

/vd3/j(r

14. Transportation

a. Identify public streets and highways serving the site, and describe proposed access to the existing street system. Show
on site plans, if any. \//A f-fiEA-UOlA

b. Is site currently served by public transit? If not, what is the approximate distance to the nearest transit stop?

ClFl OH
c. How many parkine spaces would the completed project have? How many would the projectelimiiiate?

t fAmoa s m[Xifus&MMes -mne£cjMiiJAm>
d. Will the proposal require any new roads or streets, or improvements to existing roads or streets, not inclpding

e. Will theproject use(oroccur in the mediate vicinity of) water, rail,or air transportation? If so, generally describe.

How many vehicular trips per dm would be generated by the conmleted project? If known, indicate when peak
volumes would occur. A t "i:€0AAA ^IOO
Proposed measures to reduce or control transportation impacts, if any:

IS. Public Services

a. Would the project result in an increased need for public services (for example; fire protection, police protection, health
care, schools, other)? If so, generally describe. 'TAC tA /j-K
Ol^p C(T{. f ^PAC/TY.

e. Proposed measures to reduce or control directimpacts on public services, if any. '

llou6
16. Utilities

a. Circle utilities currently available at the site:\electricity^atural ganrwater/refuse servic^elephone,^anitary sewe^
septic system, other.



b. Describe the utilities that are proposed for the project, the utility providi^ the service, and the general construction
activities on the site orinthe immediate vicinity which might be needed. A-T/i? 4/ ^ Pl/A/ Ir"

rPCtF/c tl^CT-fi-iCAL fAFO C/^-^pF
C.SIGNATURES

The above answers are true and complete to thebest ofmy knowledge. I understand that the lead agency is relying on them to
make its decision.

Signature ofPr^onentorPerson CQn^leting Form

Date: ^ 4̂—



D. SUPPLEMENTAL SHEET FOR NONpRGJECT ACTIONS (do not use this sheet for pioject actions)

Becausethese questions are verygeneral, it may be helpful to read themin conjunctionwith the listof the elementsof the environment.

When answering these questions, be aware of the extent the proposal, or the types of activities likelyto result fromtheproposal, would affect
the itemat a greater intensityor at a faster rate than if the proposal werenot implemented. Respondbrieflyand in generalterms.

1. How would the proposal be likely to increase discharge to water; emissions to air; production, storage, or release of toxic or
hazardous substances; orproduction ofnoise? t

7^ T(^6 U/jfTs
Proposed measures to avoid or reduce such increases are:

2. How would the proposal be likely to affect plants, animals, flsh, or marine life? ^ 11 "Txy

OF hofffs. AiJVUAJp&ifiF&.e mmTiooia^
Proposed measures to ^otect or conserve plants,animals, fish, or marine lifeare?

3. How would the proposal be likely.to deplete energy or natural resources?

Proposed measures to protect orconserve energy and natural resources are: Jlj^

4. How would the proposal be likely to useor affect environmentally sensitive areas or areasdesignated (or eligible or understudy)
for governmental protection; such as parks, wilderness, wild and scenic rivers, threatened or endangered species habitat,
historic or cultural sites, wetlands, floodplain, or prime farmlands?

Proposed measures to protect such resources or to avoid or reduce impacts are:

F'OUF'
5. How would the proposal be likely to affect land and shoreline use, including whether it would allow or encourage land or

shoreline uses incompatible with existing plans? /(/^

Proposed measures to avoid or reduce shoreline and land use impacts are:

/00/U£
6. How would the proposal be likely to increase demands on transportation or public services and utilities?

Proposed measures to reduce or respond to such demand(s) are:

7. Identify, if possible, whether the proposalmayconflict with local, state,or federal lawsor requirements for the protection ofthe
«.vlronment. -fZ UJt l-i- MO T CC0] FL ICT



£x:K(Sir I
Davison, Dennis 12.- 4-

Ffoni; Heidi Matson <Heidi.Matson@co.yakim3.wa.us> ^O (Ti£ t _i./
Sent: Wednesday, December 03, 2014 8:41AM
To: Davison, Dennis
Subject: RE: West Goodlander Annexation

Hi Dennis,

The Auditors File Number Is 7857093,

Thanks,

Office Specialist-County Roads
Yakima County Public Services
128 N Street, 4" Floor
Yakima, WA 98901

509-574-2302 - Desk

509-574-2301-Fax

Heidi.MatsonfSco.vakima.wa.us

From: Davison, Dennis fmailtG:ddavison(g>ci.selah.wa.usj
Sent: Wednesday, December 03, 2014 8:16 AM
To: Heidi Matson

Subject: RE: West Goodlander Annexation

Heidi—would you please send me the Auditor's recording number. Thanks for your help.

From: Heidi Matson rmailto:Heidi.Matsont5)co.vakima.wa.us1
Sent: Monday, December 01, 2014 2:11 PM
To: Davison, Dennis
Cc: Greta Smith

Subject: West Goodlander Annexation

Hi Dennis,

Iam just letting you know that I have approved your final ordinance and it has been sent to the Auditor's Office for
recording. Greta will be back in the office tomorrow if you have any further questions.

Thank you.

Office Specialist - County Roads
Yakima County Public Services
128 N2"^ Street, 4'" Floor
Yakima, WA 98901

509-574-2302-Desk

509-574-2301-Fax



CITY OF SELAH

CITY COUNCIL

AGENDA ITEMSUMMARY

Council Meeting Action Item

2/24/2015 M-5

Title: Resolution of the City Council of the City of Selah, Washington,
Adopting Public Defense Standards and Requesting the Mayor to Provide
Updates to the City Council Regarding any Future Changes in the Adopted
Standards in Conjunction with the Annual Budget Report

Thru: Joe Henne, Interim City Administrator

From: Robert Noe, City Attorney

Action Requested: Approval

Board/Commission Recommendation: Not applicable

Fiscal Impact: N/A

Funding Source: N/A

Staff Recommendation:

Approval

Background / Findings & Facts:

Adoption of a Resolution regarding the standards as required by RCW
10.101.030 is a requirement for the Public Defense grant the City was awarded.
This Resolution, drafted by the City's attorney, will fulfill the State
requirement.

Recommended Motion:

Approval of the Resolution of the City Council of the City of Selah,
Washington, Adopting Public Defense Standards and Requesting the Mayor to



CITY OF SELAH

CITY COUNCIL

AGENDA ITEMSUMMARY

Provide Updates to the City Council Regarding any Future Changes in the
Adopted Standards in Conjunction with the Annual Budget Report

Record of all prior actions taken by the City Council and/or a City Board, City
Committee, Planning Commission, or the Hearing Examiner (where applicable)

Date: Action Taken:

11/12/2015 Public Defense Grant Agreement No. GRT15272 with the
Washington State Office of Public Defense

Click here to enter a date. Click here to enter text.

Click here to enter a date. Click here to enter text.

Click here to enter a date. Click here to enter text.

Click here to enter a date. Click here to enter text.

Click here to enter a date. Click here to enter text.



RESOLUTION NO.

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SELAH,

WASHINGTON, ADOPTING PUBLIC DEFENSE STANDARDS AND REQUESTING THE
MAYOR TO PROVIDE UPDATES TO THE CITY COUNCIL REGARDING ANY FUTURE

CHANGES IN THE ADOPTED STANDARDS IN CONJUNCTION WITH THE ANNUAL

BUDGET REPORT

WHEREAS, Revised Code ofWashington (RCW) 10.101.030 requires cities to adopt
standards for the delivery of public defense services; and

WHEREAS, the statute provides that the standards endorsed by the Washington State
Bar Association for the provision ofpublic defense services "should serve as guidelines" to the
City Council in adopting standards; and

WHEREAS, the Honorable Robert S. Lasnik of the Federal District Court for Western
Washington in his decision in Wilbur v. Mt. Vemon, et al provides guidance to cities regarding
the provision of indigent defense services in the funding and evaluation ofsuch services; and

WHEREAS, the Washington State Supreme Court has adopted Standards for Indigent
Defense more specifically. Standard 3 regarding case load limits; now, therefore,

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY
OF SELAH, WASHINGTON, AS FOLLOWS:

Section 1. The City of Selah hereby adopts as its standards for the delivery of public
defense services the following resources by reference, as the same exist or may hereafter be
amended:

1.1 Public Defense Services shall be provided to all clients in a professional, skilled
manner consistent with the Standards set forth by the Washington State Bar Association and
Standards for Indigent Defense Services (June 3,2011); and

1.2 The Washington State Rules of Professional Conduct; and

1.3 The decision of the Honorable Robert S. Lasnik, Western District of
Washington, in Wilbur, et al v. Mt. Vemon, et al. Case No. 2:11-cv-Ol ICQ.

Section 2. Nondiscrimination. The Public Defender shall comply with all federal, state
and local non-discrimination laws or ordinances in the provision of services to indigent
defendants as well as with respect to the hiring and employment practices of its employees.



Section 3. The City Council recognizes that by adopting these Standards by reference,
it is important that changesbe reviewed on a regularbasis, at least annually. Accordingly, the
City Council requests the Mayor and staff provide a report to the City Council in conjunction
with the annual budget process so that it may evaluate the need to update these Standards.

PASSED AND ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SELAH,
WASHINGTON this 24'" day ofFebruary, 2015.

John Gawlik, Mayor
ATTEST:

Dale E. Novobielski, Clerk Treasurer

APPROVED AS TO FORM:

Robert Noe, City Attorney

RESOLUTION NO.



Grant Agreement No. J^&lASZlZ

FACE SHEET

WASHINGTON STATE OFFICE OF PUBLIC DEFENSE

1. Grantee

City of Selah

115 W Naches Ave

Selah, WA 98942

2. Grantee Representative
Andrew Paschen

Court Administrator

Selah Municipal Court

115 W Naches Ave

Selah. WA 98942

3. Office of Public Defense (OPD)
711 Capitol Way South, Suite 106

PO Box 40957

Olympia, WA 98504^^957

4. OPD Representative
Joanne 1. Moore

Director

Office of Public Defense

711 Capitol Way South, Suite 106
PO 00X40957

Olympia. WA 98504-0957

5. Grant Amount

$4,750
6. Grant Period

January 1.2015 through December 31,2015

7. Grant Purpose

The Chapter 10.101 RCW city grants are competitive grants for the purpose of improving the quality of
public defense services in Washington municipalities. (See Chapter 10.101 RCW.)

The Office of Public Defense {OPD) and Grantee, as defined above, acknowledge and accept the terms of
this Grant and attachments and have executed this Grant on the date below to start January 1,2015 and
end December 31,2015. The rights and obligations of both parties to this Grant are governed by this
Grant and the following other documents incorporated by reference; SpecialTerms and Conditions of
the City Grant and General Terms and Conditions of City Grant.

¥

FOR THE GRANTEE FOR OPD

inA^
Joani|̂ 1. Moore, Director

Date ^ Date / { I



SPECIAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE CITY GRANT

1. GRANT MANAGEMENT

The Representative for each of the parties shall be responsible for and shall be the contact person for
all communications regardingthe performance of this Grant.

a. The Representative for OPDand their contact information are identified on the Face Sheet of
this Grant.

b. The Representative for the Grantee and their contact information are identified on the Face
Sheet of this Grant.

2. GRANT AWARD AMOUNT

The Grantee is awarded Eighteen Thousand Two Hundred Twenty Fiveand 00/100 Dollars($18,225) to
be used for the purpose(s} described in the USE OFGRANT FUNDS below.

3. PROHIBITED USE OF GRANT FUNDS fas adopted in OPD Policy Countv/Cltv Use ofState Public

Defense Funding)

a. Grant funds cannot be used to supplant local funds that were being spent on public defense
prior to the initial disbursement of state grant funds.

b. Grant funds cannot be spent on purely administrative functions or billing costs.
c. Grants funds cannot be used for indigency screening costs.
d. Grant funds cannot be used for cityor court technology systems or administrative equipment.
e. Grant funds cannot be used for city attorney time, including advice on public defense

contracting.
4. USE OF GRANT FUNDS

a. Grantee agrees to use the grant funds for the following purposes:
i. Adding attorneys to reduce public defense caseloads.

ii. Providingquality monitoring by an attorney who monitors contract attorneys
providing public defense services.

ill. Providing public defense services at preliminary appearance calendars.
b. Grantee agrees to obtain OPD'swritten permission before funds are used for any purpose

other than those listed in Section 4a above.

c. Grantee agrees to use the funds in calendar year 2015. IfGrantee is unable to use the funds in
2015, the Grantee agrees to notify OPDto determine what action needs to be taken.

d. Grantee agrees to deposit the grant check within fourteen days of receipt.
5. REPORT

Grantee agrees to submit a written mid-year report to OPD no later than July 31,2015. The report
shall include, but not necessarily be limitedto, the following information: to date overview, howgrant
funds have been used, a copy of each publicdefense attorney's quarterly Certificateof Compliance
submitted during 2015, and a description of efforts to implement the Supreme Court Standards for
Indigent Defense.

6. ORDER OF PRECEDENCE

Inthe event of an inconsistency inthis Grant, the inconsistency shall be resolvedbygiving precedence
in the following orden

• Appiicablefederai and state of Washington statutes, regulations, and court rules
• Special Terms and Conditions Of the CityGrant
• General Terms and Conditions of the City Grant



GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE CITY GRANT

1. ALL WRITINGS CONTAIIMED HEREIN

This Grant contains all the terms and conditions agreed upon by the parties. No other understandings,
oral or otherwise, regarding the subject matter of this Grant shall be deemed to exist or to bind any of
the parties hereto.

2. AMENDMENTS

This Grant may be amended by mutual agreement of the parties. Such amendment shall not be
binding unless it is in writing and signed by personnel authorized to bind each of the parties.

3. AMERCIANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT fADAl OF 1990. PUBLIC LAW 101-336. also referred to as the

'<ADA"29CFRPart35.

The Grantee must comply with the ADA, which provides comprehensive civil rights protection to
Individuals with disabilities in the areas of employment, public accommodations, state and local
government services, and telecommunications.

4. ASSIGNMENT

Neither this Grant, nor any claim arising under this Grant, shall be transferred or assigned by the
Grantee without prior written consent of OPD.

5. ATTORNEY'S FEES

Unless expressly permitted under another provision of the Grant, in the event of litigation or other
action brought to enforce Grant terms, each party agrees to bear its own attorneys fees and costs.

6. CONFORMANCE

Ifany provision of this Grant violates any statute or rule of law of the state of Washington, it is
considered modified to conform to that statute or rule of law.

7. ETHICS/CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

In performing under this Grant, the Grantee shall assure compliance with the Ethics in Public Service,
Chapter 42.52 RCW and any other applicable court rule or state or federal law related to ethics or
conflicts of interest.

8. GOVERNING LAW AND VENUE

This Grant shall be construed and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the state of Washington,
and the venue of any action brought hereunder shall be in the Superior Court for Thurston County.

9. INDEMNIFICATION

To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Grantee shall Indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the
state of Washington, OPD,all other agencies of the state and ali officers, agents and empioyees of the
state, from and against all claims or damages for injuries to persons or property or death arising out of
or incident to the performance or failure to perform the Grant.,

10. LAWS

The Grantee shall comply with all applicable laws, ordinances, codes, regulations, court rules, policies
of local and state and federal governments, as now or hereafter amended.

11. NONCOMPLIANCE WITH NONDISCRIMINATION LAWS

During the performance of this Grant, the Grantee shall comply with all federal, state, and local
nondiscriminatlon laws, regulations and policies. In the event of the Grantee's non-compliance or
refusal to comply with any nondlscrimination law, regulation or policy, this Grant may be rescinded,
canceled or terminated In whole or in part.

12. RECAPTURE

In the event that the Grantee fails to perform this Grant in accordance with state laws, federal laws,
and/or the provisions of the Grant, OPD reserves the right to recapture funds in an amount to
compensate OPD for the noncompliance in addition to any other remedies available at law or in
equity.

13. RECORDS MAINTENANCE

The Grantee shall maintain all books, records, documents, data and other evidence relating to this
Grant. Grantee shall retain such records for a period of six (6) years following the end of the grant
period. Ifany litigation, claim or audit is started before the expiration of the six (6) year period, the



records shall be retained untilalt litigation, claims, or audit findings involving the records have been
finally resolved.

14. RIGHT OF IWSPECTIOW

At no additional cost all records relating to the Grantee's performance under this Grant shall be
subject at all reasonable times to inspection, review, and audit By OPD, the Office of the State Auditor,
and state officials so authorized bylaw, inorder to monitor and evaluate performance, compliance,
and quality assurance under this Grant. The Grantee shall provide access to its facilities for this
purpose.

15. SEVERABIUTY

Ifany provisionof this Grant or any provision of any document incorporated by reference shall be held
invalid, such invalidity shall not affect the other provisions of this Grant that can be given effect
without the invalid provision, ifsuch remainder conforms to the requirements of law and the
fundamental purpose of this Grant and to this end the provisionsof this Grant are declared to be
severable.

16. WAIVER

Waiver of any default or breach shall not be deemed to be a waiver of any subsequent default or
breach. Any waiver shall not be construed to be a modification of the terms of this Grant unless
stated to be such in writing.



CITY OF SELAH

CITY COUNCIL

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY

Council Meeting Action Item

2/24/2015 N-1

Title: Ordinance Amending the 2015 Budget for the 3'̂ '' Street Water Main
Replacement Project

Thru: Joe Henne, Interim City Administrator

From: Dale Novobielski, Clerk-Treasurer

Action Requested: Approval

Board/Commission Recommendation: Not applicable

Fiscal Impact: $ 673,192 DWSRF Loan

Funding Source: Fund 411 Water

Staff Recommendation:

Approve Ordinance.

Background / Findings & Facts:

The City desires to replace the water main on 3'̂ '' Street and has been awarded a
DWSRF loan from the Washington State Public Works Board.

Recommended Motion:

I move to approve the Ordinance amending the 2015 budget for the
replacement of the water main on 2 '̂̂ Street.



ORDINANCE NO.

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE 2015 BUDGET FOR THE 3 '̂' STREET WATER MAIN
REPLACEMENT PROJECT

WHEREAS, the City desires to approve an adjustment to the 2015 Budget;

NOW THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SELAH, WASHINGTON, does
ordain as follows: that the Clerk-Treasurer be authorized to amend the 2015 Budget as follows:

411 Water

411.000.034.391.80.02.00 DWSRF LoanDM13-952-130 $ 676,100

411.000.094.594.34.65.39 Water Sys Improv DM13-952-130 $ 676,100

PASSED AND ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SELAH,
WASHINGTON this 24"' day ofFebruary 2015.

John J. Gawlik, Mayor
ATTEST:

Dale E. Novobielski, Clerk-Treasurer

APPROVED AS TO FORM:

Robert Noe, City Attorney

ORDINANCE NO.



CITY OF SELAH

CITY COUNCIL

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY

Council Meeting Action Item

2/24/2015 N-2

Title: Ordinance adopting a new City Of Selah 2014 Water System Plan and
Repealing the 2008 Comprehensive Water Plan.

Thru: Joe Henne, Interim City Administrator

From: Joe Henne, Public Works Director

Action Requested: Approval

Board/Commission Recommendation: Approval

Fiscal Impact: None

Funding Source: N/A

Staff Recommendation:

Approve the ordinance adopting the 2014 Water System Plan and repeal the
2008 Comprehensive Water Plan.

Background / Findings & Facts:

The Washington State Growth Management Act (GMA) requires cities to adopt
comprehensive water plans every 6 years that are consistent with and implement
their comprehensive land use plans.

The new water system plan is intended to direct and prepare for future growth and

development within the City of Selah.

The last water system plan was adopted in 2008 and the City has prepared a new

water system plan to replace the 2008 Comprehensive Water Plan.



CITY OF SELAH

CITY COUNCIL

AGENDA ITEMSUMMARY

Recommended Motion:

Approve the ordinance adopting the 2014 Water System Plan and repeal the
2008 Comprehensive Water Plan.

Record of all prior actions taken by the City Council and/or a City Board, City
Committee, Planning Commission, or the Hearing Examiner (where applicable)

Date: Action Taken:

10/25/2014 Resolution establishing November 25, 2014 as the Public
Hearing date to consider the adoption of the 2014 Water

System Plan.

Click here to enter a date. Click here to enter text.

Click here to enter a date. Click here to enter text.

Click here to enter a date. Click here to enter text.

Click here to enter a date. Click here to enter text.

Click here to enter a date. Click here to enter text.



ORDINANCE NO.

ORDINANCE ADOPTING A NEW CITY OF SELAH

2014 WATER SYSTEM PLAN AND REPEALING THE 2008

COMPREHENSIVE WATER PLAN

WHEREAS, RCW Chapter 36.70A et seq., the Washington State Growth Management
Act (GMA), requires cities to adopt comprehensive water plans that are consistent with and
implement their comprehensive land use plans; and,

WHEREAS, the City of Selah is required to plan in conformance with the GMA; and,

WHEREAS, a water system plan is intended to direct and prepare for future growth and
development within the City ofSelah, and,

WHEREAS, the 2014 Water System Plan is a planning document to implement the City of
Selah Urban Growth Area Comprehensive Plan; and,

WHEREAS, the City of Selah has taken deliberate steps to meet the water planning
requirements of the Washington State Department ofHealth during the development of the City
of Selah 2014 Water System Plan; and,

WHEREAS, the document entitled The City of Selah 2014 Water System Plan
(hereinafter WSP) has been prepared as a new water system plan for the City of Selah; and,

WHEREAS, the PLAN contains an Executive Summary, ten Chapters, and an Appendix as
follows:

Introduction and Executive Summary
Chapter I: Description ofWater System (including Section 1.6 service area policies)
Chapter II: Basic Planning Data and Water Demand Forecasting
Chapter III: System Analysis
Chapter IV: Water Resource Analysis & Water Use Efficiency (WUE)
Chapter V: Source Water Protection
Chapter VI: Operation and Maintenance Program
Chapter VII: Distribution Facilities Design and Construction Standards
Chapter VIII: Improvement Program
Chapter IX: Financial Program
Chapter X: Miscellaneous Documents
and,

WHEREAS, WAG 246-290-100(8) b requires approval of the WSP by the purveyor's

1 of 3



governingbody or elected governingboard.

WHEREAS, Chapter43.21C ROW, the State Environmental PolicyAct (SEPA)requires
the City ofSelah to conductenvironmental review of the WSP; and,

WHEREAS, on November 9,2014 the City ofSelah published in the legal advertising
section ofthe Yakima Herald Republic, the legal newspaper for the Cityof Selah, notice of the City
ofSelah Council's publichearingscheduled for November25,2014 to consider the proposed WSP.
A Determination ofNonsignificance (DNS)on the WSP was issuedfor reviewand commenton
June 9,2014; and,

WHEREAS, the WSP was made available for review on the City of Selah's website at
http://www.selahwa.gov/; and,

WHEREAS, all personsdesiringto either provide writtentestimony or speak for or against
or in relation to the WSP at the City Council Meeting on November 25,2014 public hearing were
given a full and complete opportunity to be heard; and,

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City ofSelah has concluded that the adoption and
implementationof the City of Selah 2014 Water System Plan is essential to direct the future
growth and development of the City of Selah.

NOW THEREFORE BE IT HEREBY ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE
CITY OF SELAH:

SECTION 1. PLAN ADOPTION. The document entitled THE CITY OF SELAH 2014

WATER SYSTEM PLAN, dated October 2014, is hereby adopted as required by RCW 36.70A
and approved as required by WAC 246-290-100(8)b, shall be the official water system plan for
the City of Selah. By this reference the City of Selah 2014 Water System Plan is incorporatedas
if fully set forth herein. The City Clerk/Treasurer and the City's Public Works Department shall
have copies of the Water System Plan available for public access, review and inspection at their
respective offices.

SECTION 2. REPEAL OF THE 2008 CITY OF SELAH COMPREHENSIVE

WATER PLAN. The City ofSelah 2008 Comprehensive Water Plan, adopted by Ordinance
1739, December 9,2008 is hereby repealed.

SECTION 3. EFFECTIVE DATE. This ordinance shall be effective at 12:01 a.m. the

day following publication ofa summary of the ordinance in the official newspaper of the City of
Selah.

SECTION 4. SEVERABILITY. Ifany section, phrase or provision of the City of Selah
2014 Water System Plan or this ordinance is held illegal, invalid or unenforceable by a court of
competentjurisdiction the remaining provisions of the City of Selah 2014 Water System Plan

2 of 3



and this ordinance shall remain in full force and effect.

Dated this 24"' day ofFebruary, 2015.

John Gawlik, Mayor
ATTEST:

Dale E. Novobielski, Clerk Treasurer

APPROVED AS TO FORM:

Robert F. Noe, City Attorney

ORDINANCE NO.

3 of 3



CITY OF SELAH

CITY COUNCIL

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY

Council Meeting Action Item

2/24/2014 N-3

Title: Ordinance Amending Ordinance No. 1634 Zoning Map Amendment No.

914.42.14-05 Rezone to Planned Development (PD)

Thru: Joe Henne, Interim City Administrator

From: Thomas R Durant, Community Planner

Action Requested: Approval

Board/Commission Recommendation: Denial

Fiscal Impact: N/A

Funding Source: N/A

Staff Recommendation:

Approval

Background / Findings & Facts:

Hearing Examiner conducted open record public hearing December 4, 2014.

Prepared Findings of Fact and Conclusions recommending Denial of the
Somerset II Planned Development without prejudice, with allowancefor
reopening the open public record hearing in accordance with SMC 10.24.060.

The Hearing Examiner also made a finding that if the Council Is persuaded that
the Planned Development meets the requirements of Chapter 10.24, SMC
notwithstanding a recommendation for denial that an approval be subject to the
conditions set forth on pp 16 - 19 under Finding #7 of the Hearing Examiner's

decision.



CITY OF SELAH

CITY COUNCIL

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY

Recommended Motion:

I move the Council adopt Findings 1 through 8 and Conclusions 1, 2, 5 and 7 of

the Hearing Examiner's Recommendation, additional Findings and Conclusions
from the December 1, 2014 staff report and approve Somerset II Planned

Development Rezone 914.42.14-04 subject to the conditions set forth on pages
16-19 of the Hearing Examiner's decision under Conclusion #7

Record of ail prior actions taken by the City Council and/or a City Board, City

Committee, Planning Commission, or the Hearing Examiner (where applicable)

Date:

12/4/2014

10/14/2014

9/30/2014

Action Taken:

Hearing Examiner Open Record Public Hearing

City Council Closed Record Public Hearing - remanded

Planning Commission Open Record Public Hearing

Click here to enter a date. Click here to enter text.

Click here to enter a date. Click here to enter text.

Click here to enter a date. Click here to enter text.



ORDINANCE NO.

ORDINANCE AMENDING ORDINANCE NO. 1634

ZONING MAP AMENDMENT NO. 914.42.14-05 REZONE TO PLANNED

DEVELOPMENT (PD)

WHEREAS, Chapter 35A.63 ofthe Revised Code of Washington authorizes the City Council of
the City of Selah to adopt and amend official controls including zoning ordinances and zoning
maps; and,

WHEREAS, Zuker-Sample Development, LLC submitted an application to rezone 4,7 acres from
One Family Residential (R-1) to Planned Development (PD) together with a proposed development
plan and program pursuant to SMC 10.24; and,

WHEREAS, Zuker-Sample Development, LLC also submitted a preliminary plat, an application to
amend the Urban Growth Area Comprehensive Plan and a State Environmental Policy Act (SEPA)
environmental checklist for the same property and related to the proposed Planned Development.
Following a public hearing before the Planning Commission, consideration by the Council at a
public meeting at which the Planning Commission's recommendation was remanded, the applicant
withdrew said comprehensive plan amendment, revised said preliminary plat and rezone application
to Planned Development and resubmitted it for reconsideration; and,

WHEREAS, the Hearing Examiner considered the revised Planned Development together with the
application for preliminary plat at an open record public hearing on December 4,2014; and,

WHEREAS, the Hearing Examiner issued findings and conclusions and a recommendation for
denial ofthe rezone without prejudice and with allowance to reopen the public hearing proceeding
in accordance with SMC 10.24.060 to allow public comment on additional information and
amended plan or program material submitted by the applicant in its discretion; and,

WHEREAS, the Hearing Examiner also made a finding that if the Council is persuaded that the
Planned Development meets the requirements ofChapter 10.24, Selah Municipal Code,
notwithstanding a recommendation for denial, that said approval should be subject to the conditions
set forth in Finding #7 ofthe Hearing Examiner's written decision; and

WHEREAS, the City ofSelah Coimcil has considered the Hearing Examiner's findings offact and
conclusions and the City staff report dated December 1,2014 and the Council is satisfied that the
matter has been sufficiently considered; and,

WHEREAS, the City of Selah Council adopts some, but not all of the Findings and Conclusions of
the Hearing Examiner's Recommendation dated December 19,2014

WHEREAS, the City Council ofthe City of Selah finds that the zoning map amendment fiorthers
the purpose, goals and objectives ofthe 2005 Citv of Selah Urban Growth Area Comprehensive

Page 1 of 3



Plan, the City of SeiahZoningOrdinance and the public health,safetyand generalwelfare.

NOW THEREFORE THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SELAH, WASHINGTON, DO
ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS:

Section 1. Findings. The recitals set forth aboveare incorporated hereinas the City
Council's Findings. Further, the followingHearing Examiner's Findingsand Conclusions are
adoptedas the City Council's Findings and Conclusions by this reference: Findings 1 through 8,
9'a' and 9'd'. Conclusions 1,2,5 & 7.

The followingadditional Findings and Conclusionsare adopted:

1. The proposal substantiallyconforms to the comprehensiveplan as described in the
December 1,2014 staff report, page 9, al and a2.

2. The proposal substantially meets the Planned Development review criteria as described in
the December 1,2014 stsdfreport, pp. 12-15.

3. The Planned Development is compatible with surrounding land uses for the following
reasons:

a. As amended by the proponent, the density of the proposal now before the City is
limited to that permitted by the Low Density Residential comprehensive plan
designation and to housingtypesthat are similarto that of the surrounding area.

b. Application documents that the proposed lot size is the same as that ofthe Crest
Subdivision, located nearby in the Selah City Limits. The application also
documents that lot size and housing type of the Crest has not adversely affected land
values ofsurrounding residential properties.

Section 2. Amendment. The following described real property is hereby reclassified from
One-Family Residential (R-1) to Planned Development (PD):

The South V^ ofthe NW14 ofthe SE14 of the SE14 and the South 110 feet of that part of
the North 14 of the North 'Aofthe SE 14 of the SE 14 lying West of the Main Laterd ofthe
Naches-Selah Canal, in Section 26, Township 14 N., Range 18 E.W.M.;

Together with Lot 1, Selandia Manor, as recorded in Volume "T" ofPlats, Page 47, Records
ofYakima County, Washington, and that portion ofvacated right-of-way accruing thereto
by reason ofResolution Number 460-2007, recorded October 11,2007, imder Auditor's
File Number 7584893;
Except beginning at a point on the East line ofsaid Section 26, a distance of997.69 feet
North ofthe Southeast comer thereof;
Thence North 89°36' West 370 feet to the centerline of said canal and the True Point of

Beginning;
Thence North 0°45' East 60 feet;
Thence South 89°36' West 180 feet;
Thence South 0°45' East 60 feet

Thence South 89°36' East to the True Point ofBeginning.

Page 2 of 3



And Except that portion lying within the Plat of Somerset 1, Recorded under Auditor's File
Number 7194172, Records ofYakima County, Washington.

The West 400 feet of the North 14 of the North 14 of the Southeast 14 ofthe Southeast 14 of

Section 26, Township 14N., Range 18 E.W.M., Except the South 110 feet thereof.
(Assessor's Parcel Nos. 181426-44005 and 44021).

Section 3. This ordinance, implementing zoning map amendment number 914.42.14-04
shall become effective five (5) days following legal publication of this ordinance or a summary of
this ordinance.

Done this 24"* day ofFebruary, 2015

JohnGawlik, Mayor

ATTEST:

Dale E. Novobielski, Clerk-Treasurer

APPROVED AS TO FORM:

Robert Noe, City Attomey

ORDINANCE NO.

Page 3 of 3


